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FOREWORD
THE ULTIMATE CONSPIRACY CONTINUES...

W.A.Harbinson first exposed the nightmarish truth about UFOs — a truth so terrifying
that it could only be presented as fiction — in his international bestseller Genesis.
Now he has taken the themes and many of the characters from that groundbreaking
work and developed them into further dimensions of cosmic horror with other
astounding novels in the PROJEKT SAUCER series. Phoenix, the second self-
contained Projekt Saucer epic, takes the story on from the end of the Second World
War and through the postwar years of humankind’s first tentative explorations of
space. During this historic period, the sinister Earthly forces behind the UFO
conspiracy begin to show their hand more openly —and start to exert a deadly
stranglehold on the destiny of the whole Earth...

PHOENIX: THE SECOND BOOK OF THE EPIC PROJEKT SAUCER SERIES.

W.A Harbinson was born in Belfast, Northern Ireland, in 1941. He left school at
fourteen, studied mechanical engineering, then joined the Royal Australian Air Force.
While serving in the RAAF he drafted his first novel, Instruments of Death. In 1980
he completed Genesis, the epic, bestseller novel that became the inspiration for the
Projekt Saucer series. (Phoenix is chronologically the second novel in the series.)
Harbinson has also written short stories, radio plays and non-fiction books. He
presently divides his time between Paris, France, and West Cork, Ireland.
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PART ONE

Chapter One

SOCORRO, NEW MEXICO
JULY 2, 1947

When that thing flew overhead Marlon Clarke could hardly believe what he was
seeing. As he had been doing too often lately, he was sitting out on his porch, in his
old rocking chair, slugging beer from the bottle, muttering under his breath and
gazing out over the parched lands of his failed farm, flat and eerily desolate in
moonlight. He was just a small farmer who’d had a bad few years and he liked to sit
out there in the evenings, feeling bitter and murmuring angry words to himself,
getting drunk enough to sleep without too much anxiety. Tired and thinking of bed,
he had just glanced at his watch and noticed that it was ten-thirty when the whole
porch shook a little, his last bottle of beer fell over, and he heard an exploding noise
right overhead.

Shocked back to the real world, his heart racing too fast, he looked up to see a
glowing, saucer-shaped object screeching, wobbling, spinning and pouring steam or
smoke as it flew at tremendous speed across the night sky on a descending trajectory.

Before Marlon had a chance to get a grip on himself, the glowing object fell
towards the Plain of San Augustin, between Magdalena and Socorro, about five miles
from his farm, then turned into a growing fan of white and red flames in a billowing
cloud of dust. The explosion came a second later, as the fan of flames grew bigger,
illuminating the rising cloud of dust and obliterating the stars.

The blast rocked Marlon’s house.

Startled into a state of near sobriety, he got out of his rocking chair as the fan of
flame shrank back to a tiny flickering that soon disappeared, letting the star-studded
night sky return.

‘Kee-rist!” Marlon exclaimed softly. Instantly, on an impulse, both fearful and
curious, he grabbed a bottle of whisky from the floor of the porch, hurried down the
steps, clambered unsteadily into his battered old truck, and tore off towards the scene
of the crash.

As he drove across the moonlit plain, through pale moonlight and the shadows of
cacti and sagebrush, he controlled the steering wheel with one hand, held the bottle in
the other, drank too quickly and felt his heart racing. It was the whisky, he guessed,
but it was also what he had seen: that glowing, saucer-shaped flying object of the
kind he'd heard so much about lately.

‘Jesus!” he whispered to himself as the old, battered truck growled and rattled
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across the flat, windblown plain. ‘Jesus H... I don’t believe...’

He kept glancing outside the truck, growing more apprehensive, half expecting to
see another of those objects gliding under the moonlight. He even thought of turning
back, but his curiosity kept him going, and he convinced himself, even as his fear was
growing, that it had just been an airplane.

He was wrong.

On the broad, flat plain near the town of Magdalena, about halfway between the
road and the distant Black Mountain, he saw a dark pile of still smouldering debris.
Driving off the road, he bounced over the rough, sage-strewn plain until he came to
the location of the crash. Stopping the truck, he had another drink of whisky, wiped
his lips with the back of his hand, then looked out at the smouldering debris.

It was the wreckage of a large, saucer-shaped craft, about half of it smashed to hell,
the remainder a dull grey in the moonlight.

What looked like three scorched corpses were still strapped into the central cockpit
of the crashed object.

‘Lord Almighty!” Marlon exclaimed softly.

He was too scared to get out, but he had a good look, making sure that his eyes
were not deceiving him. The object was round all right, shaped like two plates, one
inverted and placed on top of the other. It was about twenty-five to thirty feet in
diameter, obviously made of a metallic substance, and had smooth sides that rose
gracefully, seamlessly to a smashed-up, transparent, domed cockpit. The charred
bodies were still strapped to their seats.

That's when Marlon grew really scared. Blinking, rubbing his eyes, he looked out
again.

The three corpses were burned beyond recognition. They were wearing grey-
coloured one-piece suits, or coveralls, which were charred black, in tatters and still
smouldering like the pieces of metal scattered widely around the broken, circular
craft.

Nauseated by the smell of roasted flesh, Marlon looked beyond the crashed object
to the distant mountain range. It was black in the night, but covered with stars, its
sides streaked with moonlight that also fell across the flat Plain of Magdalena. Marlon
looked around him, expecting to see something else, but there was nothing out there
but empty land and the wind's constant whispering.

Taking a final look at the charred bodies in the crashed flying saucer, he shivered
with revulsion and fear, then turned the truck around and burned back to his ranch.

When the men from the Roswell Army Air Base came to see him, Marlon was
surprised by how many there were. They arrived in a jeep and troop truck as the sun
was rising over the horizon to flood the flat plain with light. Marlon was still sitting in
his rocking chair, more drunk than ever, when the armed troops jumped out of the
truck to form a semi-circle around the yard, some with their backs turned to the
house, others facing the empty plain, all holding their weapons at the ready.
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More frightened than he had been by the sight of the crashed saucer, Marlon was
wiping his dry lips with the back of his hand when a man in a plain grey suit,
accompanied by a uniformed Air Force officer and two others in plain clothes,
descended from the jeep and approached him. Stepping up onto the porch, the two in
plain clothes hurried past Marlon and entered his house without his permission,
slamming the mesh-wire door behind them. As Marlon was about to get out of his
rocking chair and protest, the Air Force officer removed his peaked cap, revealing
stark black hair and warm brown eyes in a slightly plump, friendly face. He offered a
natural, easy smile.

‘Mr Clarke?’

‘Darn right,” Marlon said. ‘And when I called, I didn't expect...” He nodded back
over his shoulder, indicating the two men who could now be heard noisily searching
his home.

‘I’m sorry, Mr Clarke, but it’s necessary. I’'m First Lieutenant William B.Harris of
the Eighth Air Force, stationed at Roswell Army Air Base. The two men in your
house are members of the intelligence team of the 509th Bomb Group, also at
Roswell. And this... ¢ he indicated the unsmiling man in the plain grey suit... ‘is CIA
agent, Jack Fuller, who’s flown here all the way from Langley, Virginia.’

‘You called about a crashed saucer, I believe,” Fuller said in an oddly threatening
tone of voice.

‘Right. It crashed last night, about ten. I was expecting you people a lot sooner.
I’ve bin sittin’ here all night.’

‘I’m sorry about that,” First Lieutenant Harris said, ‘but I had to wait for Mr Fuller
to arrive.’

‘All the way from Langley, Virginia,” Marlon said, glancing at the unsmiling Fuller
who was, he noted, still under thirty, but had eyes as grey and wintry as Antarctica.
“You musta taken me serious.’

‘It’s strictly routine,” Fuller informed him, sounding as cold as he looked. ‘It’s just
one of the rules. All the flying saucer scares we’ve had since last month -’

‘The Kenneth Arnold sightings.’

‘Right. They’re mostly false alarms, but they have to be checked out. That’s why
I’m here.’

“This is no false alarm.’

‘You actually saw the saucer?’

‘Sure did. It’s out there on the Plain of Magdalena with three dead bodies in it.’

Fuller glanced at Harris, then down at Marlon’s whisky bottle. ‘Have you been
drinking, Mr Clarke?’

‘What do you think?’

‘I think you were drinking last night - you have a reputation for it - and just
imagined you saw those dead bodies. I think you saw a crashed weather balloon,
related it to all the flying saucer stories that have been in the papers since the Kenneth
Arnold sightings, and let your imagination get the better of you.’
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‘The hell with that,” Marlon said, outraged. ‘I know what I saw there last night -
and it wasn’t any goddamned weather balloon. It was big and made of metal and had
three dead bodies in it. They were burnt all to hell.’

‘Come with us, Mr Clarke.’

Before Marlon could protest, Fuller took him by the shoulder and tugged him to his
feet. Marlon jerked his head around, indicating the noisy search still going on in his
shack, but Harris told him not to worry and walked at his other side as Fuller led him
between the armed troops to the jeep and coaxed him up into the rear seat. Fuller sat
beside him, Harris sat up front, then the driver took off along the road that ran as
straight as an arrow across the flatlands, towards Magdalena.

Marlon's stomach was churning. The sight of the armed troops had scared him, the
people searching his house more so, and now he was confused as well as frightened,
not too sure if he had done the right thing in making that phone call. Jack Fuller, the
CIA agent seated beside him, was only half Marlon’s age, but had a cold-eyed,
obscurely threatening manner, never smiling, just watching. He was making Marlon
feel as guilty as hell, though he didn't know what for. He had simply tried to behave
like a responsible citizen - reporting the crash and what he had seen - and now this
Fuller was making him feel like a criminal, or even a madman. Thinking of all the
stories he'd read about UFOs in the past few weeks (ever since the June sightings by
Kenneth Arnold, the papers were full of them), he started wondering if he had
imagined the whole thing.

Marlon desperately wanted another stiff shot of whisky, but the bottle was back on
the porch where it could do him no good.

They covered the five miles in about ten minutes and soon were bumping over the
flatlands, towards the crash site, which was, Marlon noted, now surrounded by armed
troops just like his house. The sun was up and the heat made Marlon sweat; he was
also sweating with nervous tension when the jeep braked to a halt, its wheels
churning up a cloud of dust that spiralled around him and the others to be carried
away on the moaning wind.

Marlon didn’t have to get out of the jeep to express his surprise.

Fuller turned unyielding eyes upon him. ‘Is this what you saw, Mr Clarke?’

It was not. Now, in the centre of that large circle of armed troops, where the flying
saucer with the three dead bodies had been, Marlon saw only some white-smocked
technicians picking up a thin scattering of silver-foil and narrow balsa-wood beams.
There was no sign of the large flying saucers. No dead bodies. No ambulance.

‘This 1sn’t what I saw,” Marlon said. ‘What I saw was —’

‘This is what we found,’ Fuller told him. ‘The remains of a crashed Rawin weather
balloon. Easily mistaken for flying saucers, Mr Clarke. We sometimes see what we
want to see.’

‘What do you mean by that?’

Fuller glanced at First Lieutenant Harris. ‘One of the worst lightning storms we’ve
had in a long time,” Harris explained with a gentle smile, ‘took place about seventy-
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five miles south-west of here last night, about the same time as this weather balloon
crashed. Since then, we’ve had lots of reports of unidentified flying objects in the
vicinity. Most turned out to be natural phenomena caused by the storm. In other
words, false alarms.’

Marlon felt more confused, but he knew what he had witnessed. No way were
those pieces of silver-foil and balsa wood part of what he had seen here last night.

‘That thing I saw last night was big - very big - and it had dead bodies in it.’

‘It was night,” Fuller told him. “You were drinking. You saw what you expected to
see. Did you get out of your truck?’

‘No, but...’

‘So you’d been sitting out on your porch, drinking half the evening, then you saw
this saucer-shaped object falling from the night sky about five miles away.
Remembering all the stories you’d read in the papers this past few weeks, about so-
called flying saucers, you assumed that’s what you’d seen, drove out here to find it,
and maybe got scared when you did find it and imagined the rest.’

‘With all due respect, sir, that’s bullshit. I know what I saw.’

‘You were drunk and frightened.’

‘I’'m more drunk now than I was last night, but that don’t mean I’m imagining all
this.” Marlon waved his hand to indicate the ring of armed troops and the white-
smocked men picking up pieces of silver-foil and balsa beams to load them into the
army truck nearby. ‘And I’m telling you that what I saw last night was no weather
balloon. It was at least twenty-five feet wide and had -’

‘Dead bodies in it.” Fuller sighed. ‘So where are the dead bodies, Mr Clarke?
Where’s the large, presumably metallic, flying saucer?’

“That’s right. It was metallic.’

Fuller smiled in a mocking way and pointed to the men carrying the debris of the
weather balloon. ‘Silver-foil,” he said. ‘It would look metallic in the dark. The
moonlight, the drifting dust, your state of mind, the drink, combined could have made
you see all the rest. Enough said, I think.’

‘Well, maybe...” Marlon felt confused and nervous, no longer sure of his senses,
and wished he could have a stiff drink to put his thoughts in some order. Okay, so he
was drunk, but he wasn’t that dumb... and when he noticed a lot of tyre tracks leading
away from just beyond this much smaller area of wreckage, heading towards
Roswell, he was convinced that another team of men from the Roswell Army Air
Base had cleared away the real wreckage and taken it back to the base.

Frightened, he decided to keep his nose clean and get involved no further. After
wiping his dry lips with the back of his hand, he deliberately shook his head from
side to side, as if chastising himself. ‘Dammit, I guess you must be right. I sure as hell
hung one on last night. I guess that could explain it." He glanced against at the tyre
tracks that started beyond the perimeter of armed troops, then at the truck into which
the white-smocked men were putting the last of the debris from the weather balloon.
‘A weather balloon?’ Harris nodded and smiled at him. ‘Well, I’ll be damned,’
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Marlon said like a real country yokel. ‘It’s amazin’ what a man sees when he’s drunk.
I feel a right goddamned fool now.’

‘No need,” Harris said, raising the peak of his Air Force cap to offer a genuine,
friendly smile. “You’d be surprised at what people think they see at nights - and these
weather balloons, they fool a lot of people.’

‘Sure fooled me. Say, you haven’t got a drink in that there jeep?’

Harris smiled more broadly. ‘Nope, I’'m afraid not. But you’ve still got that bottle
on the porch and we’re going back now.’

‘Yeah, let’s do that.” Pretending to be more drunk and tired than he was, Marlon
glanced at the CIA agent, Jack Fuller, whose grey gaze was coolly searching, then at
the white-smocked men who were still placing pieces of debris into the truck.
Comparing the size of the craft he had seen last night and the much wider area of
scattered debris with what he was seeing now, he was more convinced than ever that
his senses had not deceived him as Fuller had suggested.

No, those tyre tracks clearly visible beyond the ring of armed troops belonged to
the trucks that had taken the debris of the flying saucer, as well as its dead occupants,
backed to the Roswell Army Air Base. This coldly handsome young CIA agent,
Fuller, and the friendlier Air Force First Lieutenant Harris were undoubtedly covering
up the real crash. Convinced of this, Marlon became even more determined to keep
his mouth shut. He was therefore relieved when the driver turned the jeep around and
headed back to the ranch.

See no evil, hear no evil, Marlon thought, keeping his gaze fixed resolutely on the
road ahead.

It was best to be silent.

Marlon awoke in the early hours of the morning, haunted by the remnants of bad
dreams and frightening realities. At first confused about where he was, hardly
remembering going to bed, he saw his bedroom in darkness, stars framed by the
window, then recalled that crashed flying saucer and the three strange, scorched
bodies. He groaned aloud, hearing something - feeling something - then remembered
waving goodbye to Fuller and Harris as they drove away from his house, having
grimly warned him to forget flying saucers and accept that what he had seen was a
crashed weather balloon.

‘Shit,” Marlon said, hearing something - feeling something - then realised that he’d
been awakened by a strange bass humming sound that seemed physical and made his
head hurt. ‘Shit!” he said. ‘What the hell...?’

The sound was growing louder, as if descending on his roof. As it did so, the whole
house shook to the pulsations of a dazzling light that had suddenly obliterated the
stars as it poured in through his window.

The house shook more violently as the pulsations became more rapid and the light
blinded Marlon. The bass humming sound grew louder and more... physical,
threatening to crush his skull.

Phoenix: Projekt Saucer Book 2 E-book Version © 2003 W.A.Harbinson



12

He jerked upright on the bed and covered his ears with his hands, letting out a
scream of anguish and terror.

The noise cut out abruptly and the pulsating light disappeared, leaving normal
darkness, and... unnatural silence.

Marlon lowered his hands, staring fearfully at the window. Hearing and seeing
nothing other than starlit darkness, he jerked the sheet from his sweating body and
slid off the bed. He put his pants on, picked up his shotgun, then went to the window
and looked out. Still seeing nothing unusual, he padded back to the front door and
stepped out onto the porch.

A large, silvery, saucer-shaped craft was resting on the ground at the end of
Marlon’s moonlit yard. It appeared to be seamless and had no protuberances other
than four retractable legs.

It looked just like the crashed flying saucer that Marlon had seen on the Plain of
San Augustin.

Even as a wave of fearful disbelief swept over him, making him drop the shotgun,
which made a godalmighty clattering, the saucer suddenly gave off a bass humming
sound that shook him to his bones, vibrated slightly, and became surrounded by an
aura of pulsating white light. A transparent dome rose up from the saucer’s raised
centre to reveal three human-shaped silhouettes inside. Then a beam of dazzling light
shot from the saucer, almost blinding Marlon.

Crying out and covering his eyes with his hands, he fell back against the wall of
the house. The light shone through his fingers, showing the blood beneath the skin,
and the bass humming sound pressed in on his skull. Marlon slid down the wall,
whimpering in pain and terror, until he was resting on the porch with his chin on his
raised knees. Then the light faded away, the bass humming sound cut out, and he
looked up as a trap door opened silently in the bottom of the saucer, tilting down to
the ground.

Three men, all dressed in black to match the night, dropped out, one after the other.

They spread out across the yard to advance upon Marlon.

Something about those three men in black told him that they had come to take him
away and that he could not escape.

Marlon just sat there, paralysed by terror, until the men stepped up on the porch
and closed in around him. Then something exploded in his head and he sank down
through spinning stars.
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Chapter Two

Captain Dwight Randall, of the Air Technical Intelligence Centre, or the ATIC, was
not feeling too happy when introducing himself to First Lieutenant William B. Harris,
Flight Intelligence Officer of the Roswell Army Air Base. Back in Wright-Patterson
AFB, in Dayton, Ohio, Dwight's wife, Beth, nursing their first child, Nichola, was
also nursing her resentment because again he was on a trip away from home. She
knew that he had no choice, being compelled to obey orders, but that hadn't helped
him when he waved her goodbye for the third time in the four weeks since Nichola
had been born. Dwight had optimistically promised her that he would be at home at
lot more, at least during the first few months of their new baby's life, but
unfortunately the recent, unexpected spate of UFO sightings had taken precedence
over domestic matters. Now, as Dwight returned the salute of First Lieutenant Harris,
then shook his hand, he felt guilty that he was here instead of in Dayton, looking after
his family.

‘Please, Captain,” Harris said, indicating the chair at the other side of his desk,
‘take a seat. Can | get you a coffee?’

Dwight glanced out the window at the distant aircraft hangars, then shook his head
and sat in the chair. ‘No, thanks. I’ve drunk gallons since leaving Wright-Patterson,
so I’ll beg off for now. Do you mind if [ smoke?” Harris just spread his hands in the
air and offered a natural, charming smile, so Dwight lit up, inhaled, blew a smoke
ring, and watched it drifting away... like a flying saucer. ‘So,” he said, ‘I’ve been sent
by the ATIC to investigate the so-called Socorro sighting of last week. Do you resent
my intrusion?’

‘No, sir,” Harris said. ‘My intelligence training didn’t include flying saucers, so
any help I get will be appreciated. It’s also good to know that the Air Force, which
has so strenuously denied the existence of the phenomenon, now has some tangible
evidence.’

‘One of the functions of the Air Technical Intelligence Centre is to gather data on
Unidentified Flying Objects. The fact that most of them turn out to be natural
atmospheric phenomena may explain our former reluctance to accept the reality of
the UFOs.’

It was a disingenuous statement. What Dwight could not tell Harris is that contrary
to the Air Force’s own publicity, it was in a state of near panic over a whole series of
recent UFO sightings, particularly those over Muroc Air Base - the top secret Air
Force test centre in the Mojave Desert - on July 8, just two days ago and six days
after the Socorro sightings.

The first UFO flap had actually occurred in 1946 when, throughout the summer
and fall, thousands of ‘ghost rockets’ appeared in the skies over Scandinavia and
Western Europe. Mostly seen at night, they were reported as being ‘cigar-shaped’ and
with flames issuing from the tail. Estimates of their speed ranged from that of a ‘slow
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airplane’ to 500 miles per hour. In the month of July alone, the Swedish military
received more than 600 reports, which encouraged the Swedish general staff to
declare the situation ‘extremely serious.” Then, when sightings of the unidentifieds
spread out from Sweden to Finland and close to the Soviet border, the Americans also
took the phenomenon seriously - certainly enough to express their fear that the
rockets might be secret weapons developed by the Russians with the help of the
captured German technical specialists and material.

Their fears were in no way eased by the knowledge that whereas the mysterious
‘Foo fighters’ had not shown up on radar, the ghost rockets certainly had, and
therefore could not be classified as hoaxes, misidentifications or the products of mass
hallucination.

The Soviets denied any knowledge of the rockets, but US suspicions remained
unabated while the rockets continued to fly and be reported from as far afield as
Greece, Turkey, French Morocco and Spain, before gradually fading away the
following year.

However, on June 21, 1947, only a couple of weeks ago, a harbour patrolman,
Harold Dahl, accompanied by his fifteen-year old son and two crewmen, was on
harbour patrol near Maury Island in Puget Sound, off Tacoma, Washington, when he
observed six objects shaped like ‘inflated inner tubes’ hovering about 2,000 feet
above his boat. Five of the objects were circling about the sixth as it descended to
about five hundred feet above the boat, where, appearing to hover magically, it was
seen more clearly. The object appeared to be about a hundred feet in diameter,
metallic, with no jets, rockets, wings, or propellers, but with a ‘hole’ in the centre, or
base, symmetrically placed portholes around the perimeter, and observatory windows
on its underside. After discharging what appeared to be a cloud of aluminium-
coloured debris, which littered the sea, where they gave off clouds of steam,
suggesting that they were hot, the circular craft ascended to rejoin the others, then
they all flew at high speed toward the open sea and soon disappeared.

Three days later, on June 24, an American businessman, Kenneth Arnold, reported
that when flying his private Piper Club airplane near Mount Rainier in the Cascades,
Washington, searching for the debris of the Marine Corps C-46 transport that had
crashed against the south shoulder of Mount Rainier the night before, he observed
nine disk-shaped, apparently metallic objects flying in ‘a diagonal chain-like line’ and
making an undulating motion ‘like a saucer skipping over water.” According to
Arnold's report, the objects performed impossible manoeuvres in the sky, before
flying off at supersonic speed to disappear in the direction of the Canadian border.

As Arnold had been a deputy sheriff and was a reputable businessman, as well as
an experienced mountain air-rescue pilot, his story was taken seriously and the term
‘flying saucer’ came into being. It was therefore used widely over the next few weeks
when the media spread Arnold’s story nation-wide and encouraged a spate of similar
sightings, many of which were hoaxes, some of which were by trained observers and
seemed highly credible.
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By this time the US military authorities, while publicly ridiculing the reported
sightings, were secretly in a state of panic over their own plague of UFO sightings:
the first, on June 28, over Maxwell Air Force Base in Montgomery, Alabama; the
next, on June 29, near Alamogordo, New Mexico, right over the top-secret White
Sands Proving Ground; then, on July 8, a whole spate of sightings of spherically
shaped, white aluminium-coloured objects flying over Muroc Air Base, the
supersecret air force test centre in the Mojave Desert. Because those particular
sightings were made by trained technicians and pilots, and because the reported
objects were appearing increasingly over top-and-supersecret military research bases,
a growing suspicion in intelligence circles was that the men and material deported
from Nazi Germany to Russia had led to a dangerous Soviet lead in space technology.
And now one of the damned things had crashed and all hell had broken loose.

‘Anyway,” Dwight continued, ‘the so-called Socorro sighting has caused a hell of a
stir in the media and placed us in an uncomfortable position. I believe you're the one
who compiled the first official report on it.’

‘Yes, sir. I take it you’ve read it.’

‘About a dozen times,” Dwight told him. ‘I kept re-reading it because I couldn’t
believe my own eyes.” He withdrew Harris’s report from the briefcase on his lap,
leafed through it, then looked up again. ‘You say the UFO appeared to have suffered
damage in a lightning storm near Roswell, but managed to fly on to Magdalena,
where it crashed on the Plain of San Augustin. It was a real flying saucer - or at least
a disc-shaped aircraft -and the wreckage contained three dead bodies. Naturally the
report came as a shock. Are you sure...?’

‘I stand by that report,” Harris said, brushing a lock of dark hair back from his
brown, candid gaze and offering a slight, nervous smile. He looked like an honest,
reliable officer, but clearly he was uncomfortable over this matter. ‘“What that farmer
told me, | was able to confirm with my own eyes: a crashed flying saucer with three
dead bodies in it.’

‘Marlon Clarke was the farmer.’

‘Yes, sir.’

‘A known drunkard who was drinking at the time.’

‘Not that drunk - and I confirmed with my own eyes what he’d told me when he
phoned us shortly after finding the wreckage.’

‘You say the bodies seemed human.’

‘They were burnt beyond recognition and I couldn’t examine them thoroughly, but
they certainly seemed like human beings.’

‘This 1s quite a story, lieutenant, but not one I’d want public. How the hell did it
get out to the press?’

‘Not guilty. The story was picked up by Johnny McBoyle, reporter and part owner
of Radio KSWS in Roswell. McBoyle personally investigated the case and found that
a lot of people had reported seeing the UFO flying overhead. Others reported hearing
a loud banging sound as the object flew through that lightning storm over Corona -
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presumably when it was first damaged. Others in Magdalene reported hearing an
explosion from the Plain of San Augustin - when the object crashed. As soon as |
heard that McBoyle was going to put the story out on the teletype, I blocked the
message with one of my own - sent anonymously, of course - telling him not to
transmit. That scared him enough to make him cancel his transmission.
Unfortunately, the following day, our enthusiastic young public information officer,
Lieutenant Walter Haut, acting on odd bits of information coming into Roswell,
issued a press release without the authorisation of myself or the base commander. His
vague story of a crashed saucer - no mention of the dead bodies -was subsequently
published in the Roswell Daily Record of July 8 - the day after the crash. Hunt has
been reprimanded and will probably be posted out of here.’

‘Alas, too late to kill the story.’

‘I'm afraid so.’

Dwight turned over another page in the report, then looked up again. ‘The saucer
wreckage and dead crew members have been removed from the scene of the crash?’

‘Yes, sir. We did that immediately. At the insistence of no less than the Deputy
Chief of the Air Force, General Hoyt Vandenburg, the three charred bodies and the
debris from the crash were picked up by an intelligence team from the 509th Bomb
Group and transported in strict secrecy to Carswell AFB, Fort Worth, Texas. There’s
no trace of it left at the crash site.’

‘Subsequently you paid Clarke a visit.’

‘Yes, sir. On the instructions of CIA agent Jack Fuller, we scattered the pieces of a
Rawin weather balloon around the crash site and went through a charade of picking
them up for examination when Fuller and I took Clarke back out there. We insisted it
was the balloon that had crashed and that Clarke had simply imagined the dead
bodies. Clarke finally pretended to believe us, but I don’t think he did.’

‘I better have another talk with this Clarke.’

‘You can’t. He vanished the day after the crash and hasn’t been seen since.’

‘Vanished?’

‘Completely. We’ve searched high and low, but we can’t track him down. Neither
could the Roswell Daily Record. He’s vanished into thin air.’

Dwight leaned forward in his chair, suddenly feeling cold and frightened. ‘Christ,
you must have some idea of what happened to him. This is a small, intimate
community, Lieutenant. Someone must know something.’

Harris simply shrugged and raised his hands in a gesture of defeat. ‘No-one knows
anything. When we checked Clarke’s shack, we found his bed unmade - suggesting
he’d slept in it the night before. His old truck was still parked out the back. The only
clue to his disappearance was what might have been a group of footprints in the earth,
leading from the steps of the porch to just outside the front yard, where they stopped
abruptly. There were no signs of tyre tracks, but a circular patch of brush, about
twenty-five feet wide, was flattened and slightly singed in an odd way - I mean, not
from the sun. A real mystery there.’
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‘A circular patch of brush, about twenty-five feet wide - approximately the same
size and shape as the crashed saucer.’

‘Right. It bears thinking about.’

‘What’s the story on Bradley? It says here that as soon as you received word of the
crash, you invited former intelligence officer, now UFO authority, Mike Bradley to
go with you to view the crash. Bradley, normally obsessed with flying saucers,
surprised you by not turning up and by later refusing to discuss his reasons. Has he
talked to you since?’

‘I haven't been in touch with him since.’

‘Can we drive out and see him right now?’

‘Yes. He lives out in Eden Valley, near Robert Goddard’s old rocket-launching
ground. It’s not a long drive.’

‘Okay, let’s go.’

Dwight slipped the report back into his briefcase and got to his feet while Harris
phoned through for a jeep to come around and pick them up. The jeep was waiting for
them by the time they got outside. Dwight glanced up as three F-86 jet interceptors
roared over the great semicircular hangars along the edge of the runway, under a
cloudless blue sky. He did it automatically, perhaps looking for a flying saucer, and
felt instantly foolish when he realised what he had done.

Sitting beside First Lieutenant Harris in the rear of the jeep being driven by a U.S.
Air Force corporal, Dwight put his head back, closed his eyes, and let the beating
wind cool his face as they left the base and headed for Eden Valley, just outside
Roswell. Opening his eyes again, he saw the El Capitdn Mountain rising from the
foothills near the southwestern horizon and, to the east, the sunlight slopes of the
Caprock where, within living memory, the Comanche Indians, Spanish explorers, and
even Billy the Kid had roamed. It therefore seemed incredible that this same area was
already filled with highly advanced defence installations, including atomic research,
aircraft, missile and rocket development, and a lot of highly advanced radar-
electronics and stratospheric flight experimentation. Not far away, in Los Alamos,
was the top-secret Manhattan atom bomb project. The White Sands Missile Range
and Proving Range, at Alamogordo, was the most important of its kind in the United
States. Also, the only combat-trained atom bomb group in the world was the 509th
Bomb Group of the US Army Air Force Base, located right here in Roswell and given
high prominence in Harris’s report. This area was also, incidentally, the one
producing the most UFO reports in the whole country, most of them by professional
pilots and military observers.

Dwight sighed, thinking of the recent spate of saucer sightings that had overturned
his life in the past month: first the Harold Dahl and Kenneth Arnold sightings in
Washington State, then the spate of sightings over various top-secret military
establishments right here in New Mexico. Recalling those sightings, he realised that
he was getting into something truly unknown, perhaps even dangerous.

He was also working too much for his own good, which was upsetting Beth.
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Imagining her back in their small house in Wright-Patterson AFB, Dayton, Ohio,
breast-feeding baby Nichola, he swelled up with love and concern for her. Then, to
distract himself from his feeling of loss, he went back to reading First Lieutenant
Harris’s report.

Harris had included a brief resumé of Bradley’s career, so Dwight knew he was
about to meet an impressive man. Bradley had been a biplane pilot during World War
I, spent a good many years as a successful Wall Street lawyer, became a member of
OSS during World War II, and was known to have been involved in a major
intelligence operation in occupied Europe. The exact nature of that operation was still
top secret, though it certainly concerned German secret weapons. Badly wounded in
an explosion at Keil harbour during the last days of the war, Bradley had recovered,
been discharged from OSS, married a former Roswell Daily Record reporter, Gladys
Kinder, and moved back to Roswell with her. Now, when not making a living by the
drafting of contracts between the many US Air Force and civilian aeronautical
establishments in the area, he was conducting his own investigations into UFO
sightings.

Bradley's interest in UFOs, Dwight was convinced, related directly to what he had
discovered during his intelligence gathering in Germany during the war. Why he had
rejected First Lieutenant Harris’s invitation to check out the Socorro UFO crash site
was therefore a matter for some concern.

‘Apart from the formal resumé contained in your report,” Dwight said as the jeep
crossed the sun-scorched flatlands between Roswell and Eden Valley, ‘what do you
know about Mike Bradley?’

‘He’s been to the base a few times to discuss UFO sightings with me. He’s
intelligent, good humoured and, given his background, unpretentious. A lot of
experience in his face, a kind of air of quiet authority, but also something guarded,
even secretive. He never talks about the war. Says his work is still classified. I
wouldn’t call him the obsessive type, but he’s certainly obsessed with UFOs. That’s
what keeps us in touch.’

‘And his wife?’

‘A terrific lady. Bit of a local character. Used to be a reporter on the Roswell Daily
Record and was known to be as tough as any man. Still is, in fact. Likes to wear
Stetsons and high-heeled boots. Pretty sharp with her tongue, too.’

‘How did she meet Bradley?’

‘He was out here in 1931, trying to run down a physicist -called Wilson, as I recall
— who’d worked for Robert H. Goddard on his rocket experiments in Eden Valley.
Reportedly, Gladys was briefly involved with Wilson and Bradley went to see her
about him. I don’t know if anything occurred between them here in Roswell, but
certainly they met up in London, England, during the war, after Bradley’s wife had
been killed at Pearl Harbour. Bradley and Gladys seem unusually close and are
popular locally.’

‘When did Bradley’s obsession with UFOs begin?’
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‘For him it’s more specific than unidentified flying objects — it’s flying saucers.
He’s been interested in them as long as I’ve known him. We first met a few weeks
after he arrived here with Gladys, which was about four months after the war, about
November or December, 1945. I met him at a welcome home party given for Gladys
by her old buddies on the Roswell Daily Record. As soon as Bradley learnt I was the
Flight Intelligence Officer at Roswell, he pinned me to the wall to enquire if I ever
received reports of saucer or disc-shaped aircraft. This, mind you, was about twenty
months before the first sightings by Harold Dahl and Kenneth Arnold. Of course I’d
never had reports of any such thing - at least not until last month - and when I asked
him why he wanted to know about them, he just murmured vaguely about his interest
in unusual airplane configurations. After that, he regularly asked me if I’d received
any unusual reports, but until last month, I’d nothing to give him.’

‘Then, remarkably, when you had that report on a crashed saucer, he failed to
show.’

‘Right,” Harris said. ‘Damned amazing - and he won’t tell me why.’

‘Maybe this time we’ll be lucky,” Dwight said as the ranch-style house on the edge
of Eden Valley came into view.

‘Yeah,” Harris said. ‘Maybe.’

The driver braked to a halt by the gate of the front yard, causing a cloud of dust to
boil up around the jeep. Dwight slipped out his side of the vehicle, waving the dust
from his face, then was dazzled by sunlight as he walked up the yard path, beside
First Lieutenant Harris. When Harris rang the bell, a woman came to the door. She
was tall and lean, wearing a long belted dress with high-heeled boots, and had a head
of short-cropped, greying brown hair, which made her seem slightly mannish. Her
grey eyes were disconcertingly steady over a full-lipped, sardonic smile.

‘Bill Harris!” she exclaimed as her gaze flicked inquiringly to Dwight. ‘What
brings you here?’

‘We’ve come to see Mike.’

‘Who’s your friend?’

“This is Captain Dwight Randall, of the Air Technical Intelligence Centre, based at
Wright-Patterson AFB, in Dayton, Ohio. He’s here to investigate the Socorro
sighting.’

‘Mike doesn’t know anything about that.’

‘Dammit, Gladys,” Harris said, smiling with considerable charm, ‘stop giving us a
hard time and at least invite us in for a coffee.’

‘It isn’t coffee you want, Bill.’

‘Okay, it isn’t coffee we want. But can we at least step inside and talk to Mike?’

‘What about? He knows nothing about the Socorro sighting. As you know, he
didn’t go to the crash site with you.’

‘Yeah, I know,” Harris said. ‘And what I now want to know is - why? He’s been
hounding me about saucer-shaped aircraft since he came to live here - and then, when
one actually crashes, he doesn’t turn up when he’s invited. Why?’

Phoenix: Projekt Saucer Book 2 E-book Version © 2003 W.A.Harbinson



20

‘Who is it, Gladys?’ The man asking the question appeared in the doorway behind
Gladys. In his early fifties, he was short but muscular in an open-necked sky-blue
shirt and denims. Though grey-haired, he was handsome, but the skin on the right
side of his face was livid from severe burning caused by the explosion at Kiel harbour
in 1945. ‘Bill!” he said, sounding pleasantly surprised. ‘Hi! Come on in.’

Gladys rolled her eyes, but opened the door and stepped aside. ‘This,” she said,
indicating Dwight, ‘is -’

‘Captain Randall, of the Air Technical Intelligence Centre,” Dwight said, holding
out his hand. ‘Call me Dwight.’

‘Dayton, Ohio?’ Bradley asked, shaking his hand.

‘Correct.’

‘Welcome to Roswell.” He started leading them into the living room, but when
Gladys mentioned that they were here about the Socorro sighting, he stopped in his
tracks, blocking their way. ‘The Socorro sighting? Why come to see me? I know
nothing about it.’

‘That’s the point,” Dwight said. ‘First Lieutenant Harris here tells me you’re
fascinated by disc-shaped aircraft, or flying saucers, and yet you didn’t turn up at the
crash scene when you were invited. Why was that, Mister Bradley?’

‘I just didn’t feel inclined.’

‘You hound First Lieutenant Harris for a year-and-a-half about disc, or saucer-
shaped, aircraft and then, when he tells you one has crashed, you don’t feel inclined?
Do you expect us to believe that, Mister Bradley?’

‘Why not? I just lost interest in the subject.’

‘But when 1 rang you,” Harris said, ‘you didn’t sound like you’d lost interest. In
fact, you sounded real excited and said you were going to meet me at the main gate of
the air base to join me on the trip to the crash site. So what stopped you, Mike?’

Bradley glanced at his wife, then turned a closed gaze back to Harris. ‘I’m sorry,
Bill, but I just changed my mind. The reasons are personal.’

“You must have changed your mind shortly after he rang you,” Dwight said. ‘What
kind of personal reason could make you change your mind so quickly?’

Now Bradley wasn’t smiling. ‘That’s my business, Captain.’

‘And you still insist you’re no longer interested in UFOs?’

‘You’re not deaf,” Gladys said aggressively. ‘You heard what he said.’

‘I heard, Mrs Bradley, but I find it hard to believe.’

“That’s your problem.’

Dwight turned back to Mike Bradley as Harris became embarrassed. ‘Would you
mind at least telling me what stirred your interest in UFOs in the first place?’

‘Like a lot of folks, I was intrigued by the Kenneth Arnold sightings.’

‘Which took place a month ago. First Lieutenant Harris tells me you’ve been
interested in disc, or saucer-shaped, aircraft from the moment you first came to
Roswell, at the tail end of 1945 - about twenty months before the recent sightings.’

‘Okay, I’ll admit that.’
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‘Long before there was any talk of so-called flying saucers.’

‘Right,” Bradley said, looking uncomfortable.

‘Which means you picked up the interest during, or just after, the war. Is that also
correct?’

‘I can’t answer that question.’

‘Because the job you did for OSS was classified?’

‘Correct,” Bradley said. ‘Now, I think -’

‘You better leave,” Gladys said. ‘My husband doesn’t want to discuss this any
further.’

Dwight ignored her. “What happened on the night of July second, Bradley, after
First Lieutenant Harris called you about that crashed saucer. What stopped you from
turning up to see what you’d been so desperate to find?’

‘I’ve nothing more to say,” Bradley responded, his face more flushed than the livid
flesh on his right cheek.

‘Whatever it was that stopped you, it also made you give up your UFO
investigations. Isn’t that the truth, Mr Bradley?’

‘Goodnight, gentlemen. Goodbye.’ Bradley turned away and disappeared back into
the house as Gladys, with a grim, no-nonsense expression, pushed them out through
the front door. “You heard the man,’ she said harshly. ‘Now get the hell out of here.’

‘Does the name “Wilson” ring a bell, Mrs Bradley?’ Dwight boldly asked her.

She looked startled, then blushed.

‘Back in 1931, when you first met your husband, he was investigating a scientist
called Wilson, who’d worked right here, in Eden Valley, with Robert H.Goddard. I
believe you knew Wilson, Mrs Bradley.’

‘I don’t know what you’re talking about,” Gladys said, then slammed the door in
their faces.

Dwight stared at the closed door in amazement, then at the uneasy Harris.

‘Well, I’ll be damned,” Harris said. ‘I knew Bradley wouldn’t be keen to talk, but
I’ve never known him or Gladys to be that unfriendly.’

‘They’re both frightened,” Dwight said. ‘They’re just trying to cover it up. Come
on, let’s get out of here.’

They stepped down off the porch, climbed into the jeep, and let the corporal drive
them away, back across the parched flatlands on the edge of Eden Valley. Dwight
thought of the rockets that Robert H. Goddard had launched from this desolate area,
then tried making the connection between Goddard, whom Bradley had visited once
or twice with regard to the mysterious Wilson, and Bradley’s later obsession with
disc-or-saucer-shaped flying objects. He came to a blank wall.

‘Bradley was obsessed with UFOs,” Harris said like a man in a trance of
bewilderment. ‘I just can’t figure what’s scared him.’

‘You're scared,” Dwight informed him. ‘First a flying saucer crashes, then it’s
spirited away to Carswell, then the only civilian witness to its existence disappears,
and now Bradley and his wife have clammed up and won’t discuss UFOs. So you’re
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scared... with good reason.’

‘Yes, sir, that’s right, I’'m scared. What about you?’

‘Yeah,” Dwight confessed, glancing up to be dazzled by the brilliant, vast, empty
sky. ‘I’m scared too, I guess.’
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Chapter Three

Wilson, Ernst Stoll, Hans Kammler and Artur Nebe were together in the underground
viewing bay as the Kugelblitz 11, a twenty-five-foot diameter, piloted flying saucer,
descended at hovering speed through the deep well formed by a circle of soaring, ice-
capped mountain peaks. Its lights were flashing kaleidoscopically around its sharp
outer edge, but its bass humming sound, the infrasounds of its power source, which
could tighten a human skull at a certain intensity, was blocked off by the thick plate-
glass window of the viewing bay. Eventually, the saucer started settling gently on the
steel-plated landing pad constructed at ground level in the cavernous space hacked
out of the snow-covered Antarctic rock.

The base seemed to be underground, but was actually at ground level and hidden
from the view of pilots flying overhead by an umbrella of soaring, snow-capped
mountain peaks. However, working from this valley floor, beginning during World
War II, Wilson's Slavenarbeiter, or slave labour, under the ruthless supervision of the
former SS officers, Stoll, Kammler and Nebe, had worked night and day at hacking
their way into the base of the mountain to create aircraft hangars, workshops,
laboratories, the first two of what would be many landing pads for the flying saucers,
offices, staff accommodations, and underground quarters for the slave labour.

The slaves had originally been shipped out from the occupied territories of Nazi
Germany and, more recently, abducted from various countries and flown here in
Wilson’s flying saucers. Only two were operating right now, but more were being
constructed. Within five years there would be a whole fleet of them, each one better
than the last, with no end to their technological evolution in sight. If not feeling pride
(a redundant emotion) Wilson certainly felt satisfied as he watched the saucer rocking
lightly on its base before finally settling down.

Its bass humming sound receded into silence, then its flashing lights winked off
one by one. The arc lights powered by self-charging generators and fixed high up on
the walls of solid rock, to illuminate the gloomy, cavernous landing area, gave the
saucer’s metallic grey surface a silvery sheen. It looked alien and beautiful.

The other saucer was at rest beside it, but covered in a tarpaulin. Both were
surrounded by white-coated technicians and slaves, men and women alike, dressed in
identical, dark grey coveralls that just about kept out the biting cold. It was not the
Antarctic cold, since that had been reduced by the installation of phase-change solar-
heat pumps that could store enough energy to also get the colony through the long
Antarctic night; but it remained cold enough to be uncomfortable for the unfortunate
labour force.

Now, as the Kugelblitz 11 settled down on the landing pad on its four retractable
hydraulic legs, the technicians, armed guards and Slavenarbeiter moved in to
surround it. As the latter placed steel stepladders along the sloping sides of the saucer,
to begin checking and polishing its seamless sides, a trap-door opened in the base,
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sloping downwards, and a slim man dressed in a pinstripe suit lowered himself to the
landing pad and looked around in a dazed, disbelieving manner, before the armed
guards closed in upon him. A second man emerged from the saucer almost
immediately, this one big, bulky and wearing dirty bib-and brace coveralls. He, too,
looked around him as if dazed, until he was surrounded by the armed guards and led
away with the first man.

‘Good,” Kammler said. ‘They caught both of them.” Blond and blue-eyed, he
glanced at the dark-eyed Nebe, who merely nodded solemnly and stroked the pistol
strapped around his waist. Both men, like Wilson and Ernst Stoll, were wearing
heavy roll-neck pullovers under thick coats and trousers. All of their clothing was
coloured black.

Wilson nodded and smiled. He was feeling good today. He needed advanced
prosthetic replacements for his artificial elbow joints and the man they had captured
could do the job - that and many others. Sometimes it all seemed so simple. Faith
could move mountains.

The two men surrounded by guards moved out of view far below, approaching the
lifts that would carry them up to the upper level of the colony, occupied by Wilson
and his most senior staff, including those now grouped around him. He glanced at
Ernst Stoll, once an enthusiastic rocket engineer, then an SS policeman, now an
embittered, therefore malleable, administrator responsible for the collection and
welfare of the slave labour. Stoll was looking down at the parked flying saucer,
showing little emotion. He had left his heart and soul in conquered Germany; now he
lived for this colony. Wilson was satisfied.

‘Let’s go and greet them,’ he said, turning away from the window and leaving the
viewing bay through doors that led into a gloomy corridor hacked out of the inside of
the mountain. The corridor led into a larger, brighter room, which also overlooked the
landing area for the saucers, but contained comfortable armchairs and settees on an
Italian-tiled floor partially covered by large Moroccan carpets. The wall overlooking
the landing area was mostly thick plate-glass framed by ugly reinforced concrete. The
back wall had been hacked out of the mountain and was simply the original rock
covered in concrete and damp-proofing black paint. The two side walls were also of
reinforced concrete, but contained steel-plated doors, one of which was for the lift,
with a row of indicator lights above it. As Wilson entered the room with his
entourage behind him, the lights came on one by one, indicating that the lift was
ascending. The light stayed on at the marking for the fifth level.

When the lift doors opened, the two captives emerged, being prodded by the
automatic weapons of two guards wearing old SS uniforms. The slim, grey-haired
man in the pinstripe suit and tie was, Wilson knew, Dr Paul King, of the Powered
Limbs Unit of West Hendon Hospital, London, England. The bigger man in the dirty
brace-and-bib coveralls was the farmer, Marlon Clarke, who had witnessed the
crashed flying saucer near Magdalena, New Mexico. The sophisticated Dr King,
while clearly bewildered and frightened, was in control of himself; the other one,
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Clarke, was terrified and practically dribbling.

‘Dr King?” Wilson said, as if this meeting and the circumstances were routine.

‘Yes,” King replied, his voice admirably calm, though his eyes betrayed confusion
and fear. ‘Who are you? Where am [?’

‘My name is Wilson. You will address me as that. You’re in a colony located
inside a mountain in Neu Schwabenland, or Queen Maud Land, in Antarctica. You
are here as my prisoner.’

Clarke started sobbing, uncontrollably, like a child, wiping the tears from his
cheeks with a grubby hand as he stared down at his own feet.

‘Oh, Christ,” he said. ‘Oh, Jesus, I don’t believe... Oh, God help me, I'm
dreaming.’

‘No, Mr Clarke, you’re not dreaming. Nor are you imagining things. This is real.
We are real. What’s puzzling you, Dr King?’

‘Something about your face.’

‘I’'m seventy-seven years old, doctor, but look fifteen years younger. My face lacks
a certain mobility due to crude plastic surgery. I also need improving in other ways,
which is why I need you.’

‘Oh, Jesus,’ Clarke sobbed. ‘Why me? What the hell am I doing here?’

‘You’ve been brought here,” Wilson informed him, ‘because you were unfortunate
enough to witness the debris of a crashed flying saucer and its three dead crew
members. We can’t permit you to talk about it, so you’re here to be silenced.” Clarke
burst into tears again as Wilson turned to the other man. ‘As for you, Dr King, you’re
fortunate enough to be one of the world’s leading specialists in research into the
myoelectric control of external prosthetics, or artificial limbs. You’ll therefore be
invaluable to this community and need have no fear if you co-operate.’

‘Co-operate?’ King asked as Marlon Clarke sobbed hysterically beside him. ‘What
do you mean?’

‘This is a secret community devoted to science,” Wilson explained, ‘with no moral
impediments to progress. We’ll do anything necessary, no matter how ruthless, for
the advancement of the technology we’re creating. We’re a society of masters and
slaves, scientists and their servants, and we live beyond the reach of so-called
civilisation and its antiquated moral constraints. You are either for us or against us,
Dr King - willing worker or slave. The choice is all yours.’

‘I think I’m dreaming,” King said. ‘I just can’t accept this.’

‘Don’t be as foolish as him,” Wilson warned, indicating the sobbing Clarke, ‘by
putting this down to imagination or dreaming. This is real, Dr King, and it cannot be
stopped. Outlawed by the world we may be, but we’re well out of reach. The saucers
are my creation and just the tip of the iceberg. My ultimate purpose is a new kind of
man, both physically and mentally: the mythical superman made real in a world based
on logic, not emotion. We’re a unique community, Dr King, and you will be part of
it.’

‘What if I refuse?’
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‘You don’t have a choice. Either you do it willingly or we compel you to do it. We
have our ways, Dr King, and you can’t escape from here. Outside this mountain is the
Antarctic wilderness. Where would you go?’

As the full implication of what Wilson was saying struck home to Clarke, he
sobbed more profusely and visibly started shaking. When Wilson nodded, one of the
guards took hold of Clarke’s elbow and managed to steady him. Dr King, though
clearly frightened, remained in control of himself and stared about him in wonder.

‘I take it you’re human beings,’ he said, turning back to Wilson, ‘and not creatures
from outer space.’

Wilson smiled coldly. ‘Alas, yes, we’re all too human.’

King glanced at Stoll, Kammler and Nebe, then nodded, indicating the armed
guards. “You look like a bunch of Nazis to me.’

‘I’'m an American,” Wilson said, ‘but one without political allegiance. These men,
it is true, were in the SS, but all that is behind them now. There are no nationalities
here; we’ve all disowned that. Here, our only religion is science. We don’t worship
false gods.’

‘I know I’'m not dreaming,” King said, ‘but I still can’t accept this. I don’t know
who you are or how long you’ve been here, but you won’t be able to stay. Sooner or
later, the West will learn about you and put a stop to your madness.’

‘Some of them know we’re here,” Wilson said, ‘but they can’t get us out. No one
can get us out of here. No one has the technology.’

‘I don’t believe that,” King said.

‘It’s true,” Wilson insisted. ‘The US government knows we are here, but they can’t
get us out.’

“You mean they’ve already tried?’

‘Yes. Last January they launched the biggest Antarctic expedition in history,
Operation Highjump, led by the explorer and naval officer, Rear-Admiral Richard
E.Byrd. The resources of the assault force, which was disguised as an exploratory
expedition, included thirteen ships, two seaplane tenders, an aircraft carrier, six two-
engine R4D transports, six Martin PBM flying boats, six helicopters, and a total of
4,000 men. When this supposedly invincible assault force reached the Antarctic coast,
it docked, on January 12, near Queen Maud Land, or Nue Schwabenland, then
divided up into three separate task forces. When the expedition ended, in February, a
lot earlier than anticipated, there were numerous stories in the press about Rear-
Admiral Byrd’s references to enemy fighters that came from the Polar regions and
could fly from one Pole to the other with incredible speed. The machines to which he
was referring are the kind that brought you here and were created by me in Nazi
Germany. As for Admiral Byrd’s mission, it was deemed a disaster and the United
States has since declared that it’s withdrawing from the Antarctic for at least a
decade. They know they can’t get us out of here. They don’t have the technology.’

Dr King did not reply, but he licked his lips and glanced about him, still in a state
of disbelief, trying to accept the reality of this nightmare as the farmer, Marlon
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Clarke, sniffed back his tears and looked frantically around him, his eyes stunned by
dread.

Ever curious about human emotions, since he had so few himself, Wilson decided
to take the confused, disbelieving Dr King and terrified Marlon Clarke on a tour of
the colony.

‘Come,’ he said. ‘Follow me.’

Confident that neither King nor Clarke would try to escape, since there was
nowhere to go, Wilson nodded at the armed guards, who put up their weapons and
left the room through the door leading to the corridor. Wilson then entered the lift,
followed by Dr King and the dribbling Clarke, then Stoll, Kammler and Nebe. Stoll
pressed the button for the third level. When the lift had descended and the doors
opened again, Wilson led the group out into a clamour of hammering, pneumatic
drilling, and echoing voices.

Another tunnel, being hacked out of the mountain, was being walled and roofed
with reinforced concrete and steel wiring. As Wilson led King and Clarke through
churning dust in the arc-lit gloom, it was clear that the work was being done by the
filthy men and woman who slaved under gunpoint and to the cracking of the whips of
other guards.

‘This all started in Nazi Germany,” Wilson explained. ‘Contrary to popular belief,
the Antarctic continent has many unexplored, ice-free areas, many of which are well
hidden from view by vast ice sheets and mountains. In other words, Dr King, we are
not quite underground, though we’re hidden by high mountain peaks. We’re carving
the rest of the space we need from the interior of the same mountain.’

Gradually accepting that all of this was real, Dr King was glancing about him, with
awe as well as fear, at the many unfortunates slaving in this dust-filled, arc-lit, rocky
hell.

‘Nazi Germany,” Wilson continued, ‘had a genius for the construction of immense
underground production plants and factories, most completed with the ruthless use of
captured slave labour. Indeed, most of the underground research centres of Nazi
Germany were gigantic feats of construction, containing air-shafts, wind-tunnels,
machine-shops, assembly plants, launching pads, supply dumps, accommodation for
all who worked there, and adjoining camps for the slave workers - yet few German
civilians knew that they existed.’

A whip cracked and someone screamed. Dr King twitched but walked on, though
Clarke, growing ever more terrified, released an audible groan.

‘Take Peenemiimde, for instance. The full enormity of that research complex can
only be gauged from the fact that apart from its wind tunnel - the most advanced in
the world, containing its own research department, instrumentation laboratory,
workshops and design office - it also had its own power station, docks, oxygen plant,
airfield, POW camp for specially selected prisoners who provided cheap labour, and
social and medical facilities associated with a town of 20,000 inhabitants. It was
therefore the prototype for the even larger underground factories to be built secretly
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in Germany and Austria, notably at Nordhausen in the southern Harz mountain range
of Thuringia, which is where I created my first piloted flying saucer, the Kugelblitz.
Do you know about Nordhausen, Dr King?’

‘No, I'm afraid not.’

‘It was an immense rocket research and construction facility, consisting of a series
of linked tunnels carved out of the Kohnstein Mountain, near the town of
Nordhausen. The parallel tunnels were 1,800 metres long. Leading off them were
fifty side-chambers, a main work area of 125,000 square metres, and twelve
ventilation shafts that had been bored down from the peak of the mountain. Work at
converting the tunnels into a mass-production facility for rockets began in September
1943 with the use of 2,000 engineers and 15,000 inmates from the nearby
concentration camps. The slaves were kept in a separate camp located in a hidden
mountain valley, less than a kilometre from the entrance to the tunnel. A new
underground complex, to be linked to Nordhausen by another network of tunnels,
was in the process of being built sixteen kilometres under the ground around the town
of Bleicherode, twenty kilometres distance. Between them, Nordhausen and
Bleicherode constituted the first of the SS underground factories - virtually living
towns - and what the Nazis were doing there, under the earth, we are now doing here,
in the Antarctic.’

‘I can’t imagine how you managed to get so much equipment and so many of these
unfortunate wretches here,” King said, glancing around him at the sobbing, sweating
captives now slaving in abominable conditions.

‘The labour force and equipment were shipped in submarines, in the course of
many voyages, over a period of years, throughout the war, when other Nazi boats and
submarines were protecting the South Atlantic coastline of Antarctica. Bear in mind
that the normal U-boat of that time could cover 7,000 miles on each operational
cruise. Also, the Germans had submarine tankers spread across the South Atlantic
Ocean at least as far as south of South Africa, and any one of those tankers, which
had a displacement of 2,000 tons, could supply ten U-boats with fuel and stores, thus
trebling the time that those submarines could stay at sea. It took a long time, but we
managed to get enough men and equipment here before the war ended. We should
have enough to last a couple more years, by which time we will have more and bigger
saucers to fly in what we need.’

The tunnel led into another large viewing bay in which the plate-glass windows
had yet to be inserted. Far below was a workshop of massive dimensions, with jibs
and cranes, whining machines, and sheets of a metallic substance, dull grey and
different shapes, being swung to and fro. There were many workers down there, also,
as well as long work benches, steaming vats, blast furnaces, screeching electric drills,
and the ribbed bodywork for other, larger saucers. The walls of the workshop were
solid rock, hacked out of the mountain's interior, but the vast ceiling was reinforced
concrete, as was the floor.

‘The workshop’s 300 feet long and 138 feet wide,” Wilson explained. ‘Its roof is
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eighty feet high and made from twenty-three-feet thick reinforced concrete. To pierce
it, you’d need a bomb weighing about twelve tons and striking the ceiling at a speed
of Mach 1, the speed of sound. In order to construct it, we needed 49,000 tons of steel
and concrete for the roof alone. Hundreds of jacks were used to raise the roof slowly,
inches at a time, with the walls being built up beneath it, as it was raised. The
enormous amounts of steel, cement, sand and gravel needed were brought in by U-
boat and airplane over a period of years, like the rest of the material and the labour
force. The site used about 5,000 workers, who were shipped here from the occupied
territories, mostly from concentration camps. At any one time there were always at
least a thousand men at work. This went on around the clock in twelve-hour shifts,
and my guards had no hesitation in executing anyone too ill or exhausted to do it. For
this reason, we managed to complete the construction of the workshop in a year. With
logic, Dr King, and not emotions, men can do the impossible.’

Dr King gazed down on the skeletal saucer prototypes and the great steel plates
being swung to and fro. ‘So it was one of your flying saucers that crashed at Socorro,
New Mexico.’

‘No,” Wilson said. ‘Not one of ours.’

King started to respond, obviously wanting to know about the other saucer, but
before he could do so Wilson waved him into silence and led him and the others
across a catwalk, through another, shorter tunnel, eventually entering a steel-plated
room which had rows of frosted glass cabinets on the shelves and naked, dead bodies
inside them.

Clarke stopped walking when he saw the bodies, letting out another groan, but the
dark-eyed Artur Nebe, who still had his hand on his pistol, roughly pushed him
onward. Dr King merely gave a slight shudder, but continued walking behind Wilson.
They soon emerged from the tunnel to another room, a laboratory, its steel-plated
walls climbing to a ceiling of chiselled rock that was part of the interior of the
mountain.

Here, the members of staff looked perfectly normal, men and women in white
smocks, reading and writing, peering down through microscopes, checking printouts,
gauges and thermometers, working quietly, intently. More appalling, however, were
the specimens in the cages and glass jars: human heads, artificially pumping hearts,
floating brains and intestines. There were also cabinets containing artificial joints and
various prosthetics.

‘Oh, Jesus!” Clarke groaned. He covered his face with his hands, started shaking
even more, and became so weak that he had to be propped up by Ernst Stoll. Clarke
started sobbing again.

‘Take him away,” Wilson said. ‘Might as well prepare him immediately. Stoll,
come and see me in five minutes. I’ll be in my office.’

‘Yes, sir,” Stoll said. He and Kammler then slipped their arms around Clarke and
practically carried him out of the laboratory, leaving only the dark-eyed,
expressionless Artur Nebe with Wilson and Dr King. The latter was gazing around
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him in amazement, but not shock, as prosthetics were what he had been working on in
the hospital in England.

‘A familiar sight?” Wilson asked, pleased to see that Dr King was in control of
himself.

‘The prosthetics, yes. The rest of it, no. We work under certain moral restraints, as
you’ve already noted.’

Wilson smiled thinly. ‘The work that goes on here,” he explained, ‘is not only for
the production of advanced prosthetics and organs. Its ultimate goal is life extension,
first through the transfer and replacement of bodily parts, eventually by discovering
the secrets of longevity. Right now, we need primitive life extension through
prosthetic replacement, which is where you come in. Your work will involve human
prosthetics and the creation of cyborgs: half man, half machine. I’'m sure you’ll find
it highly satisfying.’

‘You realise I think you’re insane.’

‘I’'m not. ’'m just logical.’

Dr King was not swayed by Wilson’s brand of logic. ‘I'm fifty years old. I have a
family and friends. Even were I to accept that I can’t escape from here, 1’d still find it
psychologically impossible to adjust to the loss of everything I’ve known, loved and
need. In short, even if I tried to co-operate, I don’t think I’d succeed.’

‘You worry unnecessarily. We have ways of indoctrination. Drug therapy,
combined with psychological persuasion, will aid your adjustment while letting you
retain all your faculties. That process of indoctrination begins today.” Dr King just
stared at him, blinking too much, turning pale. ‘Are you frightened?’ Wilson asked.

‘Yes, I’m very, very frightened.’

‘You won’t be for long.’

Wilson nodded at Artur Nebe, who removed his pistol from its holster and
indicated the nearest doorway with it. Dr King licked his lips, then walked out,
followed closely by Nebe. Wilson sighed, then stepped into another lift and ascended
to the level directly above - the highest level so far, though others were planned.

Emerging from the lift, he entered a sunlit, dome-shaped room, its white-metal
walls gleaming, enormous windows running around the walls, framing the dazzling
sky and snow-capped mountain peaks of the Antarctic wilderness. Between the
windows were doors, steel-plated, all closed, computer consoles jutting out just above
them, their lights flashing on and off. The room was fifty feet wide. There was a desk
in the middle. On the desk was an intercom, a microfilm viewer, a pile of books,
notepaper, pens and pencils, a panel of switches. There were chairs in front of the
desk, all leather, deep and comfortable; there was no other furniture in the room. The
floor was laid with plain tiles which, in combination with the steel-plated walls, made
the room cold and sterile.

Wilson walked across the floor, his footsteps reverberating, passing the desk and
stopping at the window, to look out over his kingdom of snow and ice, the impossibly
blue sky. He only turned away from that view when the door opened and Ernst Stoll
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entered. Stoll stopped by the chairs at the desk, but he didn’t sit down.

‘You wanted to see me, sir?’

‘Yes.” Wilson remained at the window, gazing steadily at Stoll, aware that he
wouldn’t like what he was about to hear. Stoll was in his middle thirties, but looked
older, no longer handsome, ravaged by the loss of his family and idealism during the
war. Now loathing the outer world, having nothing to return to, he was devoted to
Wilson and his work with this Antarctic colony. He would not want to leave.

‘The colony is expanding rapidly and requires more workers,” Wilson said. ‘The
original labour force is dying off and for that reason, also, we need more workers. We
also need human specimens for our laboratory experiments. Finally, we need smaller
people for use in the saucers, either in human form or, given time, as cyborgs. We can
find a plentiful, constant supply of the small Ache Indians of Paraguay. That country
remains sympathetic to the Nazis and will welcome your overtures.’

‘I’m to go to Paraguay?’

‘More than that, Ernst. Not for a mere trip. You must give up direct participation in
the running of this colony and instead take up residence in Paraguay. There you will
cultivate a close relationship with General Stroessner, organise the purchase,
collection and shipment of the Ache Indians, and keep constantly vigilant for signs of
betrayal by Stroessner or his government. In other words, you will leave here for
good and settle in Paraguay.’

Stoll was dismayed. ‘I don’t want to leave here, sir, and I certainly don’t want to
settle in Paraguay. While it’s true that the country has become a haven for Nazi
refugees, most of them live in protected enclosures in the jungle and go mad with
boredom.’

‘You won’t be bored, Ernst. I promise you that. You’ll be busy rounding up Ache
Indians and liasing between the Paraguayans and me. You’ll be in frequent contact
with us here; and will receive regular visits from myself and others. You’ll also be
our main contact with the rest of the world, which will include a lot of travelling and
meetings. So I’m certain that you’ll find it far from dull and might even enjoy it. This
work is important, Ernst.’

‘I’d rather stay here, but if you insist...”

‘I insist. I don’t trust anyone else, Ernst. Kammler and Nebe are men who like
intrigues and live by betrayal. I want them here, where I can keep my eyes on them.
You’re the only one I’d trust outside the colony, so it has to be you.’

‘I’'m honoured,” Ernst said, as stupid about Wilson as he had been with Himmler
during the war. ‘When do I leave?’

‘Not immediately. Right now, that country is in the middle of a minor revolt, which
I believe will be defeated by President Morinigo. While this is going on, and causing
great confusion, we’re having long and frustrating negotiations with that corrupt army
general, Alfredo Stroessner. We don’t expect to have matters resolved too soon. I’d
think in six or seven months from now. Say early next year. s that satisfactory?’

‘Yes, of course.’
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Wilson smiled thinly and shook his hand. ‘Good, Ernst. I’'m pleased.’

Ernst nodded solemnly and left the office, having foolishly believed everything
Wilson had told him.

Yet what Wilson had told him was essentially correct - at least regarding the work
required. Where he had misled Ernst was in telling him that life in the jungles of
Paraguay would not be dull. In fact, it would be hell, which is why Wilson had
chosen Ernst. Kammler and Nebe would both have refused to go. Ernst, then, with his
perverted idealism, was the natural choice.

Pleased with himself, Wilson took the lift from his office back down to the third
level. Once there, he made his way to the steel-plated laboratory with the ceiling of
chiselled rock and gruesome collection of human heads, artificially pumping hearts,
floating brains, intestines, and all kinds of prosthetics. Passing the men and women in
white smocks, he entered the operating theatre, where the unfortunate Marlon Clarke,
now almost mindless with terror, even though slightly sedated, was strapped by his
legs, arms and forehead to a surgical bed and surrounded by silent, white-smocked
surgeons.

‘Oh, please,” Clarke whimpered tearfully. ¢ Please!’

Wilson leaned over him, to smile coldly at him. ‘We wish to remove your head
while you’re still fully aware, in order to check if we can preserve it in its conscious
state. Your neck has been anaesthetised, so you shouldn’t feel a thing, though you’ll
be aware until the very last moment of exactly what’s happening. Treat it as an
experience.’

He then stepped back to observe as the leading surgeon switched on the electric
guillotine and moved it on its pulley into place over the throat of the pop-eyed,
sweating, violently shaking Marlon Clarke. As the surgeon proceeded to surgically
remove Clarke’s head, Wilson calmly looked on, curious to see how the unfortunate
man would react before death blotted out his mind.
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Chapter Four

This place is the pits, Fuller decided as he parked his jalopy in front of the hospital
annex in Fort Bliss, New Mexico, which was now being used to house the German
rocket scientists under contract to the US Air Force. Fuller was an urban man who
hated the country, and having driven the eighty miles from the White Sands Proving
Ground, located between Alamogordo and the site of the first atomic explosion,
across eighty miles of desert relieved only by endless sagebrush, he was convinced
that he had passed through a world inhabited only by mountain lions, coyotes,
wildcats, and rattlesnakes. He was therefore relieved to be in Fort Bliss, El Paso,
within sight of the Organ Mountains (which, he had been informed, reminded the
German scientists of the Bavarian Alps), though was not thrilled to step out of his car
into more dust and scorching heat.

How he longed to be back in Langley, Virginia, with his CIA pals.

As he walked up to the door of Count Werner von Braun’s rooms in the wood-
frame building, an Army Stinson L-5, a small liaison plane, flew overhead, reminding
him that this was a military base and that the Kraut scientists housed here, including
von Braun, were reportedly conducting, in collaboration with the Americans, a highly
secret research project for the government.

Things sure change quickly, he thought with unsullied cynicism.

Ringing the doorbell located beside the mesh-wire screen, he reminded himself that
the man he was about to meet was not an American, but a former Nazi scientist who
had created the V-2 rocket that had devastated London and Antwerp during the war.
Now classed as a civilian with civilian staff, von Braun remained in charge of 117 of
his own German scientists, engineers and technicians, albeit under the supervision of
US Army Major James P.Hammill, a physicist and German-speaking Fordham
graduate. The Germans had come into America in 1945 as so-called Wards of the
Army, thus requiring no entry permits, all signing one-year contracts with the Army.
These were soon changed to five-year contracts, and now the Krauts, while still
quartered in this hospital annex, were acquiring automobiles, wearing sombreros and
cowboy boots, going to movies and night-clubs, and sending their kids to schools in
El Paso.

A better life than we’re having, Fuller thought as the front door opened and a well-
fleshed, handsome face appeared behind the mesh-wire screen. Defeat has its
rewards.

‘Yes?’ Count Werner von Braun asked.

‘Sam Fuller, from Langley, Virginia.’

‘Ah, yes, the CIA. You’re expected. Come in.’

He opened the mesh-wire door to let Fuller enter. Inside, the house, or conversion,
was neat, if rather spartan and obviously not meant to last. Soon, as Fuller knew, von
Braun would be moving to Redstone Arsenal, Huntsville, Alabama, as director of
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research-and-development projects of the Army Ordnance Guided Missile Centre.

Another reward, Fuller thought as he and the imposing German shook hands.

‘Please,” von Braun said, indicating a soft chair in the living room. ‘Be seated.’
Fuller sat. ‘I’m afraid my wife isn’t here at present. A drink. Some tea? Lemonade?’

‘Beer?’

‘This I have,” von Braun said, his great bulk looming large over Fuller, casting its
shadow upon him. ‘One moment, please.” When the German disappeared into the
kitchen, Fuller had a good look around. No TV set yet, but the radio was on: Benny
Goodman’s orchestra and a lady singing the swinging ‘Bi Mir Bist du Schérn’, which
made Fuller want to snap his fingers and dance. A copy of Forever Amber was on the
table, in the shadow of a vase of fresh flowers. Clearly someone was perfecting his or
her English with popular music and fiction. Von Braun soon returned with a tall glass
filled with beer, which he gave to Fuller, and a bottle of Pepsi Cola for himself. ‘I am
sorry it’s not German,’ he said. ‘American beer is not good, no?’

‘No,” Fuller said. He sipped his lousy American beer. Von Braun sat in the sofa
directly facing him, his thick legs outspread. He had the build of a wrestler and the
ease that came with huge egos. He would not be pushed easily.

‘Nice place,” Fuller said.

‘You know that’s not true. It is adequate, but better than we deserve - and, of
course, temporary. [ look forward to moving on.’

‘You like it in America? Apart from the beer, [ mean?’

‘At first I was lonely. A lot of us, we were lonely. But recently we were joined by
our parents, wives and children. Three hundred in all. Included in these were my
parents, the Baron and Baroness Magnus von Braun - whose ancestral estate in
Silesia has been confiscated by the Russians - and I have also been joined by my
bride. I was given leave to marry her in Landshut and bring her back here. The
Americans are generous.’

Damn right, Fuller thought. And an eighteen-year-old bride, a second cousin, at
that. ‘“We’re not so generous with our own citizens,” he said without the trace of a
smile.

Von Braun smiled for him, though his gaze remained cool. ‘No, I suppose not.’

‘Where’s your wife now?’ Fuller asked.

‘I thought our conversation would bore her,” von Braun said, ‘so | sent her out for
a walk.’

Which means she can’t say the wrong thing, Fuller thought. Some fat pumpkin we
have here.

He sipped some more beer. His throat felt dry in this dusty hole. ‘What do you
most like about America, Count von Braun?’

‘American sport. Joe DeMaggio and Rocky Graziano.” Von Braun shrugged.
‘Apart from that, I only like my work. Now what do you want to know, Mr Fuller?’
Fuller smiled, admiring von Braun’s bluntness. A 28-year old hard case from
Brooklyn, New York, Fuller was the child of moderately wealthy, uncaring parents, a
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clear-eyed product of Harvard, and a veteran of many relationships and one failed,
childless marriage. Not a man for finer feelings, he admired those who were nimble
on their feet and ruthless in pursuit of what they wanted. This von Braun, though built
like a wrestler, clearly had those attributes.

‘I’ve come to enquire about your rocket construction programme. The V-1 and V-
2

Von Braun sighed. ‘I’ve been over this so many times. There is nothing secret
about it anymore. It is all in the files.’

‘It’s easier for me to talk to you than try to get at the classified files. I have
clearance for this, but not for your records. That’s why I’'m here.’

Von Braun sighed again, sipped some Pepsi Cola, then rested the dripping bottle
on his lap. ‘So what do you want to know?’

‘You were, I believe, one of the founder members of the German amateur rocket
society, also known as the Spaceship Travel Club.’

‘Yes. The Verein fiir Raumschiffart, or VIR. It came into being in 1927 when a
group of space-travel enthusiasts took over an abandoned three-hundred-acre arsenal,
which they called their Raketenflugplataz, or Rocket Flight Place, in the Berlin
suburb of Reindickerdorf. From there they actually shot some crude, liquid-fuelled
rockets skywards.’

‘When did you join it?’

‘About 1930, as I recall. By then the VIR included most of the rocket experts of the
day, including Rudolf Nebel, Hermann Oberth, Willy Ley, Max Valier, and Klaus
Riedel. I was very proud to gain admittance to that august company.’

‘How did you end up in the German army?’

‘I know what you’re implying, but it’s not true,” von Braun said with no sign of
anger. ‘I was never a Nazi. In April 1930, the Ordnance Branch of the German
Army’s Ballistics and Weapons Office, headed by General Becker, appointed Captain
Walter Dornberger to work on rocket development at the army’s Kummersdorf firing
range, approximately fifteen miles south of Berlin. Two years later, after many
experiments to find the most promising method of propulsion and the most stable
means of flight, the VfR demonstrated one of their liquid-fuelled rockets to
Dornberger and other officers at Kummersdorf. In 1933, when Hitler came to power,
the VIR was taken over by the Nazis and become part of the Kummersdorf
programme. Many of the German engineers, including myself, were therefore
conscripted in a very real sense. We were, and remain, scientists - not soldiers.’

‘You ended up in Peenemiinde, working on the V-1 rocket programme.’

‘Yes, but the prototype was known as the A-2.’

‘Is it true that much of the German rocket research was based on the work of the
American rocket scientist, Robert H.Goddard?’

‘A genius shamefully ignored by his own country. Yes, it’s true. We all revered
Goddard and based our work on his brilliant theories. While in the United States
those theories were being received with indifference and even contempt, we in
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Hitler’s Germany was spending fortunes on rocket research that was, by and large,
based on Goddard’s work. As early as December, 1934, two highly advanced A-2
rockets, constructed at Kummersdorf, gyroscopically controlled, and powered by
oxygen-and-alcohol fuelled motors, were launched from the island of Borkum in the
North Sea and reached an altitude of one-and-a-half miles. Those stabilised, liquid-
fuelled rockets were, at the time, the only known, serious challengers to the rockets of
Robert H.Goddard.”

‘But the work didn’t end there.’

‘No. In March 1936 we demonstrated some more motors at Kummersdorf,
including one with an unprecedented 3,500 pounds of thrust. Those demonstrations
so impressed the German Commander-in-Chief, General Fritsch, that permission was
given for us to build an independent rocket establishment in a suitably remote part of
Germany, where research and test firings could be carried out in the strictest secrecy.
The chosen site was near the village of Peenemiinde, on the island of Usedom, off the
Baltic coast. The rest is now history.’

‘According to an Operation Paperclip report, when the V-2 rockets were inspected
by Allied scientists in the captured Nordhausen Central Works at the close of the war,
they were found to be remarkably similar to the rockets of Robert H.Goddard.’

‘Of course. The most notable features of the propulsion unit were the shutter-type
valves in the fixed grill, the fuel injection orifices incorporated in the same grill, the
combustion chamber, spark plugs and nozzle. We stole those from a Robert H.
Goddard patent that was reproduced in the German aviation magazine, Flugsport - in
January 1939, as I recall.’

‘In 1944 many Allied pilots were being harassed by what appeared to be balls of
fire which were under some kind of remote control. The pilots called them “Foo
Fighters”. Were they connected in any way with your work or Goddard’s early
experiments?’

‘No, I don’t believe so. I had heard that they were some new kind of German secret
weapon, radio-controlled from the ground, and designed either to foul the ignition
systems of the bombers or act as pyschological weapons, to confuse and unnerve
Allied pilots. Certainly they were not designed or constructed at Peenemiinde.
However, given that they might have utilised some of our technical innovations, it’s
possible they were created by rocket engineers other than my own.’

‘Such as?’

Von Braun shrugged. ‘We were scattered far and wide.’

‘What about Kummersdorf or Peenemiinde?’

‘Not at the latter; possibly at the former. There were actually two rocket research
centres at Kummersdorf, separated by an old firing range. We were transferred from
the original site to the new site at the other side of the firing range, then another
development team took over our old site.’

‘Anything unusual about it?’

Von Braun smiled knowingly. ‘You mean the reports about a traitorous American
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physicist?’

‘Wilson. You know about him?’

‘Not much,’ von Braun said, shaking his head. ‘I never met him or saw him. I only
heard reports about his extraordinary presence as part of a research team involved in a
top-secret project. I never found out what the project was, but certainly ideas and
innovations were swapped across the firing range. The other establishment was even
more heavily guarded than ours.’

‘Do you think Wilson had anything to do with the so-called Foo fighters?’

‘There were rumours about disc-shaped aircraft. Frightened whispers. No more
than that. Certainly nothing of that nature was tested while I was at Kummersdorf.’

‘Do you believe disc-shaped aircraft were on the German agenda?’

‘Yes. I myself didn’t believe that such a craft could be made workable - I believed
in rockets, not flying discs - but certainly Germany has a long history of research into
vertical-rising, spherical or disc-shaped aircraft. In fact, the idea itself was first
conceived by a German: the 19th century mathematician and aeronautical theorist
Wilhelm Zachariae.’

‘A theorist,” Fuller said impatiently, now listening, also, to the Glen Miller
orchestra on the radio and wondering what had caused the famous band leader’s
unexplained disappearance over the Atlantic. ‘Were his ideas ever put into practice?’

‘Yes. As early as 1939 Dr. Alexander Lippisch, at Messerschmitt, Augsburg, was
developing his Delta-Rocket Jet ME 163 and testing its circular wing in the wind
tunnel of the AVA company at Gottingen. Meanwhile, Arthur Sack, of Machern, near
Leipzig, had for years been obsessed with the idea of disk-shaped aircraft. He tested
various models at the model-airplane competition at Leipzig-Mockau in July 1939,
with disastrous results. A larger, piloted model, the AS 6, was constructed at the
Mitteldeutsche Motorenwerke factory in Leipzig and failed to fly during its test flight
at the beginning of February, 1944, on the airfield at Brandis, near Leipzig. He tried
again at Brandis in April 1944, but the airplane barely lifted off the ground. Shortly
after, the Allied advance brought Sack’s experimentation to a halt for all time.’

‘Any more?’

Von Braun sighed, obviously finding the subject tiresome. ‘Not much. Viktor
Schauberger claimed to have designed and constructed a small, remote-controlled
flying saucer in 1940 in the Kertl aircraft company in Vienna. Reportedly, during a
test conducted three years later, the saucer went through the ceiling, but by and large
it was otherwise unworkable - like most of the other prototypes. Then there were the
so-called flying wings, or all-wing airframes, of the Horten brothers, which excited
the interest of your intelligence, but which in fact were of value purely for research
into wind velocity and drag. Finally, as you doubtless know, by the closing months of
the war there were many rumours in German aeronautical circles about the imminent
appearance of radically different airplanes, without wings, tails, rudders or other
surface protruberances, and powered by special turbines or jet engines. | think it
unlikely that such projects were completed - if indeed they ever existed in the first
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place.’

‘Which gets us back to the rockets.’

‘I’m afraid so,” Von Braun said.

‘What about Nordhausen, towards the end of the war? Were there other rocket
engineers in that area?’

‘You mean Wilson again.” Von Braun was sourly amused by Fuller’s interest.
‘More rumours,” he said. ‘We heard that another group, heavily guarded by Artur
Nebe’s most ruthless SS troops, had been shipped in from Kummersdorf to Kahla,
which was not very far from Nordhausen. There were also rumours that a jet-
propelled aircraft of unusual configuration, but possibly spherical or disc-shaped, had
been test-flown over Kahla in February 1945. The results of that test, if indeed it took
place, were not known, but in early April the Kahla complex was evacuated, as was
Nordhausen, and that was the last I heard of Wilson.’

Fuller knew the rest. At the end of the war, Germany’s scientific papers were
hidden, and eventually found, in tunnels, caves, dry wells, ploughed fields, river beds
and even dried-out cess pools. Also found across the length and breadth of Nazi
Germany and its occupied territories were the well known V-1 flying bombs and V-2
rockets, as well as lesser known, but equally formidable, heat-guided ground-to-air
missiles, sonic-guidance torpedoes, the highly advanced U-XX1 and U-XXIII
electrical submarines, ME-262 jet-fighters, rocket planes that flew even faster than
the Messerschmitts, the beginnings of an Atom Bomb project, and the prototypes for
other, vertical-rising jet aircraft. Because of this, there was a race between the Allies
and the Russians to capture as many of the rocket scientists and engineers as possible,
as well as the invaluable technical documentation. Deals were thus struck between the
conquerors and their former enemies, particularly with regard to those involved in
rocketry and other advanced weaponry.

Along with 150 of their best men, General Dorberger, Walther Riedel, and Werner
von Braun came to the United States to work on secret government projects. The
Russians, however, also gained a wealth of documentation and material, including the
V-2 rockets, buzz bombs, ocean-spanning surface-to-surface and surface-to air
missiles found in Peenemiinde; about seventy percent of the 12,000 tons of technical
equipment stranded on the docks at Liibeck, Magdeburg, and the Gotha plant. They
also captured 6,000 German technical specialists, including Dr Bock, Director of the
German Institute of Airways Research; Dr Helmut Grottrup, the electronics and
guided-missile expert; and a particular aeronautical engineer, known only as
‘Habermohl’ and reported to have worked under the American, Wilson.

‘Why are you so interested in this Wilson?” von Braun asked while glancing
impatiently at his wristwatch. ‘Has he vanished completely?’

‘Yes.’

‘He was probably killed by the Nazis.’

‘That’s what was reported, but we don’t think it’s true. We have reason to believe
that Wilson, when in Nazi Germany, was indeed working on highly advanced,
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supersonic aircraft of unusual configuration, possibly spherical or disc-shaped, and
that he might still be doing so in a location I’'m not allowed to disclose.’

‘You mean the Soviet Union? The V-2 they launched recently?’

‘No. Somewhere else. I can’t say where it was. But I can tell you that my
government is seriously concerned with what Wilson might be constructing at the
present time. Which is why we were so keen to place you and your rocket scientists
under contract, irrespective of negative public opinion.’

‘I’m not sure I get your drift.” Von Braun's command of English was admirable, as
was his gift for casually easing people out of his house. He simply sighed, glanced
again at his wristwatch, then stood up and stretched himself, which made him look
even bigger than he was. ‘But I’'m sure you know what you’re about,” he added.
‘Your intelligence is thorough.’

Fuller stood up as well, then walked to the front door. Von Braun, acting as if he
had been shaken out of a trance, said, ‘Oh, I see you’re leaving! Please, let me.” He
held the door open until Fuller had stepped outside and turned back to face him. ‘So
why did you risk negative public opinion to put me and my men under government
contracts?’

‘It’s imperative,” Fuller said, ‘that we get into space before Wilson does. Do you
think you can do that?’

‘Chuck Yeager has already broken the sound barrier,” von Braun said. ‘So the
answer to your question is “Yes”.’

‘Good,’ Fuller said, then he nodded goodbye, walked down to the car, climbed in
and drove out of Fort Bliss.
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Chapter Five

Nichola Randall, already blonde and beautiful, was covered in mushy food and
hammering the rim of her high chair with a rattle as if beating on a tin drum. At least
that’s what it sounded like to her dad, Captain Dwight Randall, who winced as he ate
his Cornflakes, even though he could not be angry with her, not even this early in a
bleak morning in January, 1948.

‘Honey,’ he said, ‘I know you’re just seven months old, but couldn’t you quieten it
down just a little bit? Between you and those damned airplanes taking off, I can
hardly think straight.’

‘Don’t blame my daughter,” Beth said. ‘Blame the US Air Force and their planes.
Always making a racket.’

‘Your daughter, I note,” Dwight said with a grin. ‘I don’t get a look-in. You’d think
I’d nothing to do with her.’

‘Stop fishing for compliments.’

‘As for the US Air Force, don’t forget it’s our bread and butter. Here we are in a
tract house in Dayton, Ohio, secure as little bunnies in their burrows. What more
could we ask for?’

‘A house outside Wright-Patterson Air Force Base. A little home of our own.’

‘Time will bring us everything.” Dwight finished his Cornflakes and pushed his
plate aside as another F-51 jet interceptor roared overhead. Nichola gurgled happily
in her high chair, banging away with the rattle and smearing food over her face, but
Beth rolled her eyes as if she couldn’t bear it another minute. Still as slim as an
adolescent in loose sweater and slacks, she had short-cropped auburn hair and the
face of a lovely urchin, full-lipped and round-cheeked. They had only been married a
year and were still in love, Dwight hoped, but Beth was increasingly frustrated by life
on the base and by Dwight’s heavy workload with the ATIC, the Air Technical
Intelligence Centre, located here in Wright-Patterson AFB. If anything, his workload
had become even heavier since the start of the UFO flap, last year. In the seven
months since then, he had virtually worked around the clock and it was giving them
problems. Now Beth, ironing the clothes by the window, was looking disgruntled.

‘When are you going to get a few days off?’ she asked.

‘Soon.’

“You’ve been saying that for months.’

‘Our new boss is arriving this morning, so I can’t ask immediately, but as soon as
he’s settled in, I’ll put in my request for some leave.’

‘Promise?’

‘I promise.’

The telephone rang. Carrying his cup of coffee, Dwight leaned across the table,
kissed Nichola on her messy cheek, then picked up the phone.

‘Captain Randall,” he said.

Phoenix: Projekt Saucer Book 2 E-book Version © 2003 W.A.Harbinson



41

‘Hi, Dwight, it’s Bob,’ said his friend and sidekick at the ATIC, Captain Robert
Jackson. ‘Are you awake yet?’

‘I’m just about to leave.’

‘I’m at the office already.’

‘Bully for you.’

‘I’'m gonna make your day, Cap’n.’

‘Oh, how?’

‘We’ve just received a classified Memorandum for the Record from our
Commanding General. It states that last September General Nathan Twining, Chief of
Staff of the United States Army, wrote to Brigadier General George Schulgen,
Commanding General of the Army Air Force, expressing his belief that the UFO
phenomenon is something real, that it is not, quote, visionary or fictitious, unquote,
and that the objects are disc-shaped, as large as aircraft and... wait for it... controlled.’

Dwight whooped with delight, making Beth stare at him, surprised. He couldn’t
contain himself because for too long he had been working on a project that many
thought was a waste of time, if not downright idiotic. Twining’s letter would give the
project validation, as well as priority, and Dwight felt good about that. He therefore
grinned like a schoolboy and gave a puzzled Beth the thumbs-up.

‘According to the memo,” Bob continued, ‘the letter wasn’t intended to support the
extraterrestrial hypothesis, but came about because US military fears that the UFOs
might be Russian have been exacerbated by the knowledge that the Soviets tested
their first A-bomb last November.’

‘Right,” Dwight said. ‘I thought that might get them jumping.’

Bob chuckled. ‘Anyway, because of Twining’s letter, the Army Air Force is going
to establish an official UFO investigation unit with a 2A classification. Called Project
Sign, it’ll be located right here, in Wright-Patterson, with you in charge and me
remaining as your sidekick. We’re to start it as soon as we can, but no later than next
month, so you better get your ass over here, Cap’n.’

‘I’'m on my way,” Dwight said. Exultant, he hung up the phone, gulped the rest of
the coffee, put the mug back on the table and tightened his tie. As he slipped on his
jacket and reached for his peaked cap, he saw Beth’s sulky face.

‘Whoops!” he softly exclaimed.

‘What’s up?’ Beth asked. When he told her, she said, ‘There goes our vacation. A
2A classification is second only to top priority. You’ll be working night and day with
this new project. I’ll hardly see you at all.”

‘I won’t, I promise.” He placed his peaked cap on his head.

‘Send me a postcard,” Beth replied. ‘Let me know how you’re keeping.’

Dwight smiled uneasily, then gave her a hug and kissed her. ‘Don’t worry, I’ll be
back in time for dinner. Have a good day.’

"Yeah,' Beth said flatly.

She was already returning to her ironing when he left the house and walked
quickly, too eagerly, to the offices of the ATIC offices, located at Wright Field.
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Saluting junior and senior officers en route, he looked fondly at the aircraft flying
overhead, under grey clouds being pierced by weak sunlight. Recalling Beth’s sulky
face, he was ashamed of his own eagerness, but knew that it could not be helped. The
truth of the matter was that he was too easily bored and, though still loving Beth, was
having problems adjusting to the domesticity of marriage and fatherhood.

During the Second World War he had been a B-29 bombardier and radar operator,
flying to India, China and the Pacific with the original B-29 wing. Though returning
to college after the war, he had kept his reserved status, flying as a navigator in an Air
Force Reserve Troop Carrier Wing. This had only increased his low-boredom
threshold for normal life, so immediately upon receiving his degree in aeronautical
engineering, he married Beth, whom he had met at college, then went back on active
duty. He was posted straight to the ATIC, which was responsible for keeping track of
all foreign aircraft and guided missiles, and he and Beth moved into married quarters
here at Wright-Patterson.

Beth was the beloved only daughter of Joe McGinnis, an amiable car salesman and
his good-humoured wife, Glenda, both Dayton residents. Their benevolent
parenthood had turned Beth into a fine woman, a loving, loveable wife, but one not
familiar with life on an air base. They had been here for a year now. During that time,
Nichola had been born, but Beth was increasingly desperate to kick off the shackles
of Air Force protocol and be nearer her parents in Dayton.

Like Mr and Mrs McGinnis, Beth was good-humoured and quick-tempered, which
had made for some tempestuous moments when the first small, inevitable
disillusionments of marriage were setting in. Unfortunately, Dwight’s growing
fascination with the UFO phenomenon, which he found more intriguing than the
tracking of foreign aircraft and guided missiles, had revitalised his flagging interest in
the peacetime air force, even as it increased Beth’s frustrations by keeping him away
from home more often. Trouble was brewing, he realised, and he didn’t know how to
deal with it.

His sidekick, Air Force Captain Bob Jackson, was in the operations room of the
ATIC with their only assistant, a pretty blonde WAC corporal, Thelma Wheeler, from
Huntsville, Alabama. Bob, in his late twenties like Dwight, was a recruiting officer’s
dream in his Air Force uniform, with short-cropped dark hair, a sleekly handsome
face, and a ready smile that always made Thelma squirm with pleasure. When Dwight
entered, Bob was sitting on the edge of the WAC’s desk, obviously flirting with her
while leafing through the morning’s mail, but he looked up and grinned when he saw
Dwight.

‘Lo!” he said. ‘Our supervisor has arrived! | thought that phone call would get you
of bed.’

‘I was already out of bed.’

‘Tell it to the marines.’

Thelma touched her piled-up hair with exploratory fingers and asked, ‘Would you
two like a cup of coffee?’
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‘Yes, thanks,’ they replied in unison.

Thelma pushed her chair back, stood up, and went into the small kitchen, looking
attractive at this hour of the morning in her standard WAC skirt and blouse. Dwight
thought there was something going on between her and Bob, but he couldn’t be sure
of it. Right now, Bob was removing his admiring eyes from the door through which
Thelma had disappeared and instead casting a more thoughtful gaze around the one
room that constituted the operational centre of the ATIC.

It was a spartan office, with a few desks, lots of filing cabinets, typewriters, phones
and a mountain of paperwork, most of it technical information sheets for official UFO
reports. The walls were covered with incident maps, charts and graphs showing most
of the reported UFO sightings, including the Foo fighters of World War II, the
Scandinavian sightings of 1946, and the wave of American sightings that had started
with the two famous incidents in Washington State in July the previous year.

So far, the coloured pins on the maps revealed no definite, or linking pattern, to the
flight paths of the reported UFOs, apart from a general southerly direction of retreat.
It wasn’t much to go on.

Grinning, Bob lifted a couple of sheets off the desk and waved them at Dwight,
who immediately snatched them from him and started reading. The papers included a
copy of General Twining’s original official letter, dated September 23, 1947, to the
Commanding General of the Army Air Force; another letter from Major-General
L.C.Craigie, Deputy Chief of Staff of the Air Matériel Command, dated December
30, 1947, instructing the Commanding General of Wright-Patterson AFB to form a
project, to be codenamed Sign and classified 2A, for the serious evaluation of UFO
reports; and finally, a Memorandum for the Record from the Commanding General of
Wright-Patterson to Dwight, ordering him to set up the project forthwith from his
present office in Wright Field.

Reading the letters with increasing exhilaration, Dwight saw all the words he had
longed to hear from his superiors: ‘the phenomenon reported is something real... not
visionary or fictitious... appear to be disc-shaped... as large as aircraft... controlled
either manually, automatically or remotely... might be of foreign origin... possibly
nuclear... collect, collate, evaluate and distribute all information... of concern to
national security...” These words had finally come from the very top to cast the UFOs
out of mythology and bring them into reality. Dwight was overwhelmed.

‘Here’s your coffee, Cap’n.’

Dwight looked up with a start. Thelma was smiling at him and holding out a cup of
coffee. When he took it, she gave the other cup to Bob, who was grinning wickedly at
him.

‘Feels pretty good, right?’

‘Right.’

‘Christ, where do we start?’

‘Let’s go through all the reports.’

‘All of them?’ Thelma asked in dismay.

Phoenix: Projekt Saucer Book 2 E-book Version © 2003 W.A.Harbinson



44

‘Yes, Thelma,” Dwight confirmed, glancing sideways at her as she sat on the edge
of her desk, hitching up her skirt to reveal her perfect knees, and looked despairingly
at the thick files piled up on it. ‘A/l of them.” He turned back to Bob. ‘Now, at last,
the top brass will be taking an interest, so we better make sure we’re prepared.’

‘By 1solating the major sightings from all the others and trying to find some pattern
in them.’

‘Exactly.’

‘You’re the boss,” Bob said.

The day passed so quickly, they hardly knew it was fading. While Thelma fed
them on a constant diet of black coffee and, at lunchtime, sandwiches from the PX,
Dwight and Bob went through most of the files of UFO reports, or technical
information sheets, whittling out the weakest cases, selecting the strongest, and then
exchanging those selected and going through them again. By 5.30pm Thelma was
suggesting that it was time to finish work. By 6.30pm she was complaining that she
didn’t get paid overtime. An hour later she was pouring them more coffee and
insisting that she was going to miss dinner. At 8.00pm she was finally allowed to
leave, waving at Dwight as she did so, but smiling more meaningfully at Bob. By
9.00pm Dwight and Bob were facing each other over a mountain of reports and
through a haze of cigarette smoke, summarising what it was they had to go with.

‘Okay,” Bob said, puffing smoke from yet another cigarette, but now sipping
whisky instead of coffee, ‘the basic scenario is this... The UFO scare didn’t really
start last July. It appears to have started before it, during World War II...’

On December 13, 1944, Marshall Yarrow, then the Reuters special correspondent
to Supreme Headquarters in liberated Paris, syndicated an article stating that the
Germans had produced a secret device, thought to be an air defence weapon, which
resembled the glass balls used on Christmas trees. According to Yarrow, they were
coloured silver, seemed slightly transparent, and had been seen hanging in the air
over German territory, sometimes singly, sometimes in clusters. A second article by
another reporter, published in the New York Herald Tribune of January 2, 1945,
described the devices as ‘weird, mysterious “Foo fighter” balls’ that raced alongside
the wings of Beaufighters flying intruder missions over Germany. According to the
reports of Allied pilots, the ‘balls of fire’ would appear suddenly and accompany the
planes for miles. They seemed to be radio-controlled from the ground.

‘Either because of the famous line from the popular Smokey Stover comic strip,
“Where there’s foo, there’s fire”,” Bob explained, reading from his notes, ‘or simply
because the French word for “fire” is feu, those eerie weapons soon became widely
known as “Foo fighters”.’

Official Foo fighter reports were submitted by pilots Henry Giblin and Walter
Cleary, who stated that on the night of September 27, 1944, they had been harassed in
the vicinity of Speyer by ‘an enormous burning light’ that was flying above their
aircraft at about 250 miles per hour; then by Lieutenant Edward Schluter, a fighter-
pilot of the US 415th Night-Fighter Squadron based at Dijon, France, who, on the
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night of November 23, 1944, was harassed over the Rhine by ‘ten small reddish balls
of fire’ flying in formation at immense speed. Further sightings were made by
members of the same squadron on November 27, December 22 and December 24.

‘In a report published in the New York Times of January 2, 1945, US Air Force
Lieutenant, Donald Meiers, claimed that there were three kinds of Foo fighter: red
balls of fire that appeared off the aircraft’s wingtips, other balls of fire that flew in
front of them, and “lights that appear in the distance - like a Christmas tree in the air -
and flicker on and off.” Meiers also confirmed that the Foo fighters climbed,
descended or turned when the aircraft did so. The Foo fighters were witnessed both at
night and by day, yet even when pacing the Allied aircraft they didn’t show up on
radar screens.’

Allied intelligence was concerned enough about the reports to establish a classified
project in England, under the direction of Lieutenant General Massey, to examine
them. Massey was able to confirm that the Foo fighters were balls of fire that flew in
parallel formation with the Allied aircraft, often pacing them for great distances, at
speeds exceeding 300 miles an hour, frequently causing their engines to malfunction
by cutting in and out. While a few reports of crashing Allied aircraft suggest that Foo
fighters caused the crashes by making the aircraft’s engines cut out completely, most
reports indicate that this was unlikely: that the Foo fighters merely tailed the planes
and caused psychological harm, rather than physical damage. They also flew away
when fired upon.

‘But in the end, no official designation of the Foo fighters was given,” Dwight said.

‘No,” Bob confirmed. ‘Unable to solve the mystery, both the RAF and the US
Eighth Army Air Force concluded that they were the products of mass hallucination.
Subsequently, they did no more about them. In any event, sightings of the Foo
fighters tailed off and ceased completely a few weeks before the end of the war.’

‘But the first post-war UFO flap came in 1946 with the appearance of so-called
“ghost rockets” over Scandinavia and western Europe: cigar-shaped, with flames
issuing from the tail, and mostly seen at night, often by airline pilots and radar
operatives.’

‘Which led to speculation that both the Soviets and the Americans, utilising the
men and material captured in the secret research plants of Nazi Germany, including
those at Peenemiinde and Nordhausen, were developing advanced saucer-shaped
aircraft.’

‘That could have been possible,” Dwight said. ‘Certainly, when World War Two
ended, the Germans had several radical types of new aircraft and guided missiles
under development. The majority of such projects were in their infancy, but they
were the only known craft that could even approach the performance of the objects
reported by UFO observers.’

‘Right,” Bob said. ‘And it’s worth noting that whereas the mysterious Foo fighters
didn’t show up on radar, the ghost rockets certainly did - so they couldn’t be
classified as hoaxes, misidentifications or the products of mass hallucination.’
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‘The Soviets denied any knowledge of the rockets.’

‘Sure, they did. But US suspicions remained unabated while those things continued
to fly. They only faded away the following year.’

‘Then came the first known American sightings.” Dwight said, glancing down at
the notes he had taken from his own research. ‘Pilot Richard Rankin’s sighting of ten
discs, about thirty to thirty-five feet in diameter, over Bakersfield, California, on June
14, 1947; the Maury Island sighting of six larger discs by Harold Dahl on June 21,
1947 over Puget Sound, off Tacoma, Washington; and three days later, Kenneth
Arnold’s famous sighting of nine disc-shaped, apparently metallic, objects flying in
formation and making an undulating motion, near Mount Rainier in the Cascades,
also in Washington. In the latter two cases the UFOs flew off and disappeared in the
direction of the Canadian border.’

‘Thus strengthening the belief that they could be American secret weapons, also
based on captured German designs.’

‘In other words, both the Soviets and the Americans could be producing secret
weapons, or aircraft, from designs and material captured during the war.’

‘Which would lend credence to the reality of the original Foo fighter.’

‘Right,” Dwight said. ‘Then came last year's plague of UFO sightings over top-
secret military bases.” He glanced down at his notes again. ‘The first, on June 28, was
over Maxwell Air Force Base in Montgomery, Alabama. The next, on June 29, was
near Alamogordo, New Mexico, right over the White Sands Proving Ground. Finally,
on July 8, there was a whole spate of sightings of spherically shaped, white
aluminium-coloured objects flying over Muroc Air Base, the supersecret air force test
centre in the Mojave Desert.’

Bob nodded assent. ‘And because those particular sightings were made by trained
technicians and pilots, and as the reported objects were appearing increasingly over
top-and-supersecret military research bases, a growing suspicion in intelligence
circles was that the men and material deported from Nazi Germany to Russia had led
to a dangerous Soviet lead in space technology.’

‘Either them or extraterrestrials.’

‘Yeah, right,” Bob said. ‘Little green men.’

‘Either way,” Dwight summarised, ‘what we’re dealing with is a combination of
small, fiery, probably remote-controlled discs and large, aircraft-sized, obviously
piloted, so-called flying saucers.’

‘I guess so,” Bob said.

Dwight sighed, put his feet up on the desk, then lit yet another cigarette. ‘It’s now
probably too late to investigate the Maury Island and Kenneth Arnold sightings, but |
certainly think we should re-examine the ones that took place over our own military
establishments, particularly those at Muroc Air Base.’

‘That may be easier said than done,” Bob pointed out. ‘I reckon we’ll have to be
careful. I mean, even though we’ve now been given official sanction to go ahead with
Project Sign, I don’t think we should forget that a lot of the personnel involved in
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UFO sightings, either reporting them or investigating them, have got into hot water
with their superiors, often for no apparent good reason.’

‘Yeah,” Dwight said thoughtfully. ‘That’s always baffled me. Given that UFOs
have been classified as a threat to national security, it’s strange how much resistance
there’s been to investigating them - particularly from our own intelligence services. |
mean, even that famous Socorro sighting of last year... Remember that?” Bob nodded
that he did, but Dwight went on anyway, talking, really, to himself. ‘First the Roswell
Army Air Base public information officer, Lieutenant Walter Haunt, was
reprimanded and posted to some shit-hole for releasing the story to the press; then
First Lieutenant William Harris, the flight intelligence officer who helped me with
my investigations, went the same route. To that you can add the disturbing fact that
the major civilian witness to the actuality of the crashed saucer, local farmer Marlon
Clarke, has disappeared completely. Last but not least, the former, highly decorated,
OSS member and local UFO authority, Mike Bradley, refuses to even discuss the
matter, which suggests that he’s pretty frightened of something - or someone. So, yes,
I think we’ve good reason to be concerned.’

‘I don’t wanna sound paranoid,” Bob said, pushing his chair back, placing his
hands on his hips and stretching his spine, ‘but we’ve already had two officers killed
under suspicious circumstances while involved in UFO investigations. Only four
months ago. August 1, 1947. Captain William Davidson and Lieutenant Frank
Brown, both members of A-2 Military Intelligence of the Fourth Air Force. Engaged
in an investigation of Harold Dahl and the Maury Island mystery. They were flying
back to the Fourth Air Force, Hamilton Field, California, with a box containing the
debris that had fallen from the damaged UFO into Puget Sound, when their B-25
malfunctioned and crashed, killing both of them. Even more surprising is that the
only other two passengers on board, Technician Fourth Grade Woodrow D.Mathews
and Master Sergeant Elmer L.Taff, neither experienced flyers, both of whom had,
reportedly, cadged a lift at the last moment, managed to parachute to safety while our
two highly trained intelligence officers failed to do so. That anomaly still hasn’t been
explained.’

‘You think it was rigged?’

Bob shrugged. ‘All I know is that two experienced intelligence officers died - and
the only physical evidence for flying saucers we’ve had so far was lost in that crash.’

Dwight shivered, feeling cold. He glanced out the window, saw that it was dark,
looked at his wristwatch and lowered his feet to the floor as if they'd been scorched.
‘Shit!” he exclaimed. ‘It’s thirty after nine already! I should have been home for
dinner three hours ago. Beth’s gonna kill me!’

‘The joys of marriage,” Bob said, putting on his peaked cap and buttoning up his
jacket. ‘I think I’ll go and have a drink with a friend.’

‘I hope it’s not the delectable Thelma,” Dwight said, pushing his chair back, getting
to his feet, and likewise preparing to leave. ‘A good officer doesn’t get involved with
his staff, no matter how much he’s tempted.’
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‘I think T get the message, Dwight.” Bob grinned and patted Dwight on the
shoulder, then they turned out the lights and left the office, locking the door behind
them. Once outside, Dwight looked across at the huge hangars, parked planes and
silent airstrip of Wright Field, thinking of the other kinds of aircraft now haunting the
skies. Now, when he saw a shooting star, his heart gave a leap. It was almost
instinctive.

‘Project Sign,” he said. ‘It sounds good. I think I’ll enjoy it.’

“You will,” Bob replied, ‘but Beth won’t. Good night and good luck, my friend.’

‘Tread carefully,” Dwight said.

They walked off in opposite directions, Bob to have a drink, probably with Thelma
Wheeler, no matter what Dwight said, and Dwight to return and face the music for
being late to dinner again. As he headed away from Wright Field, the silence was
broken by the deep rumble of an RB-29 coming in to land, reminding him that the air
base never slept. Glancing up at the sky, which was a mosaic of cloudy patches and
stars, he contemplated the possibility of equipping some RB-29s with the latest aerial
cameras and using them to photograph unusual phenomenon by day and by night.
The Air Matériel Command laboratories at Wright Field, he was convinced, would be
ideal for the processing of such photos. Determined to put his idea into immediate
practice, he turned into the silent streets of the married officers’s quarters, then
entered his temporary home.

As anticipated, Beth was not amused. Dwight’s meal was sitting untouched on the
table. Beth was reading a book, smoking a cigarette, and listening to Arthur Godfrey
on the radio at the same time. She did not look up when Dwight entered.

‘Sorry,” he said. When she didn't reply, he crossed the room and kissed the top of
her head. ‘Really, I’'m sorry.’

‘Your dinner’s cold.’

‘I noticed.’

‘Nichola’s in bed.’

‘I guessed.’

‘I didn’t get my postcard,” Beth said, ‘and you seemed to be gone that long.’

‘Okay, Beth, that’s enough.’

‘Your work.’

‘Yes, my work. We have to set up this new project and we don’t have much time.’

‘No time for us, obviously.’

‘That’s not an issue, Beth. I was only a ten-minute walk from here. It shouldn’t be
a big deal.’

Beth stubbed her cigarette out, closed her book, turned off the radio. Standing up,
she said, ‘Maybe not to you, but I know what it means.’

‘What?’

‘More UFO investigations. Even more than before. Since those first sightings, last
July, you’ve been travelling all over the place. Now that you’re in charge of the
whole thing, it’s bound to get worse.” She headed for the bedroom, then turned back
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to face him. ‘And you like it,” she accused. ‘That’s what maddens me the most. It’s
not that you have to do it, it’s that you enjoy it so much. You’d rather be travelling
and investigating UFOs than be at home with me and Nichola. I could hate you for
that.’

‘That isn’t true, Beth.’

‘It is. And damned well you know it. Goodnight, Dwight.’

‘Goodnight.’

When she disappeared into the bedroom, Dwight poured himself a stiff drink, neat
bourbon, and had it while sitting by the window, looking up at the night sky. He felt
guilty because he knew that Beth was right, so the drink went down well. He was just
finishing and contemplating bed when the telephone rang. It was Bob, sounding
shocked.

‘When I left you,” he said, ‘I went back to the office —’

‘What for?” Dwight asked, realising instantly that the office was the only place on
the base where Bob and Thelma Wheeler could get together.

‘I forgot something... Anyway, what the hell’s the difference? What I’m saying is
that [ was back in the office when I received a call from a buddy at Fort Knox,
Kentucky, informing me that Captain Thomas F.Mantell, an experienced pilot and
Air Force hero during the Normandy invasion, was killed in a crash today -
reportedly when trying to pursue a UFO over Godman Field.’

‘Oh, my God!” Dwight blurted out, hardly able to believe his ears. ‘What made
them think it was a UFO?’

‘I don’t have the full facts yet. Godman have promised a detailed report, but in the
meantime all I’ve got is what I was told over the phone.’

‘Yes?’ Dwight demanded, feeling breathless.

‘There were a series of sightings this morning all over the area, beginning in
Maysville, Kentucky, less than a hundred miles east of Louisville, where Godman
AFB is located. The object was also sighted over Owensboro and Irvington, located
in northwest Kentucky. The cumulative sightings, called in to the local police,
indicated a circular, metallic object about 250 to 300 feet in diameter, heading in a
westerly direction, towards Godman Field. Early that afternoon, the state police
contacted Godman, but the control tower operators could confirm no similar sighting
at that time. However, half an hour later, the assistant tower operator picked up the
object, which was subsequently observed by the operations officer, the intelligence
officer, the base commander, his executive officer, and a band of other ranking
personnel.’

‘Christ!” Dwight exclaimed.

‘A flight of four F-51 fighter planes, headed by Cap'n Mansell, was sent in pursuit
and was observed disappearing in the southward wake of the UFO. According to the
control-tower operators, by the time the four planes reached 10,000 feet, Mantell was
well ahead and far above them. He reported to the control tower: “I see something
above and ahead of me. It looks metallic and it’s tremendous in size. Now it’s starting
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to climb.” He then said that the UFO was above him, that he was gaining on it, and
that he intended going as high as 20,000 feet. Those were his last words before he
crashed. Losing contact with him, the other pilots returned to base, where they were
informed that Mantell was dead. The UFO wasn’t seen again.’

Bob went silent, though Dwight imagined he could hear him breathing heavily. He
then realised that he, too, was breathing heavily and that his heart was racing. Taking
a deep breath, he glanced up at the clouds and stars, then he let his breath out again.

‘Make sure you get the full report,” he said.

‘Sure,” Bob said. ‘Goodnight.’

The line went dead and Dwight put his phone down. He thought of Beth in their
bed, already concerned for him, and wanted to lie quietly beside her and press himself
into her. Instead, he poured himself another drink and let it last a long time. He drank
it while gazing up at the night sky, until it seemed to press down upon him,
threatening to crush him. That sensation, he knew, was caused by fear. He would
have to get used to that.
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Chapter Six

‘They weren’t ours,” Wilson said as he gazed out from his office of steel and concrete
near the summit of the mountain to the vast, white desolation of Antarctica. ‘Neither
the Maury Island sightings, nor those made by Kenneth Arnold over the Cascades,
were of our saucers. The ones that flew back towards Canada belonged to someone
else. Not to me. Not from here. We must look to America.’

He sipped his mineral water and placed his glass back on the table by the
panoramic window. Hans Kammler, still blonde, handsome, and cold-eyed, gazed
over Queen Maud Land, his beloved New Schwabenland, and smiled thinly, bleakly,
to himself.

‘Ah, yes,” he said, ‘the Americans. Perhaps the Soviets as well. Our captured V-2
rockets were shipped from Germany to New Mexico in 1945. The launch of
American V-2s commenced at the White Sands Proving Ground in March the
following year, under the direction of that traitor, Count von Braun. We have since
received a report confirming that North American Aviation are planning to go into the
production of rocket motors under a USAF contract and will be basing their work on
the original V-2 motor.’

‘How ironic,” Wilson said, smiling, ‘that the V-2 in turn was based on the rocket
motors of America’s own, badly neglected Robert H.Goddard, with whom I also
worked when he was located in Roswell, New Mexico, now the location of the White
Sands Proving Ground. It has all come full circle.’

‘It’s nothing to be pleased about,” Kammler said testily. ‘The Russians have
Habermohl and the Americans have Miethe, who also worked on Projekt Saucer.
Miethe was formerly stationed with von Braun at Fort Bliss, New Mexico, but is now
located at Alamogordo, the centre of American rocket development. God knows what
he’s constructing there.’

Wilson glanced at the launching pad far below, carpeted thinly with snow and
shadowed by the encircling rock face soaring high above it. The Antarctic sunlight
beamed down upon the latest 300-foot flying saucer like a torch shining into a dark
well, making the machine’s metallic grey take on a silvery sheen. The many men in
black coveralls, who had been swarming all over the saucer, were removing the
ladders and hurrying behind the shock-proof protective shields located in small caves
hacked out of the rock. From this high, behind the thick, plate-glass window, Wilson
could not hear the saucer, but he could see it rocking slightly from side to side, its
heat turning the thin snow into steam as it prepared for lift-off.

‘Yes,” he said, ‘the original Projekt Saucer team are a problem. Now that pompous
fool, Schriever, who managed to escape from Prague, is living back in his hometown
of Bremer-Haven, West Germany, telling all and sundry that the Allies are building
flying saucers based on the one he constructed during the war. Though the press is
viewing him with scepticism, he is in fact correct. The Canadians and Americans are
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both working on a flying-saucer development programme based on designs found in
Germany at the end of the war. The Canadian project is being undertaken by the A.V.
Roe Company in Malton, Ontario; the American one is hidden somewhere in the
White Sands Proving Range, reportedly Holman AFB.’

Far below, the Kugelblitz Mark 111 lifted off the ground, swaying gently from side
to side, then ascended silently, growing wider as it came up to Wilson’s level. The
higher it climbed, the more sunlight it caught, which turned it from dull, almost
invisible grey to dazzling silver.

It looks alien and beautiful, Wilson thought. Or beautifully alien. We have done a
good job this time.

‘If their work is based on the Schriever designs, we have little to fear,” Kammler
said.

‘Not at the moment, but time could change that. Already the Americans and
Canadians are more advanced than they should be. While grossly exaggerated
versions of what Harold Dahl and Kenneth Arnold saw over the Cascades have
enthralled the world, both men did in fact witness the test flights of a series of
remote-controlled, pilotless discs, based on our original Feuerball and constructed at
the A.V. Roe Company in Canada. A larger, piloted saucer is also being constructed
there, as well as by a US Naval Laboratory team in that hidden location in the White
Sands Proving Range. While reportedly neither machine is very good, both have had
satisfactory test flights.’

‘Witnessed by various pilots and other trained military personnel,” Kammler noted.

‘Yes. As have ours,” Wilson said. ‘Which means that the US and Canadian saucers
have been mistakenly credited with the kind of capabilities that only our machines
possess so far. This, at least, is to the good. The Americans think the more efficient
saucers have been made by the Russians, who believe that the Americans made them.
Thus, we can fly our own saucers with impunity, not having to worry if we’re seen.
By attempting to build their own saucers, based on our old designs, the Soviets,
Americans and Canadians have actually given us greater freedom of movement. They
should get an award.’

His smile was not returned by Kammler, a man of limited humour, so he
concentrated on the 300-foot saucer as it reached the level of the window and hovered
there, swaying gently from side to side, as if in salute. In fact, it was just testing itself.
The steel covers on the raised dome were open, revealing the transparent pilot’s
cabinet with six crew members inside, but they would close when the saucer actually
took off on its long flight to Paraguay, making it look like a seamless spinning top in
flight. Now, as if obeying Wilson’s instinctive nod of approval, the saucer dropped
out of sight below the window, descending back onto its landing pad.

‘Is Stoll ready to leave?’ Wilson asked.

‘Yes,” Kammler replied. ‘Not too happy, but prepared to do his duty. I better go
down and say Auf Wiedersehen.’

‘Tell him I’1l be down before take-off, after I’ve visited the laboratory and talked to
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Dr King.’

‘He responded well to his indoctrination. Particularly after hypnotic-drug
treatment, which helped in changing his mind - for the rest of his life, I trust.’

‘He’s a man of considerable will power. He’ll serve us well in the end. So, Hans,
let’s go.’

Pushing his chair back, Wilson glanced again across that vast, spectacular
panorama of Antarctic wilderness, then stood and walked across the immense, dome-
shaped room, with Kammler behind him. They took the lift down to Level 3. Leaving
Kammler in the lift, to continue his descent to ground level where the flying saucer
was parked, Wilson walked through a short tunnel hacked out of the rock and entered
the laboratory containing its ghoulish collection of human spare parts and artificial
replacements. By now, some larger glass cabinets had been built into the walls of
bare rock and contained drugged, unconscious, and frozen human beings who had
been abducted by Wilson’s flying saucer crews. Wired up to machines that showed
their declining heartbeat and brain waves, they would eventually freeze to death,
though not before providing valuable information for the ongoing researches into
longevity.

Surrounded by other white-smocked physicians and surgeons, Dr King was at a
long table, examining a drained human torso which had a prosthetic replacement
attached to the stump of one of its amputated arms. The interior of the prosthetic arm
had been left open to reveal a complex of electric wiring that ran from the shoulder
down into the artificial hand. A white-smocked assistant was applying electric
charges to the prosthetic while Dr King checked the mobility of the twitching
artificial fingers. He looked up and stopped what he was doing when Wilson
approached him.

‘Good day, Wilson,” he said, sounding calm enough, but not smiling.

‘Good day. How’s it going?’

King glanced down at the prosthetic arm fixed to the drained human torso. ‘Not
bad,” he said. ‘I think we’ll get there eventually. Working with human cadavers,
instead of animals, short-circuits a lot of otherwise time-consuming experiments and
aids progress tremendously. It’s really quite exciting. I think we’ll have working,
myoelectric limbs before the year’s out. They won’t be all that good, but once we’ve
got a working model, the rest of it will come even more quickly.’

‘What about head transplants?” Wilson asked. ‘Or even partial replacement of the
face and head: the mouth, throat and jawbone. I mean for the development of
cyborgs. For survival in outer space and on the seabed. To man the saucers
indefinitely.’

King glanced at the guillotined human head now frozen in a small glass case on a
nearby table; it was wired up to an EEG machine recording weak, dying brain waves.
The eyes of the head were open, staring wildly, seeing only God knows what. It was
the head of the unfortunate Marlon Clarke.

‘A long way off yet,” Dr King said, ‘but we’ll get there eventually. At the moment,
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we’re concentrating simultaneously on many different aspects of the problem and
discovering the biological and physical interrelationships between them. Experiments
already undertaken in the animal laboratory have convinced us that animal gut,
intestines and even skin can eventually be transplanted successfully into humans.
Similarly, the heart and lungs might be used, but this will take longer. Regarding
artificial bones, joints and sockets, it’s my belief that the main alloys required will be
of the cobalt and chromium variety: tantalum, titanium, niobium and molybdenum.
Limited success has already been attained in the preservation of human heart valves,
bone, blood and even the cornea of the eye.’

‘Very good,” Wilson said. ‘Have you been able to make any advances on what you
were doing in the Powered Limbs Unit of West Hendon hospital?’

‘Yes.” The doctor spoke precisely, but rather like one of the automatons he was
hoping to create. ‘In external prosthetics, the myoelectric control of limbs is racing
ahead.” He waved a hand, to indicate the prosthetic arm joined to the limbless human
torso on the table. ‘As you can see.” Wilson nodded. ‘Already we’ve perfected a
hand-arm prosthesis in which all five fingers are capable of closing around objects of
variable shape, though not yet with the precision of a human hand. We’re also
working on other advanced prosthetics, including myoelectric arms with
interchangeable hands. From there, 1 hope to progress to a more sophisticated
myoelectric arm that will be able to move at any angle, speed or force simply by
being thought into action. Such an arm will pick up muscle signals generated to the
natural stump, transmit them to a small amplifier, and use that to drive a compact
electric motor. The machinery for all of this will be housed inside a flesh-coloured,
fibre-glass casing that resembles a real arm.’

‘Like the one on the table.’

‘Correct.’

‘But the head,” Wilson insisted, glancing at the wide-eyed head of Marlon Clarke,
which may or may not have been aware of its own existence, though it wasn’t likely
to be sane any more.

Ignoring the head, Dr King pointed at the large glass cases containing unconscious,
frozen human beings. ‘Our biochemists and mechanical, electrical, chemical, and
biomedical engineers are already exploring the possibility of collecting healthy
human specimens, rendering them unconscious, and freezing them to just under the
point of death for as long as possible. If we can perfect a workable form of cryonic
preservation, even though the brains of these living cadavers will have ceased
functioning, they’ll still be respiring, pulsating, evacuating, and excreting bodies that
could be maintained for many years as a source of spare parts and for medical
experimentation of all kinds.’

‘But the head,” Wilson said impatiently, glancing at the staring eyes of Marlon
Clarke. ‘Can we ever transfer the entire head from one human being to another?’

King nodded affirmatively. ‘I think it can be done. In the other laboratory isolated
animal brains are being kept in cold storage and others, less lucky’ - here the doctor
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smiled bleakly — ‘are functioning, warm brains kept alive by hook-ups to blood
machines or to live individuals of the same species. Right now we can’t speculate as
to what’s going on mentally inside those disembodied brains, but our latest two-
headed dog has survived for a week now and is eating, sleeping and performing its
physiological functions normally, as if nothing has happened. In other words, it
appears to accept itself as perfectly normal.’

‘And longevity?’

‘We’ll require a steady supply of live foetuses. The heads will be cut off and then
injected with radioactive compounds to enable us to study brain metabolism. We also
need mature adults who can be injected with various diseases, including live hepatitis
virus and cancer cells, to determine if the diseases can be so induced and suitable
antidotes found.’

‘We conducted similar experiments in the Nazi concentration camps,” Wilson
informed him, ‘but they didn’t prove much.’

‘You lacked knowledge and proper facilities,” King replied. ‘I’m expecting much
more here.’

‘I think you’re beginning to enjoy this, Dr King.’

‘It’s more exciting than my work at Hendon,” King said without the slightest trace
of irony. ‘Here, the possibilities are limitless. The mysteries of longevity will
eventually be solved here - and the cyborgs will come even before that. You have no
cause to worry.’

‘I’'m not the worrying kind,” Wilson said. ‘Thank you, Dr King.” After casting a
final, curious glance at the wide, staring, unreadable eyes in the guillotined head of
Marlon Clarke, Wilson left the laboratory, crossed a catwalk, and glanced down a
dizzying drop to the mass of men in black coveralls working on skeletal saucer
structures in the immense, arc-lit workshop with walls of solid rock. He then entered
a tunnel still being hacked out of the mountain’s interior with the sweat of slave
labour. Reminded, by the gloom, bedlam, dust and cracking whips, of the
Nordhausen Central Works in the Harz mountains, he was glad to get through the
nightmarish tunnel and emerge to the viewing bay overlooking one of the multiplying
landing pads for the saucers. As this one was located directly below his office,
located near the summit of the mountain, he found himself looking down on the 300-
foot saucer that had ascended to his level during his discussion with Kammler - the
one that was transporting Ernst Stoll to Paraguay.

Taking the lift down through the interior of the mountain, Wilson emerged to the
cleared area that had become a landing pad, now covered in a film of powdery snow.
The saucer was resting on its four hydraulic legs, with its exit door tilting out from
the base to form a short flight of steps down to the ground - a recent, much welcomed
innovation. As the raised, transparent dome was uncovered, Wilson could see the
crew inside. Ernst Stoll and Kammler were standing near the front edge of the saucer,
talking with the artificial smiles of men who secretly despise one another. They drew
apart when Wilson approached them.
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‘Well,” Wilson said, ‘the day has come at last. It’s been a long wait. No regrets?’

‘No regrets,” Stoll said. ‘Naturally, I’d rather stay here with you, but I’'ll do what |
have to.’

‘I’'m glad,” Wilson said, looking into Stoll’s dulled gaze and realising just how
much he had changed since first they had met in Berlin in 1938. Since then, Stoll had
lost his dream of becoming a rocket engineer, lost his faith in the Nazis, lost his wife
and child - lost everything. Now he only had Wilson, who cared little for him but was
all too willing to use him. Wilson glanced at Kammler, then nodded at the flying
saucer. ‘Is it ready to leave?’

‘Yes,” Kammler said. ‘We were just waiting for you.’

Wilson shook hands with Stoll. ‘Enjoy your work - and good luck.’

‘Thank you,” Stoll said, releasing Wilson’s hand, shaking Kammler’s hand less
readily, then ducking low to slip under the base of the saucer and clamber up the
ladder into the machine. The ladder was drawn up electronically behind him, sealing
the exit, then Wilson and Kammler moved back with the other men to take their
positions behind transparent protective shields in the small caves hacked out of the
rock. Artur Nebe, the deadly former SS officer, now in charge of Wilson’s security,
was already there with some of his armed guards. He looked at Wilson with dark,
inscrutable eyes, resting his hand, as always, on his holstered pistol.

‘Do you think he can be trusted?’ Nebe asked.

‘Yes,” Wilson replied. ‘At least until he goes insane. Until then, just to be sure,
we’ll visit him on a regular basis and check what he’s up to. I’'m sure he’ll do the job
well.’

‘Let’s hope so,” Nebe said.

A high-pitched whistling sound came from the saucer, then it changed into an
angry roaring. A cloud of steam caused by melting snow swirled around the glittering
machine as it lifted off the ground, swaying from side to side, bobbing gently up and
down. The saucer remained like that for a few seconds, swaying and bobbing
magically, roaring angrily, turning the swirling snow into great clouds of steam that
made the light from the arc lamps bend and quiver to form a dazzling web. The
saucer ascended slowly, vertically, as if on invisible strings, until it had cleared the
snow-capped peaks of the mountain, just above Wilson’s office. There it roared even
louder and seemed to quiver like a bow-string, until suddenly it went silent, became
motionless for a second, then shot vertically into the azure sky and almost instantly
vanished.

‘Perfect,” Kammler said.

‘And here comes the other one,” Nebe said, his dark eyes glinting watchfully.

The other saucer, also 300 feet in diameter, had appeared out of nowhere to hover
just above the snow-capped peaks and then begin its descent. It came down as
gracefully as the first one had ascended and landed as lightly as a feather on the same
launching pad. When it had whined back into silence, its trap door opened and angled
down to the ground to form steps. A middle-aged man emerged, wearing a black
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coverall and boots. He was followed by the five crewmembers, all dressed in grey
coveralls. When Kammler stepped forward to receive the flight records from the
crewmembers, the man in black walked up to Wilson and gave a slight, formal bow.

‘Well?” Wilson asked him. ‘Did it go well?’

‘Yes, sir,” the man, Flight Captain Friedrich, replied. ‘We flew over a few air bases
without much success, but finally, at Godman Field, near Louisville, Kentucky, we
were pursued by four F-51 fighter planes. One of them was more foolhardy than the
others and pursued us to nearly twenty thousand feet. We let him catch up with us.
When he was still climbing and just below us, as close as he dared come, we used
your new laser weapon against him. It worked, sir. Beautifully. The F-51 cut out,
went into a spin, and was splitting in two even before it crashed. We later heard on
the radio that the pilot was killed. Air Force pilot Thomas F.Mantell. A World War
Two hero. A good choice, don’t you think?’

‘You didn’t exactly choose him,” Nebe coldly corrected him, ‘but certainly, for our
propaganda purposes, you couldn’t have come across a better victim. Now the US Air
Force will be very frightened indeed, which is what we require.’

‘It’s also good to know that the laser weapon developed in Kahla actually works,’
Wilson said. ‘We’re pleased, Friedrich. You’ve done well.’

He squeezed Friedrich’s shoulder, glanced at Kammler and Nebe, then turned
away and walked back into the mountain.
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Chapter Seven

Fuller made good use of his time before interviewing the former Projekt Saucer
scientist, Walter Miethe. Forced by his assignment to return to New Mexico, he
decided to learn as much as he could about the V-2 rockets before discussing them,
and more important related matters, with the Kraut scientist now working for the
Army’s First Guided Missile Battalion, located in White Sands.

Driving out of town at dawn, past the bright orange-and-white signs saying
ALAMOGORDO: HOME OF THE ATOMIC BOMB, CENTRE OF ROCKET
DEVELOPMENT!, Fuller headed for White Sands, where a V-2 launching was to
take place later in the morning. The drive took him across desert filled with nothing
but sagebrush, past isolated gas stations charging twenty-five cents a gallon, to the
3,600 miles of even more parched desert, sand dunes, and cattle-grazing land, which
encompassed the White Stands Proving Ground, surrounded by the distant, closely
bunched peaks of the aptly named Organ Mountains.

Not particularly fond of ranchers, rattlesnakes, mountain lions or coyotes, Fuller
was glad to reach the government’s first rocket centre. He knew he was getting close
when he hit Highway 70 and found it clogged with motorists trying to find a good
vantage point for the launching. Rather than being classified, the V-2 launchings (or
‘shoots’ as they were commonly called), which took place every couple of weeks,
were treated as gala occasions and used as military PR exercises on the local
populace. Fuller was therefore not surprised, when he approached White Sands in the
morning’s dazzling light, to find himself in the thick of cars and buses coming in
from Las Cruces, Alamogordo, and El Paso, bringing farmers, cowboys, housewives,
young mothers with new-born babies, schoolchildren, Boy Scout troops, students
from the international rocket school, ROTC men, National Guardsmen, and members
of the Chamber of Commerce and civic clubs. Many of these would tour an assembly
hangar and the White Sands Proving Ground Museum, housed in a long Army van,
where a V-2 rocket was on display, see a movie about guided missiles, visit the
launching site, then scramble for a good position in the camp viewing area, located
approximately seven miles away.

American know-how, Fuller thought proudly.

He was even more impressed when he entered the White Sands camp and found it
swarming with state and municipal officials, retired and active Mexican generals,
ordinary Gls, naval ratings, Air Force engineers, and top brass from the Pentagon,
West Point, and Annapolis.

‘It’s like the goddamned Fourth of July,” he said to Captain Edward ‘Ed’
Gunderson of the First Guided Missile Battalion, in his office near the Proving
Ground museum. ‘I thought all this would’ve been top-secret, but these folks are
having a party.’

‘It’s kind of a festive day,” Ed said. ‘The rocket shoots are still exciting. You can’t
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keep a shoot secret - [ mean the rockets are so damned visible - so everyone’s invited
to come along. The real secrets are the payloads in the rockets - and the public don’t
see those.’

‘What kind of payloads?’

‘The permanent personnel of the Proving Ground are both civilian and military, so
it depends on who’s financing and sharing the individual rocket. In this instance,
General Electric has thermometers on board because they’re interested in the
problems of heat transfer; the Naval Research Laboratory is sending up a
spectrograph to measure the spectral qualities of light at high altitudes; and the
University of Michigan is contributing an air-sample bottle, to suck in a sample of the
atmosphere and then seal itself. Even Harvard University, would you believe, is
sending up a packet of seeds to learn how cosmic radiation effects them. So while the
rocket shoot isn’t secret, the results of the tests certainly will be.’

‘Who’s most interested in the rockets?’

‘Military men and scientists are equally interested, but for different reasons. The
scientists are mostly interested in pure scientific research - an orbital satellite for the
checking of weather and other atmospheric data is their long-term aim - but the
military men — wouldn’t you know it? - are after an atom bomb transported by guided
missile. That says it all, doesn't it?’

Fuller’s instinct was to say: ‘Why not? We’ve got to protect ourselves from the
Commies and other enemies.” But realising that this might antagonise his new friend,
he said, instead, ‘Yeah, I guess it does, Ed. So when do I get to talk to the Kraut?’

‘Dr Miethe?’

‘Yeah.’

‘Right after the launch. He’s out in the desert right now with one of the Recovery
Officers, waiting to pick up the rocket’s scientific instruments at the point of impact.
You can see him right after that.’

‘Can you take me out to the launching site?’

‘Sure,” Ed said. ‘No problem.’

They left the First Guided Missile Battalion HQ and drove in Ed’s jeep to the
launching site, burning along the camp’s only paved road, which ran through seven
miles of sagebrush and dunes, with the organ-pipe peaks of the mountains to the west,
on the far edge of the otherwise flat terrain. The journey only took ten minutes, but
the wind was hot and filled with sand, making Fuller feel dry-throated and sun-
scorched by the time the V-2 appeared as a patch of glinting white in the distance. A
minute later, the jeep was close enough to let Fuller see that the rocket, painted white
but with a pointed, silver warhead, now raised into a vertical position, was being
planted on a portable launching platform by a specially equipped truck. Ed drove on
to where the rocket was and they got out of the jeep.

The V-2 looked lonely in the desert waste, even though about a hundred men,
civilian and army, were gathered around it. The rocket was now straddled by a sixty-
foot tall crane, which had platforms at different levels, where the launch crew were
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working like beavers while Gls climbed up and down ladders, opening and closing
the instrument panels, and, on the ground, the surveyors checked the vertical
alignment. It looked like organised chaos.

‘Come on,” Ed said to Fuller. ‘Let’s check out the blockhouse.’

‘What’s that?’

‘Headquarters for the shoot.’

The blockhouse was an expansive, low concrete structure located about a hundred
yards west of the launching platform, reminding Fuller of the pillboxes he had
attacked as a marine during the war. Inside, it was blessedly cool and contained only
instrumentation relating to the V-2, with lights flickering constantly on the consoles
and other equipment making rhythmic clicking sounds. The thick, protective walls of
the blockhouse contained three narrow viewing windows of thick laminated glass
which, when Fuller looked, showed only the fins at the bottom of the V-2 being
prepared for launching. There were also oxygen masks and bottles hanging on the
walls.

‘The rocket could keel over and fall into the blockhouse,” Ed explained
reassuringly, ‘cutting off our exit. The walls of the blockhouse are so thick they
probably wouldn’t cave in, but the masks would be needed to protect us from the
toxic gases that could seep out of the rocket and fill this place before we could
escape. Come on - only twenty people are allowed in here during a shoot and you’re
not invited. You can come with me as part of a field crew. They’re stationed right
across the Proving Range, in the desert and mountains. Their job is to keep track of
the rocket’s flight and phone their reports in to the blockhouse. You wanna come?’

‘Hell, yes,” Fuller said. He hadn’t enjoyed himself so much since fighting the Japs
at Iwo Jima and was glad to get out of the packed, gloomy blockhouse. Once outside,
he noticed that the GIs were no longer swarming over the raised V-2, but had been
replaced by a lot of civilians, all on the third platform, about fifty feet up.

‘The guys in charge of instrumentation,” Ed explained. ‘Let’s get in the jeep.’

They drove away from the blockhouse, heading into the desert, arriving a couple of
minutes later at Radar Station D, an encampment of half-a-dozen trailers, containing
radar and other equipment, located a mile east of the launch area. When Fuller got out
of the jeep and looked back where he had come from, he saw heatwaves rising off the
plain in front of the rocket.

Wiping sweat from his face, he followed Ed into one of the trailers. It contained the
telemeter, which would transmit data on temperatures, wind pressures and cosmic
rays during the rocket’s eight-minute flight, and three special cameras, which would
make a pictorial record of the flight. Men stripped to the waist and wearing shorts,
their muscular bodies sweat-slicked, had taken up positions behind the cameras. As
this meant that the shoot was imminent, Ed led Fuller back outside, where they could
get a good view.

As zero hour approached, more people poured into the encampment, including a lot
of full colonels. Instructions were being broadcast from a PA system that linked up all
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the field stations. Shortly after, a pair of Stinson L-5 observation planes appeared in
the sky, the countdown began and continued until it reached X-minus One. Then the
seconds were counted off: ‘Ten, nine, eight, seven, six, five, four, three, two, one -
Fire!”

A distant, bass rumbling sound soon became a mighty roaring, then flames shot out
around the base of the rocket and turned to boiling black smoke. From where Fuller
stood, it looked as if the rocket was on fire, about to explode, yet remarkably it didn’t
move immediately. Instead, the 1,900 pounds of explosive fuel built up beneath it,
only gradually lifting it off the launching tower. The rocket rose slowly, dramatically,
as if about to fall back again, but kept climbing in that leisurely manner out of
spewing yellow flame and boiling smoke. When it broke free from the launching
tower, spitting a red flame from its tail, the roaring washed over Fuller like a wave
and the ground shook beneath him. He covered his ears with his hands and put his
head back, looking upwards, feeling tremendous, almost sexual excitement as the
roaring turned into the loudest noise he had ever heard and the rocket started putting
real distance between itself and the Earth. Fuller’s neck could bend no further when
the rocket became no more than a flickering flame, curving up and away, until it
disappeared altogether, leaving Fuller to squint into nothing but the vast, empty sky.

When he straightened his neck to look about him, he saw Ed’s grin and raised
thumb. Fuller felt extraordinary alive, completely physical, and at last had a very real
sense of the world that was coming.

No wonder they’re scared, he thought.

Fuller didn’t like Commies, Japs or Germans, but he tried to be civil when he
interviewed Walter Miethe later that afternoon in the headquarters of the First Guided
Missile Battalion. The office was small and spartan, containing a desk and three
chairs. There was nothing on the desk. Two of the chairs were at one side of it, with
Miethe in one of them. Fuller, at the other side, had a good view of White Sands, its
chapel framed by the window, which was open. The bawling of GIs playing on the
basketball court came in loud and clear.

‘Cigarette?’ Fuller asked. Miethe shook his head, indicating refusal. He had black
hair and eyes as dark as pitch, though they still revealed wariness. He was a man who
had been asked a lot of questions and didn’t want to hear more. ‘Do you mind if I
do?’ Fuller asked, lighting up before Miethe could answer. ‘No,” Miethe said. ‘Of
course not.” Fuller grinned. ‘You don’t smoke at all.” Again Miethe replied by
shaking his head in a negative gesture. ‘Filthy habit. Never start,” Fuller said, puffing
smoke rings and watching them drift away, pretty close to Miethe’s face. ‘So you
know why I’m here, right?’

‘I can guess,” Miethe replied.

“You worked for an American called Wilson and we’re trying to find him.’

Miethe sighed wearily. ‘I’m sorry, I can’t help you. I can tell you what I know
about Projekt Saucer, but I don’t know anything more about Wilson. He’s probably
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dead.’

‘What makes you think that?’

‘There were two saucer construction programmes: one by Fliigkapitan Rudolph
Schriever, the other by Wilson. The two saucer teams were separated in 1944.
Wilson’s team was placed under the command of SS Brigadier Hans Kammler and
transferred under the supervision of Captain Ernst Stoll to Kahla, near the
underground rocket construction plant at Nordhausen, in the Harz Mountains. I went
with Schriever and his team to Prague, so I never saw Wilson after that. My closest
associate on Projekt Saucer, Habermohl, was sent by Schriever to work on part of the
programme in Breslau, where he was captured by the Soviets. As for Schriever, the
last I saw of him was when he was running away from murderous Czechoslovak
Partisans at the BMW Plant in Prague, when the Russians were advancing on that
city. However, just before that happened, we received unofficial notification that
Wilson’s team had been evacuated from Kahla in April 1944 and that Wilson had
been shot by General Kammler, to prevent him falling into the hands of the advancing
Americans.’

‘But you had no proof of his death.’

‘No.’

‘And you’ve heard nothing about him since?’

‘Absolutely nothing.’

Fuller gazed steadily at Miethe’s dark, wary eyes and wondered if he was telling
the truth. Maybe, maybe not. Wilson was a shadowy figure, a teasing conundrum, but
what Fuller had learnt about him so far had convinced him that the man was cunning
and dangerous, with a long, deadly reach. Lots of people had reason to be scared of
Wilson and Miethe might be one of them.

‘Your recent boss, Werner von Braun, was in charge of the Nordhausen Central
Works about the same time Wilson was in Kahla. Did he and Wilson co-operate?’

‘I don’t know. I wasn’t there. I was with Schriever in Prague. However, [ doubt
that they had anything to do with one another. Indeed, I don’t believe von Braun even
knew that Wilson was in Kahla. Ernst Stoll, who was in charge of Nordhausen and
Kahla during Kammler’s many absences - Kammler was then overseeing the firing of
V-1 rockets from the Hague - kept Wilson’s presence in Kahla a tight secret. No one
got in or out of Kahla, other than Stoll and Kammler, so I doubt that von Braun knew
they were there.’

‘What about the early days? You worked directly under Wilson in Kummersdorf,
when von Braun was on the other side of the firing range. Did they co-operate then?’

‘No. Von Braun knew about the American, but only through gossip. Though
Wilson was compelled to pass on certain innovations to von Braun, this was not
reciprocated and the two men never met. Then, of course, von Braun’s rocket team
moved to Peenemiinde, leaving Wilson with the whole of Kummersdorf.’

‘So how did you end up in Fort Bliss with von Braun?’

‘When the Czechoslovak Partisans overran the BMW Plant in Prague, I managed
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to make my escape. Like Schriever, I just fled across the fields until I lost my
pursuers. After that, like thousands of others, I made my way back to Germany, by
foot and by begging lifts, until I was captured - luckily, by the Americans, not the
Russians.’

‘Lucky indeed,” Fuller said.

‘By that time,” Miethe continued, ignoring the sarcasm, ‘Brigadier Hans Kammler
had transferred von Braun and his men to an army barracks in Oberammergau in the
Bavarian Alps. There, they were held behind barbed wire and under SS guard, until
joined by General Dornberger, when they were allowed to move into the village of
Oberjoch. The Americans had since transported me to the town of Reutte, in the
Austrian Tyrol, for lengthy interrogation. Shortly after the Fiihrer’s death, on the
second of May, 1945, Dornberger and his men, including von Braun, surrendered to
the American 44th Infantry Division in Reutte and I was placed in custody with them.
By June, I was on my way to America with von Braun and many of his V-2
specialists. Now...” Miethe shrugged indifferently. ‘Here [ am.’

‘You like America?’ Fuller asked him.

‘I like my work,” Miethe replied, ‘and here I can do that.’

Don’t do me any favours, Fuller thought, outraged that American generosity could
be treated with such contemptuous indifference. ‘What about the beer?’ he asked,
grinning. ‘You like American beer?’

‘I don’t drink,” Miethe replied.

Fuller lit one cigarette with the stub of the other, then sat back in his chair and blew
smoke rings, watching them drift towards Miethe’s face before dissipating.

‘I’ve seen the drawings of Schriever’s saucer,” he said. ‘It looks just like the real
thing.’

‘The real thing?’

“Yeah. The ones that have been causing such a stir over the past year or so. Do you
think there’s any connection?’

‘Yes. I agree with Schriever on that. He’s been telling the West German press that
the UFOs are man-made and based on our original German designs. I believe he’s
correct.’

‘How good was Schriever’s saucer? The one you tested in Prague in 1945.”

Miethe offered a superior smile. ‘Not very good. It barely hovered above ground
level, wobbling wildly, then it crashed back down.’

‘So what makes you agree with Schriever?’

‘Schriever was a pretender who always tried to get credit for ideas that he stole
from the American. I don’t agree that the present UFO scare is caused by saucers
constructed from Schriever’s designs, which in truth were incomplete; what I believe
is that they’re saucers based on Wilson’s designs for a much better saucer known as
the Kugelblitz. While even that saucer did not have the widely reported capabilities of
the UFOs, it was highly advanced and could have been the prototype for the saucers
now being sighted. Whether Wilson is alive or dead, it’s my belief that enough of his
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designs, if not the actual prototype, were captured by the Soviets or Americans - or
both - to let them build more advanced models. It is my belief, then, that the UFOs
are man-made saucers, constructed here or in Russia - maybe in both countries.’

Studying Miethe in silence for a moment, Fuller considered his options. One was
to invite him for a drive into the desert, then slit his throat and bury him under the
dunes. The other was to utilise his knowledge for the new saucer programme. Miethe
knew too much already to be allowed to run loose, which meant that either he should
be allowed to work for the US government or that he should be taken out totally -
obliterated. Fuller had his own preference -a quick burial in the desert - but
unfortunately he was hampered by his superiors and the country’s long-term needs.

‘What I’'m going to tell you,” he said, ‘will commit you for life. If you listen to
what I tell you, I won’t be able to pretend you didn’t hear it. That means I’ll have to
take strong action if you try going elsewhere. If you want to spend the rest of your
days working on saucer projects, then you better listen to what I say; but if you’re
frightened of making that kind of commitment, you better tell me to shut up. You
understand, Miethe?’

The German stared steadily, suspiciously at him, then nervously wiped his lips
with his hand.

‘What if I don’t listen?’

‘You’ll be free to return to Germany,” Fuller lied, thinking of that burial in the
desert, ‘which may well be the only choice you’ll have, as you’ll find no work here.
Either you work for the US government or not at all - at least not in this country. So
what way do you want it?’

Miethe was silent for a considerable time, but his pitch-black gaze was steady and
intense, searching Fuller’s face for hidden meanings. Eventually, taking a deep breath
and letting it out, he said, “You believe Wilson’s still alive, don’t you?’

‘Yes,” Fuller said.

‘And the saucers?’

‘We now have our own, but they’re not that advanced. We based them on designs
found in Nazi Germany and have reason to believe they were done by Wilson. We
think we can advance on what we’ve already got, but it’s gonna take a lot of time and
money. In the meantime, we have the other saucers to contend with, and certainly
they’re too advanced to be our own.’

‘The Russians?’

‘We know they got Habermohl and a lot of rocket scientists, but even if they were
constructing their own saucers, they’d have the same problems as us: not enough time
or money. In other words, if the Russians have saucers, they’re not likely to be much
more advanced than ours.’

‘Which leaves Wilson.’

‘Right.’

Now Miethe looked frightened. ‘Do you know where he is?’

‘We think we know approximately where he is, but I can’t tell you where that is
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just yet.’

‘Because I haven’t committed myself.’

‘You committed yourself by asking about Wilson. Now you can’t back out,
Miethe.’

Shocked, Miethe straightened up in his chair, staring beyond Fuller’s head,
doubtless recalling his early days in Kummersdorf with the Machiavellian American.
Fuller saw that Miethe was now truly frightened and would want his protection.

‘If we’re right,” he said, ‘Wilson is far away... but he has a long reach.’

‘With his saucers.’

‘Correct.’

Miethe nodded, rubbing his sweaty hands on his pants, then bit his lower lip. ‘So,’
he said, sounding as if he was sighing. ‘I am in. I am yours. What do you want with
me?’

‘You have a wife and children in Germany,” Fuller said. ‘A boy and girl, twelve
and ten years old respectively. Hans and Irena.’

‘Yes,” Miethe said, looking even more concerned. ‘Why do you - ?°

‘You’ll want them with you,” Fuller said. ‘And you’ll want them out of reach. A
new flying-saucer project, based on a combination of Schriever’s earlier designs and
the more advanced designs found in Kahla, Thuringia - presumably Wilson’s work -
is about to be financed jointly by the US and Canadian governments. The contract
was won by the A.V. Roe Company and construction will take place at their plant in
Malton, Ontario. That’s in Canada, not America, and we thought you might
appreciate being there. Do you agree?’

‘Yes,” Miethe said.

‘Good. I’'ll make arrangements for your wife and kids to be flown out of Germany
and you’ll all go to Canada shortly after. Any questions, Miethe?’

‘Not for now, Mr Fuller.’

Fuller nodded, stood up, and shook the German’s hand. He wiped his hand on his
pants as he walked from the room.

Early that evening, Fuller phoned his wife from his temporary accommodation in the
officers’s quarters of White Sands. The marriage between him and Belinda Wolfe had
been a battlefield from the first day to the last and they had separated eighteen months
ago, two years after the honeymoon. Belinda, the ravishing, brunette daughter of
wealthy natives of Georgetown, Washington DC, had been unable to tolerate Fuller’s
blatant promiscuity, distaste for domesticity, love of danger, gratuitous cruelty with
enemies and friends alike, and horror at the very thought of having children. Fuller
and Belinda hadn’t met since the acrimonious separation, though they had good
reason to speak often by phone: the impending divorce. Now, when they spoke,
Belinda told him that the divorce papers were coming through and she was thrilled to
be rid of him.
‘Thanks a million, Belinda.’
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An hour later, Fuller was celebrating at a dance in the Rocket Room of the
Officer’s Club. High on a bellyful of lousy American beer, which he loved (those
lousy, tasteless Krauts!), he enjoyed the live band, danced with a few ladies, then
played the slot machines standing along the pine wall adorned with stag heads. Also
playing was the wife of an Army Air Force captain who was on a two-week flying
course at Nellis AFB, Las Vegas, Nevada. Fuller engaged her in conversation, bought
her a few drinks, played Ping-Pong with her on the porch, then drove her out into the
desert, where, under the dark-blue, star-filled sky, he fucked her brains out. When she
recovered and was sobbing, filled with guilt and remorse, though displaying some
confusion by saying she loved him, he dumped her well outside the base and told her
to walk it off.

Ten minutes later, having packed to leave the next day, he fell into his bed in his
room in the officers’s quarters, went to sleep almost instantly, and dreamt about a V-2
rocket flying across the curved earth and being tailed by one of Wilson’s flying
saucers. He awoke with an erection that resembled the V-2, but his headache didn't
permit him any pleasure, so he rolled out of bed. Wondering about the elusive thread
that led obliquely from the V-2s to the UFOs, or flying saucers, he showered, put on
his clothes, and left White Sands for good, gratefully heading back to the real world
and its infinite mysteries.
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Chapter Eight

Even in the desert of the Southwest, just north of Albuquerque, New Mexico, it was
freezing at night. Squatting in the sand beside the other members of his UFO tracking
team, looking up at the moon and stars, but seeing no unidentifieds, Dwight was torn
between his excitement over what he was doing and depression caused by being away
from home again, leaving Beth hurt and angry. It had been his own idea to send
special patrols out into the desert around Albuquerque in a determined bid to resolve
the mystery of the recent plague of green fireball sightings. A good idea from the
point of view of the ATIC, not so good for the marriage.

The sightings had begun in November 1948, just three months ago, when a lot of
folks around Albuquerque had reported seeing what seemed like green balls of fire
flying across the skies. At first, because thousands of conscript GIs had recently been
discharged from the army, taking souvenirs such as Very pistols, local Air Force
Intelligence at Kirtland AFB had written the sightings off as flares. They were,
however, forced to change their tune when, on the night of December 5, Air Force
pilot Captain Goede and his co-pilot, flying a C-47 transport at 18,000 feet ten miles
east of Albuquerque, observed a green fireball the size of a huge meteor flashing
across the sky just ahead of them. Later, in their official report on the sighting, Goede
and his co-pilot both insisted that it could not have been a meteor, as it had ascended
from low altitude, near the slopes of the Sandia Mountains, then arched upward and
levelled out, just like an airplane. A few minutes after that sighting, the captain of a
Pioneer Airlines Flight also reported seeing a green ball of fire east of Las Vegas,
New Mexico, when he was flying en route to Albuquerque. He, also, confirmed that
the ascending flight of the green fireball proved that it could not have been a
meteorite.

After that, the fireballs appeared practically every night and most of the reports
landed on Randall’s desk at the ATIC, in Wright-Patterson AFB. While analysing the
reports with the help of Bob Jackson, Dwight arranged for Dr Lincoln La Paz, head
of the University of Mexico’s Institute of Meteoritics, to look into the sightings.
Subsequently, La Paz reported that he had personally witnessed the green fireballs
both from the ground and from an aircraft, in the company of some distinguished
scientists from the AEC Los Alamos Laboratory, and was of the opinion that the
green fireballs were not meteorites. Their green colouring was too vivid, their
trajectories were too flat, they were not accompanied by the sound and shock waves
of natural meteorites, and, finally, they were simply oo big.

The worst row of Dwight’s marriage to date had erupted when, after ten more
nights of green fireball sightings, he came under pressure to find out what was
causing them. Not considering the time of year, he asked for permission to establish
three cinetheodolite stations near Albuquerque, in hopes of ascertaining the altitude,
speed and size of the UFOs. Unfortunately, permission came in the form of a formal,
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written order stating that the stations could only be set up and manned for a period of
a fortnight, beginning in December and ending January - in other words, over the
Christmas and New Year period.

Cursing his own stupidity, Dwight was then cursed out by Beth when he told her
that he wouldn’t be home for Christmas. Her Irish temper finally exploded and they
had a dreadful row. Were this not torment enough, Beth then took Nichola to have
Christmas with her folks in Dayton while Dwight and his three unhappy sighting
teams set up their cinetheodolite stations in the desert around Albuquerque.

To make matters even worse, nothing was spotted.

In truth, Beth had never really forgiven him for their lost Christmas and New Year
- particularly since no green fireballs or other UFOs materialised and it all seemed a
waste of time. Now, here he was again, a mere four weeks later, in February 1949, in
the middle of what he hoped was the most foolproof plan yet devised for the study of
UFOs.

This time he had put together a dozen separate four-man sighting teams, with a
radio operator, an instrument man, a timer, and a recorder. All the teams would be
assigned a special radio frequency through which they could keep in touch with one
another without being heard by outsiders. When a green fireball, or any kind of UFO,
was spotted, the radio operator would immediately relay its presence to the other
teams to enable them to track it simultaneously. While he was doing so, the
instrument man would be measuring the UFO’s angles of elevation and azimuth, the
timer would be calling out the time, and the recorder would be writing the details
down. By then comparing the records of the many different teams, the speed, size,
altitude and flight characteristics of the UFO could at last be accurately ascertained.

Dwight was pleased with himself.

Nevertheless, he was also cold and depressed. Cold because the desert, so hot
during the day, was as chilly as Antarctica by night - or seemed to be so. Depressed
because the stormy waters of his marriage had not been calmed by this latest trip and,
even worse, because, yet again, they had been here four nights in a row and nothing
had shown up.

Dwight was even more depressed because he was head of Project Sign and yet had
never seen a UFO in his life.

Sensibly, once it became apparent to Dwight’s team that nothing was happening,
they decided to take turns at guard to ensure that all of them would at least get some
sleep, even if only for short periods. Now it was Dwight’s turn, it was four in the
morning, and he had another two hours to go before he could waken one of the
others.

There they were scattered around him, three men in sleeping bags, looking as dead
as the flat plain of the desert and the vast, starry cosmos. Dwight’s eyes felt like lead
and he had to fight to keep them open, which he did by concentrating on the sky
while praying for something odd or exciting to materialise.

It could be an eerie experience. The nocturnal sky played many tricks. You looked up
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at the stars, already dead, in the past, and you couldn’t believe they weren’t there,
they seemed so damned real. Then, of course, the sky kept changing. Things were
constantly on the move. Even a trained observer could be fooled by shooting stars,
comets, meteors, lenticular and noctilucent clouds, dust and ice crystals, temperature
inversions, corona discharges, plasmoids, ball-lightning, parhelia and paraselenae, or
mock suns and sundogs, mock moons and moondogs, and even the ever deceiving
planet Venus. In ancient times such phenomenon had been viewed as mystical visions
or visitations by the gods of the sea or sky. In modern times they were often mistaken
for UFOs, even by trained observers.

Just like me, Dwight thought bleakly.

Sighing, trying desperately to stay awake, he was just about to fall asleep when he
thought he saw something.

Rubbing his eyes, he sat up straight, preparing himself for another trick. What he
saw was a streak of light, very low on the horizon... Impossible to tell the altitude
from here, but it was definitely moving.

Left to right - no: up and down - a streak of white light, then two lights. Perhaps
two lights blending into one and advancing towards him.

He rubbed his eyes and looked again. Maybe just a shooting star. No, it was too
low for that, so it had to be something else. Perhaps a temperature inversion. Lights
from somewhere far away. The headlamps of a car that was moving uphill, its lights
beaming into the sky, hitting a temperature inversion, and being sent on for miles to
another temperature inversion that bent it again and relayed it back to Earth to form
what Dwight was seeing...

No, not that. Not mock moons or moon dogs either. The light, maybe two lights -
sometimes two, sometimes one - was growing longer and thinner, stretching out like
chewing gum, as it advanced across the desert floor at very low altitude.

‘Jesus Christ,” Dwight whispered, wondering if he should waken the others. ‘What
the hell..?’

No, not low altitude. Not a single light either. Two separate lights, now bobbing
erratically, beaming down on the desert floor.

Damn it, they were close. Too close to be high up. They were only a couple of feet
above the ground, maybe not even that. Approaching. Coming towards him. Not
accidentally at all. Not bobbing - bouncing - a sort of rattling in there, too... Then
settling down and beaming over the track that led right to Dwight.

A car engine and squeaking springs.

‘God damn it!” Dwight whispered.

His three companions sat up. ‘What the fuck - ?” a dim voice queried. ‘I’ll kill the
bastard in that jeep,” Corporal Mathers said. ‘Thought we had us a UFO.’

The jeep took shape in the night, even blacker than the darkness, its headlights
blinding Dwight as it turned off the road again and headed straight for him and the
others. He was shading his dazzled eyes with his hand when the jeep squealed to a
halt right in front of him, churning up clouds of sand.
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His friend and sidekick, Air Force Captain Bob Jackson, waved at him and jumped
down to the sand.

‘Hi,” he said. ‘How’s it goin’?’

“You came at four in the morning to ask me that?’

‘Not exactly,” Bob said. He glanced down at the others, all sitting upright in their
sleeping bags. ‘Okay,” he said. ‘Go back to sleep. This is not for your ears. Happy
bedy-bize, boys.” When they had moaned and cursed and were settling back again,
Bob looked directly at Dwight and said, more seriously, ‘I’m sorry, but this can’t
wait.” He took Dwight by the elbow and walked him away from the others, out of
earshot. ‘You look cold,” he said. Before Dwight could reply, Bob withdrew a hip
flask from his flying jacket and unscrewed the cap. ‘Brandy,” he said. ‘You’re going
to need it... And not just for the cold.’

Grateful, Dwight had a good slug of the brandy and felt it burning down inside
him. He had another slug, felt it going straight to his head, took note of the wondrous
lustre of the stars and handed the flask back.

‘Okay,’ he said. ‘What the hell is this?’

‘Your official Estimate of the Situation,” Dwight replied.

Dwight nodded his understanding. The UFO-related death of Captain Thomas
F.Mantell over Godman AFB, Kentucky, in January last year, combined with the
extraordinary UFO sighting made by Eastern Airlines Captain Charles S. Chiles and
co-pilot John B. Whitted near Montgomery, Alabama, on the evening of July 24, had
prompted Dwight, as head of Project Sign, to write an official, top-secret Estimate of
the Situation. That Estimate had outlined the whole history of UFO sightings,
including the fireballs, Scandinavian ‘ghost rockets’ and American sightings before
1947. 1t had concluded with Dwight’s earnestly held conviction that the UFOs were
of extraterrestrial origin.

‘So why the brandy?’ he asked, gazing with instinctive, growing despair over the
star-covered, dark, barren desert.

Bob sucked his breath in, then let it out again. ‘Our venerable Chief of Staff,
General Hoyt S.Vandenberg, has rejected the report.’

‘What?

‘On the grounds that it lacks proof.’

Dwight was stunned. ‘Lacks... proof?’

Bob shrugged and spread his hands in the air as if begging forgiveness. ‘That’s
what he said. It’s on an official, top-secret memorandum. That... and something even
worse.’

‘What could be worse?’

Bob took another deep breath and let it out slowly. ‘There’s to be a whole new
policy at Project Sign. In the future, Sign personnel are to assume that a//l UFO
reports are hoaxes. Not only that, but we’re to check with FBI officers, and with the
criminal and subversive files of police departments, looking into the private lives of
the witnesses to see if they're - quote, unquote - reliable.’
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Dwight was livid with anger. ‘By doing that,” he said, ‘we’ll be shifting the
investigations away from the actual UFOs and on to the poor bastards who report
them.’

‘You’ve got it, buddy. That’s absolutely correct. As for your official Estimate of
the Situation, it’s going to be incinerated and our project will be renamed Project
Grudge.’

‘Is that a sour joke?’

‘No, it’s not - though it may be a sign of General Vandenberg’s displeasure with
us.’

‘What he’s saying in effect is that we’re to discourage further UFO reports and
keep a low profile.’

‘Right.’

‘We now exist in name only - and that name is Project Grudge.’

‘How bright you are,” Bob said.

He handed Dwight the hip flask. Dwight took it and walked out into the darkness
and sat on the sand. He had a stiff drink, then another, trying to still his racing heart.
Then he looked up at the vast, starry sky, which reduced him to nothing. Eventually,
Bob came to sit beside him, trying to offer some comfort.

‘What the hell’s going on?’ Dwight asked him, unable to keep the bitterness from
his voice.

‘It doesn’t need spelling out,” Bob said. ‘It’s fair warning to us all that it’s no
longer wise to open your mouth too wide about UFOs.’

‘Why?” Dwight asked, feeling increasingly confused and nervous, looking up at
the night sky.

‘You tell me,” Bob said.
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Chapter Nine

With some native guides and a modest contingent of General Stroessner’s armed
Federales, an unhappy Ernst Stoll had endured a seemingly endless journey from the
dusty streets of Asuncion, along the Paraguay river by gunboat, to this jetty looming out
over the muddy water. His guide, a young, gap-toothed Paraguayan called Juan Chavez,
pointed proudly at the jetty and the cleared compound beneath it, as if that motley
collection of thatched shacks and muddy enclosures would actually bring a smile to
Ernst’s face. Instead, Ernst removed his hat, wiped the sweat from inside it, spat on the
deck near Chavez’s feet, then put the hat back on and wiped his face.

‘Scheisse,” he exclaimed, ‘what a filthy hole!’

‘Have a beer, senor Stoll. It will help cool you down. Do not let the sun dry you out.
You need plenty of liquid.’

Juan Chavez was smiling, a sly, gap-toothed grimace, his dark, youthful eyes bright
with mischief and the urge to be sly. Ernst nodded and took the beer, the bottle cold in
his sweaty palm. He drank, wiped some beer from his lips and then glanced over his
shoulder. A group of captured Ache Indians were at the aft end of the deck, all small,
emaciated, their narrow eyes dulled by fear, dressed in rags and huddling close to one-
another as if for protection. Two Federales were guarding them, wearing jackboots,
holding rifles, both gaunt-faced and bored, chewing gum, their eyes hooded beneath
tatty peaked caps, their uniforms threadworn. Ernst studied them at length, feeling only
contempt, recalling his own disciplined, immaculate SS troops during the war. These
Federales were not like that. They were a bunch of murderous morons. Corrupt and led
by a corrupt leader, General Stroessner, they were men whose only purpose was survival
in the most expedient manner. The scum of the earth.

“This is your first time in Paraguay, senor?’ Chavez asked, smiling slyly to reveal his
missing front teeth.

Ernst stared coldly at him. Chavez was still a teenager, but he looked twice his age.
This was due to his missing teeth, the scars on his cheeks, and the cunning in his old
man’s brown eyes. He would make a good pimp.

God, Ernst thought, these people!

‘Yes,” he said. ‘I have never been here before. This is the first time.’

“You will have to get used to it, senor. Strangers often go crazy here.’

Ernst had another drink, cooled his forehead with the bottle, and then surveyed the
widening clearing as the boat inched towards it. This was a waterside village, its jetty
thrusting out from the tangled shrubs and liana at the edge of the forest, where the
banks of red mud angled down to the dark, muddied river. Some men were waiting
on the jetty, wearing filthy shirts and pants, nearly all with cigarettes in their mouths,
not one of them smiling.

‘Heaven on earth,” Ernst said sarcastically. ‘I’'m sure I’ll be happy here.’

‘You are staying long, senor?’
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‘Unfortunately, yes.’

‘A lot of Germans, former soldiers, live in the jungle, so you may find some
company.’

‘That’s nice,” Ernst said, though he wanted no German friends, having been warned
by Wilson to avoid them and keep to himself. What would happen here must remain a
secret, no matter how much that cost him in emotional terms. His own regular company
could only be the scum of this village; his only form of relief the occasional visit from
those in Antarctica. He would live here as if in a monastery, though with some
compensations.

‘I trust there are some women here,’ he said.

‘Ah, yes,” Chavez replied, grinning lasciviously. “You can take your pick, senor.’

The gunboat growled and shuddered, turning in towards the bank; it inched forward
and then bounced against the tyres along the edge of the jetty. Ernst glanced back over
his shoulder. One of the Ache women was wailing. A Federale slapped her brutally
across the face and screamed a torrent of abuse. The woman’s wailing became a
whimper. Ernst yawned and turned away. One of the crew had thrown a rope to a man
on the jetty and the latter was tying it around an upright, bending low, shouting inanely.
The boat’s engine cut out. A crewmember removed the gate. A plank was thrown across
the space between the deck and the jetty, then tied to some uprights to form a crude
gangplank. Ernst moved towards the plank, wanting desperately to get off, but Chavez
tugged at the sleeve of his shirt and motioned him back.

‘No,’ he said. ‘First the Ache.’

Ernst stopped and stared at him, repulsed by that gap-toothed grin, but he stepped
back as Chavez went to the Federales and bawled his instructions. The Federales were
quick to move, venting their boredom on the miserable Indians, screaming abuse and
kicking them to their feet, herding them towards the gangplank. The Indians were not so
quick, weak from hunger, confused, so the Federales encouraged them along with
vicious blows from their rifles. The women wailed and held their children, cowering
from the swinging rifles, while their menfolk, uncommonly small and frail, tried in vain
to protect them.

It was a familiar sight to Ernst. He recalled similar scenes from the war: the night
they had left Kummersdorf and herded their slave labour, mostly wailing Jews, onto
the trains in Berlin. He smiled at the recollection, feeling a stab of nostalgia, but
managed to suppress it as the first of the Indians stumbled across the gangplank with
their hands on their heads. Chavez was leading them down, his shirt unbuttoned and
flapping loosely, his broad hat tilted over his eyes as he gave his instructions.

Ernst felt the sun’s fierce heat as he studied the village, a drab collection of leaning huts
made from palmetto trunks and vines, dogs and goats sniffing lethargically at the dust,
babies lying on corn shucks. The poverty was total, the old and young emaciated,
sunlight falling on scattered gourds, woven baskets and banana leaves, on the giant rat
that raced across the clearing and vanished into the forest. Ernst looked along the jetty.
The Ache Indians had just left it. They were now at the edge of the clearing with the
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Federales surrounding them. Chavez was waving his hands, telling Ernst to disembark;
so Ernst finished his beer, crushed the can, threw it overboard, watched it glinting as it
bobbed along the river and was swept out of sight. Then he went to the gangplank,
crossed without enthusiasm, above the muddy, oil-slicked water, and finally stepped
onto the soil of what would be his new home.

God, he thought, what a piss-hole!

Chavez, an adolescent martinet, was standing beside an emaciated native in short
pants and a torn, filthy shirt. Chavez waved Ernst forward. When he reached the pair, he
noted that the man was elderly, had rheumy eyes, and seemed nervous.

“This is Salano Valentinas,” Chavez said. ‘The head of the village. Anything you
want, you ask him. He is here as your eyes, ears and hands.’

‘Welcome, senor,” Valentinas said, his voice as rough as sandpaper. ‘I trust you had a
good journey.’

‘Never mind my journey,’ Ernst said. ‘Just show me where I’ll be staying.’

“Yes, senor, of course.’

He turned away to lead Ernst and Chavez across the clearing, past the captured
Ache Indians, who were now being herded up into the backs of two trucks, the men
being punched and thumped with the butts of rifles, the women and children wailing.

‘What happens to them?’ Ernst asked.

“They will be sold as workers and whores to those living in compounds in the jungle -
mostly Germans, of course. Some of them are being taken to your compound. You can
do what you want with them.’

‘Does President Morinigo know about this?’

‘I don’t know. Maybe not. The Federales who collect them are controlled by
Morinigo’s hatchet man, General Stroessner. General Stroessner knows everything.’
More than you can imagine, Ernst thought, as they crossed the clearing, surrounded
by the huts of palmetto leaves and vine, scattering goats and chickens, passing
Indians roasting sweet potatoes, eventually stopping at a small, badly battered, open-
topped truck that was parked at the edge of the narrow track snaking into the forest.

‘I’'m not staying here?’ Ernst asked.

‘No, senor,” Chavez replied. ‘Your compound is ten kilometres away, hidden deep in
the forest. There, even aircraft cannot see you. You will feel safe there.’

The headman, Valentinas, climbed up onto the open rear of the truck, Chavez took the
driver’s seat, and Ernst clambered up beside the latter. Chavez turned on the ignition,
accelerated inexpertly, and then the truck lurched off into the forest, where the trees kept
the sun out. Imagining that it would be cooler in the interior, Ernst was shocked to find
that it wasn’t: that the humidity was much worse, overwhelming him, almost making
him gag. Feeling ill, he glanced about him, taking in the riot of vegetation, tangled vines
and soaring trees in the chattering green gloom relieved only by shafts of sunlight
beaming down on the steaming banana leaves. The narrow track was pitted with holes,
coiling snake-like between the trees and disappearing ahead of them. Chavez was
beaming with pleasure, clearly enjoying the drive; this made him look more like his
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proper age, which was, Ernst surmised with disbelief, not much more than eighteen. The
truck growled and coughed, bouncing roughly over potholes, racing through shafts of
sunlight that beamed down through the trees and illuminated the steaming vegetation.
Ernst was suffocating. He was sweating and felt feverish. Glancing over his shoulder, he
saw the old man in the back, leaning forward with his chin on his raised knees, his
rheumy eyes fixed on nothing.

My new companions, Ernst thought with revulsion. I’ll go mad in this hellhole!

The drive seemed to take forever, an endless journey through heat and gloom, but
eventually the truck burst into the sunlight of another cleared area. Lines of barbed
wire formed a fence around an expansive wooden building, its sloping roof supported
by tree trunks and covered in woven vines and banana leaves. Chavez drove the truck
through the open gates in the fence and braked inside the compound, creating a cloud
of dust.

‘Scheisse!” Ernst barked, coughing to clear his throat of the dust as he climbed down
from the truck. ‘Are you trying to choke us, you fool?’

Chavez just laughed, then led Ernst and Valentinas across the clearing towards the
big house with the open veranda running all the way around it, under a roof raised
above the top rooms, which were open to the elements and obviously used only by
the servants. The compound was busy, filled with men, women and children, most
gathered around open fires, roasting sweet potatoes. Though watching Ernst’s arrival
with nervous curiosity, they made no move towards him.

“The barbed wire is electrified,” Chavez informed him. ‘Make sure you don’t touch it.
So, senor, here we are!’

They climbed the steps of the veranda to stop under an awning of vine and leaves. A
table and chairs had been placed near the entrance to the house. A native woman, too
stout to be healthy, as ugly as a bat, stood by the table, wearing a white blouse and long
skirt, a towel draped over her right arm. She bowed to Ernst. He simply grunted and
glanced about him. On the table were two bottles of brandy, half a dozen empty glasses,
and a cup filled with fat, white, wriggling worms.

Seeing what Ernst was looking at, Chavez grinned and picked up a worm. He
watched it wriggling between his fingers for a moment, then bit off its head, spat it out
and swallowed the rest of it. ‘Koro worms!” he explained, picking the cup off the table
and holding it out to Ernst. “Try one, senor!” When Ernst shuddered with revulsion,
Chavez chortled and put the cup back down. “You will soon learn to enjoy them,” he
said. ‘You will learn to enjoy many strange things here. Please, senor, take a chair.’

Ernst took one of the wooden chairs by the table, placing his pistol and holster
upon it. The native woman then knelt in front of him, to laboriously pull off his boots
and wipe his feet with the towel. When this was done, she shuffled backwards, still
on her knees, until Chavez barked another instruction at her. Standing upright, she
filled the two glasses with brandy and handed them to Ernst and Chavez. The latter
offered his gap-toothed smile and held his glass up in a toast. Ignoring him, Ernst
drank most of the brandy in one thirsty gulp. Casting his gaze over the compound,

Phoenix: Projekt Saucer Book 2 E-book Version © 2003 W.A.Harbinson



76

which resembled an untended farmyard, covered in smoke and filled with worthless
human livestock, he realised that he was not thrilled to be here.

‘So,” he said, not trying to hide his bitterness, ‘this is it: my new home.’

‘Yes, senor,” Chavez said.

‘And this so-called headman — “ Ernst indicated Valentinas with a contemptuous
wave of his hand — ‘now works for me.’

“That is correct, senor. He will translate and tell you all you need to know. He will
also take care of the supplies, which will be shipped in from Asuncion every month. He
already has his instructions, senor, and will not let you down.’

‘I hope not,” Ernst said.

Chavez finished his brandy and placed his glass back on the table. ‘Now I must be
off, senor. 1 go back to Asuncion. I work on the gunboat that sails regularly between
there and here, so we will meet quite a lot. If you need me, just call. Goodbye... How
you say it? Auf Weidersehen! Until the next time, senor.’

Chavez waved, sauntered in a leisurely manner back to the truck, climbed in and
drove out of the compound with a lot of rattling and banging.

‘Dreck!” Ernst muttered, feeling tired and impatient. Pouring another stiff brandy, he
ordered Valentinas to gather together on the veranda the women selected as potential
household staff. Valentinas brought a dozen of them, some young, others old. After
inspecting them, as he had often done in Nordhausen - pinching here, prodding there,
checking their teeth - Ernst rejected the eldest and most ugly, picking mostly the young
to serve him, with one middle-aged crone to be in charge of them. Those chosen bowed
solemnly, fearfully, and then were ushered by the old crone up the stairs at the side of
the house, to sort themselves out on the open floor beneath the raised roof. Until Ernst
decided otherwise, that’s where they would live from now on, separated from family and
friends, working only for him.

He had another drink of brandy, feeling marginally better for it, then strapped his
holster on and stepped off the porch, followed by the obedient Valentinas. Disgusted by
the seemingly disorganised state of the compound, he told Valentinas to get rid of the
open fires and move the natives back into the ramshackle living accommodations
located on both sides of the clearing. The natives so housed would then be used as the
labour force required to dig out the centre of the compound and turn it into a reinforced,
concrete landing pad for the flying saucers. Also, though the barbed-wire fence was
already electrified, he wanted to erect watchtowers and have them manned at all times
with machine-gun crews.

Ernst barked his numerous instructions with renewed, drunken vigour while
Valentinas, always standing in his shadow, nodded affirmatively.

‘Any mistakes,” Ernst informed him, ‘and you’ll be dealt with personally, harshly, by
me. Understood?’

‘Yes, senor.’

The sun had started sinking when Ernst returned to the house, this time letting
Valentinas lead him inside to show him around. There were two floors beneath the open
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floor at the top, both with balconies overlooking the living room. The beds in the rooms
located along the balconies were imported four-posters covered in mosquito nets, and
the bedroom furniture, Ernst noted, was mostly imported German antique. The
downstairs living room, however, was filled with well-cushioned bamboo chairs and
sofas, bookcases of waxed pine, and low tables carved from local woods. All in all, it
was surprisingly comfortable, if a touch too exotic.

Satisfied, Ernst tackled a light supper of bread, cheese and fresh fruit, all washed
down with an intemperate amount of brandy. Now more drunk than he had been since
leaving Germany, he thought of his homeland, grew unexpectedly maudlin, and had
vivid recollections of the women he had known during the war: that lascivious stripper,
Brigette, who had performed in the Franzosischestrasse; that Polish woman, Kosilewski,
who had pleasured him to betray him; even Ingrid, his wife, who had loved him but
eventually came to hate him, before dying with his children in an air-raid. Those and the
others, some willing, some not, some whores and some unfortunate camp inmates used
in military brothels. Those women and many more. So many women. So many ways.
Ernst remembered and was inflamed, wanting to have them all back, and so barked for
Valentinas to bring him a girl - the youngest and prettiest of those upstairs. His wizened
servant soon did so, fetching one from the top floor, and then he beat a hasty retreat
when Ernst glared fiercely at him.

‘Yes, senor. Of course, senor! 1 will be on the veranda if you need me. I’ll sleep out
there, senor.’

Satiated with food and drink, Ernst tried to undress the young girl, a mere stripling,
and beat her badly when she tried to resist. When even the beating failed to work, but
simply reduced her to tears, he threw the sobbing creature onto the floor and stormed
out to the veranda.

‘I will show you what discipline is,” he said to Valentinas, ‘and you can tell all the
others. Bring in the girl’s mother.’

When the girl’s terrified mother was brought into the living room, Ernst again told the
sobbing girl to remove her clothes. When the girl refused to do so, Ernst unholstered his
pistol and placed it to the head of her mother, who was now also sobbing.

“Tell her that if she doesn’t do as I say, Valentinas, I’ll blow her mother’s brains out.’

‘Yes, senor. Of course.’

Valentinas relayed the message and the sobbing girl, staring at her fearful mother,
finally nodded agreement. The mother, still crying, was led out by Valentinas, as Ernst
ordered the trembling girl to strip and lie back on the floor. When she had done so, he
removed his own clothes, then stood over her, legs outspread, and told her to raise
herself to her knees. Trembling, her eyes as big as spoons, she did as she was told.

“You will do everything I tell you,” Ernst said. ‘Do you understand what I'm saying?’

‘Yes,’” the girl whispered, speaking English, which Ernst understood.

“Your fear excites me,” Ernst told her. ‘Your degradation is my joy. Now dry your
damned eyes.’

Placing his hands on the back of her head, he pulled the girl towards him, closing his
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own eyes in expectation, making the most of his new life. The days would be long here.
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Chapter Ten

The saucer was one of the early models, a mere thirty feet in diameter, ascending
vertically, silently, towards a dark field in Virginia, its lights flashing on and off, the
seamless surface a silvery white, gleaming in a vast sea of stars, parallel to a Gorgonzola
moon. Reaching the ground, it didn’t quite touch it, but merely hovered just above it,
swaying slightly from side to side, until its four hydraulic legs emerged obliquely from
its base and dug into the soft earth. The saucer’s lights blinked out, its silvery-white
sheen turned to grey, then its steps angled down from the base.

Two men in black coveralls dropped out, followed by Wilson.

Straightening up, Wilson glanced around him, taking in the grassy hills, the empty
fields, the shivering trees, then he walked across the grass to the unfenced road, where a
jet-black limousine was parked. Its windows were tinted and the headlights turned off,
but its rear door opened as he approached. When he slipped into the car, the flying
saucer in the field took off again. It rose slowly, almost silently, to a very great height, its
lights flashing on and off around the rim to form a kaleidoscope. Eventually it became
dime-sized, then a mere spot of white light. That light hovered in the air, as if just
another star, then it suddenly shot away and disappeared.

Wilson took the rear seat in the limousine. Beside him, Artur Nebe was wearing a
grey suit with shirt and tie, looking uncomfortable out of uniform.

Too many years in the SS, Wilson thought, with a pistol always holstered on his
waist. He must feel naked without it.

‘Guten tag, Nebe,” Wilson said. ‘How is life in the real world?’

‘I don’t like all the politics,” Nebe said. ‘I should be back in Antarctica.’

‘You will be. Today. Once we get this meeting over with. After that, you’ll have
no reason to stay here. You’ll come back with me.” He noticed that Nebe was staring
intently at him. ‘What is it? My face?’

‘Sorry, sir. Yes, you look different. About twenty years younger.’

‘Not like an eighty-two-year old?’

‘More like sixty-two.’

Wilson smiled. ‘Plastic surgery and skin grafts. Dr King is doing a good job of
preserving me in particular and researching longevity in general. I’ve also had certain
joints replaced with artificial ones, steel and fibre, which King produced during his on-
going cyborg research.’

‘He certainly seems to be doing well.

‘The knowledge that he can experiment without restraints of any kind has sent his
imagination soaring and filled him with energy. He’s become a man obsessed with his
work and now cares for little else. He doesn’t have to be watched any longer; his love of
work has enslaved him. He’s all ours, Nebe. Completely.’

‘And his other needs?’

‘We’ve given him total freedom when it comes to the comfort girls. The sex is all he
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really wants when he’s not working. The needs of most men are basic.’

Nebe offered a rare, chilling smile, being himself addicted to the abducted girls used
as whores, or ‘comfort girls’, in the brothel in the Antarctic colony. ‘I’'m sure he didn’t
get sex like that in Hendon, England. That alone should enslave him.’

‘It’s certainly helped him forget his wife and children. Family love treads on thin ice.’
Wilson rolled his window down and gazed out at the moonlit fields. The trees were
silhouetted against a star-filled sky; the wind scarcely stirred. “When is General Samford
expected?’

Nebe checked his wristwatch. ‘He should be here in five minutes. He was told to be
punctual.’

‘Who arranged the meeting?’

‘A CIA agent, Sam Fuller. I’d heard he was on your trail. He was in charge of
disinformation regarding the Socorro crash, back in 1947, and he went to have a talk
with Mike Bradley.’

‘The one who pursued me during the war?’

‘Yes. Wounded at Kiel harbour. The explosion set by Ernst Stoll. You paid him a visit
the night of the Socorro crash and warned him off his UFO investigations.’

‘Ah, yes, I remember. Have you any idea what he told Fuller?’

‘According to Fuller, nothing. But just knowing that Fuller had been to see him made
me suspicious. Then, when he also went to see von Braun and Miethe, I knew it was us
he was after.’

‘So?’

‘I contacted him in Washington DC. A meeting was arranged. Same place - right here
- and same time. When we met, I told him I knew what he was after and that we were
responsible.’

‘Did you tell him where we’re located?’

‘I confirmed it. He already knew, of course, though not in too much detail. He’d
interrogated Captain Schaeffer of U-boat 977, the one that took us to Plata del Mar,
Argentina, and worked the rest of our route out from there. So he knows we’re in Nue
Schwabenland, though he still doesn’t know the exact location. First US confirmation of
the existence of our flying saucers came, he said, through the investigations of Operation
Paperclip at the close of the war. Mike Bradley also worked on that, which is why he
turned up at Kiel and later became obsessed with UFOs. That knowledge, as well as
Bradley’s turnaround after the Socorro crash, explain why Fuller went with First
Lieutenant Harris to see him in Socorro. Now, a select few in the White House, the
Pentagon, and the CIA, including Fuller, know we’re hidden somewhere in Antarctica.
They also know we have flying saucers more highly developed than those being
constructed in the United States and Canada.’

‘What made General Samford change his mind about meeting us? When I personally
tried to set up this meeting, his minions said, “No deal”.’

‘Because you were using a pseudonym then - calling yourself Aldridge - and they
didn’t relate the name to Wilson, which is who they were looking for. Also, though they
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knew we were in Antarctica, they didn't believe how advanced our saucers were and
assumed we were just a bunch of fanatical Nazis not much different, though possibly
crazier, than those who had fled to Paraguay. Reportedly, Samford, protective of his
position as US Head of Intelligence, was outraged that his minions would even consider
such a meeting. I believe he described us as a bunch of escaped war criminals and
demanded that an expeditionary force be sent to Antarctica to get us out and bring us
back to the United States, to be tried as war criminals.’

‘Rear-Admiral Byrd’s Operation Highjump.’

‘Correct.’

‘Which we put to rout. Byrd’s expedition was then cut short. The official explanation
was hurricane winds.’

‘Also correct. But Samford still refused to believe we were that advanced
technologically and asked for Byrd to be psychiatrically evaluated. He also demanded
that all of Byrd’s references to our flying saucers be removed from his official report.’

‘So what made the morally outraged US Head of Intelligence change his mind?’

‘I arranged for one of our saucers to hover over his house one evening, in the middle
of a party he was giving in the garden of his home in Alexandria, Virginia. A lot of other
top brass and their wives were in attendance and all of them saw the saucer. It was
hovering right over them, casting its shadow on the lawn. That’s what changed the
stubborn General Samford’s mind. He’s a man who sees reason.’

Wilson smiled. ‘It must have come as quite a shock to Samford’s guests.’

‘It sure did. All of those present were sworn to secrecy. When a couple of the wives
gossiped about the incident, their husbands were transferred to Alaska. That was fair
enough warning to the others. No one’s talked since.’

‘Who would believe them anyway? Project Grudge is now treating all those who
report UFOs as cranks. Witnesses are afraid of public ridicule, so those best equipped to
confirm the reality of the saucers - radar operators and pilots - are learning to keep their
mouths shut. We have little to fear.’

‘There they are,” Nebe said softly.

Looking beyond the driver’s head, Wilson saw the headlights of another car
approaching along the dark road. It slowed down and pulled into the verge, then stopped
about twenty yards from the limousine. Another set of headlights appeared behind it,
stopping further away. When the lights of both vehicles blinked out, Wilson saw that the
other vehicle was an army troop-truck.

‘Did you know about this?” he asked of Nebe.

‘I told him he could bring some protection. I didn’t mean a whole troop-truck.’

‘No problem,” Wilson said.

He stepped from the limousine as the troops were spilling out of the truck to form a
cordon across the road. All of the troops were armed. General Samford, in uniform,
followed by a man in plain clothes, clambered out of the other car as Nebe joined
Wilson. The two groups approached one another, stopping about three feet apart.

With his lean, almost ascetic face, General Samford did not look like a man to take
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fools lightly. Fuller, on the other hand, was darkly handsome, clearly cynical,
deceptively relaxed and slyly watchful. He looked like a man who could handle trouble
and probably relished it.

Four of the armed troops came up behind Samford and Fuller, stopping a few yards
farther back.

Nebe glanced at Fuller. ‘So, we meet again.” Fuller just nodded. Nebe indicated
Wilson with his finger. ‘This is him,” he told Fuller. ‘Herr Wilson, this is CIA agent Sam
Fuller, and...’

‘General Samford,” Fuller confirmed. ‘Head of US Intelligence.’

‘I believe you wanted a talk,” Samford said, sounding like a man suppressing anger.
‘Well, here I am.’

‘Are you nervous, General?’

‘What?’

‘You’ve brought a lot of armed troops to what I’d hoped would be an informal,
friendly meeting.’

‘I don’t have friendly meetings with escaped war criminals. Nor do I like traitorous
Americans and their Nazi cohorts.’

Wilson was amused. “You wrong me. I’'m not a man who changes sides. I’ve always
been exactly what I am, which is a man on his own. I can’t be a traitor, because I’ve
never been a patriot. I go where my work takes me, General Samford, whether it’s here,
Nazi Germany, or the Antarctic. You’re a soldier, General. I'm a scientist. That’s the
only difference between us.’

‘You’re just a goddamned Nazi,” Samford said. “You and your whole bunch.’

‘I am not, and never have been, a Nazi, General Samford. I have no political
allegiances, no religion, no belief in any government, left or right. I live for my work,
which is science, as you live for the army. You’ve chosen what you want to be,
General, and I’ve done the same. We’re two sides of the same coin.’

General Samford was obviously outraged by the very suggestion, but before he could
explode, Fuller said soothingly, ‘Okay, you’ve got us both here, Wilson. Now what do
you want?’

‘Can I take it you’re both here with the full knowledge of the head of the Air Matériel
Command?’

‘General Vandenberg knows we’re here,” Samford said, practically gritting his teeth.
‘Now what do you want?’

‘We want to trade,” Wilson said.

For a moment even Fuller looked dumbfounded, but General Samford could barely
contain himself.

‘What?’ he asked, as if choking on a bone.

“You heard me,” Wilson said. ‘As you clearly know, we’re not the only ones with
flying saucers, though ours are certainly the most advanced. The US and Canada are
both involved in similar construction projects and have already had plenty of test flights.
The Harold Dahl and Kenneth Arnold sightings of June 1947, over the Cascades, were
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actually of crude US-Canadian saucers being constructed in secret in the wilds of
Canada. Your saucers, General Samford, not ours. But no matter how long you take or
how much you spend, your saucers can never be that advanced without further
knowledge of my technology. I, too, have certain needs, General, so I’'m willing to
trade.’

‘Idon’t—-"

‘Why would you do that?” Fuller interjected, his gaze ever watchful and direct. ‘I
mean, that would be inviting our technology to catch up with yours, and then...” He
shrugged and grinned. ‘We’d be evenly matched. Then we’d come in and get you.’

Wilson was unperturbed. ‘Not quite true, Mr Fuller. In return for what I need, I’ll
trade certain secrets of my technology, but I’ll be doing it a little at a time and only when
I’ve already surpassed what I’m offering to you. Though this will benefit you greatly,
you’ll always remain behind us, which ensures that we’ll retain the technological
advantages we have at this time.’

‘A balance of power,” Samford said.

“You might call it that,” Wilson replied.

‘A seesaw arrangement, right? A tricky manoeuvre.’

“That’s right, Mr Fuller.’

‘And just what are we supposed to hand over for all this?” Samford asked, still
sounding choked.

‘’'m in constant need of various mass-produced components and equipment, as well
as food and other supplies. We shipped a tremendous amount of it in throughout the war
years, but it’s finally beginning to run out and our saucers are not yet large enough to
bring in the bulk we need. You’ll do that for us.’

General Samford was red-faced, clenching and unclenching his fists, but Fuller
seemed merely intrigued. ‘If we do that for you,” he pointed out, ‘we’ll find out exactly
where you are.’

‘I don’t care,” Wilson said. ‘That information won’t help you. You can’t get
conventional aircraft anywhere near us and your saucers have a long way to go before
they can be used to combat us, either with troops or with weapons.’

‘So if we can’t get in with conventional aircraft, how will we get the supplies to you?’

‘We’re located at the base of a deep, hidden gorge in Neu Schwabenland, or Queen
Maud Land, which isn’t accessible by conventional aircraft. You’ll be given a location at
the other side of that mountain range. There we’ve already hacked storage spaces out of
the base of the mountain and will soon have them manned all year round. You’ll drop
the supplies, and we’ll then pick them up and transport them back here in our saucers.
As and when required.’

‘But eventually,” Fuller said with a smile not reflected in his cold, steady gaze, ‘with
the technological information you’ll be feeding us in return, bit by bit, our technology, if
never quite matching yours, will be enough to give us saucers capable of flying down
into your hidden base.’

‘By which time,” Wilson replied, ‘we’ll have developed some highly advanced form
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of defence to keep out unwanted saucers - infrasound barriers or heat shields. We’re
already working on those.’

“You may not succeed,” General Samford said hopefully, ‘in which case we could
eventually get at you.’

‘That’s a chance I’'m willing to take,” Wilson said. ‘And I don’t take chances lightly.’
Samford and Fuller glanced at one another, the former outraged, the latter cynically
amused.

‘What if we reject your proposal?” Samford said. ‘Seems to me, we can just leave you
in the Antarctic and forget your existence. A few saucers flying here and there aren’t
going to give us much trouble. Most folks already think the saucers are piloted by Little
Green Men or only witnessed by cranks. What can you do to us?’

‘Remember the Mantell crash?’” Nebe asked, breaking his icy silence. ‘The first US
Air Force officer to die chasing a UFO?’

“Yes,” Samford said, ‘I remember. He either died chasing a Rawin weather balloon or
because of a lack of oxygen when he foolishly climbed too high.’

‘It’s a well-known fact,” Nebe said softly, chillingly, ‘that Mantell’s last words were
about something metallic and tremendous in size. That was our saucer.’

Samford glanced at Fuller, then at Wilson. ‘I don’t believe you’re that far advanced,’
he said. ‘I think Mantell died from a lack of oxygen, maybe chasing Venus, so I'm
calling your bluff.’

“You reject my proposal?” Wilson asked.

‘Yes.’

“Then I’ll give you proof, General Samford. I’ll give you, the Pentagon and the White
House the kind of proof you won’t readily forget. Later this month my flying saucers
will surround Washington DC. Some will be piloted; others will be small, remote-
controlled devices of the kind called “Foo-fighters” during the war. For your
entertainment, we’ll even fly around the White House. We’ll cause chaos on every radar
screen in the area. If your aircraft try pursuing us, we’ll play cat-and-mouse with them.
Should that not make you change your mind, we’ll repeat the performance a week later.
I think, General Samford, that your superiors, including the President, will think
differently after this demonstration.’

‘I’ll believe that when I see it,” Samford said. ‘Now go to hell, Wilson.’

Wilson merely smiled and then returned with Nebe to the limousine. As he was
slipping into the rear seat, he glanced back over his shoulder and saw Samford in angry
consultation with Fuller. Fuller was shaking his head, as if saying, ‘No,” but Samford
was obviously overruling him. As Wilson closed his door, Samford shouted at the armed
soldiers. Instantly, they readied their weapons and raced forward to surround the
limousine.

‘Too late,” Nebe said.

Suddenly, a great pyramid of dazzling light beamed down over the advancing
soldiers. A bass humming sound, shaking even the limousine, was accompanied by a
fierce, swirling wind that bent the trees on either side of the road and bowled the
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advancing soldiers over. Their weapons fell from their hands as they were swept across
the road, bellowing with fear and pain as what seemed like a tornado slammed them into
one another or against the trees.

Wilson caught a glimpse of General Samford crouching low, holding his peaked cap
on with one hand, shading his eyes with the other, squinting up at that dazzling,
descending, pyramidal light as Fuller tugged him back to their own car, just outside the
roaring whirlpool of wind, now filled with flying leaves, blades of grass, pebbles and
dust.

‘Let’s go!” Nebe snapped.

The driver of the limousine reversed away from the tornado created by the descending
saucer and then headed back across the field. There, a second saucer, thirty foot in
diameter, had descended and was resting on its four hydraulic legs, gleaming silvery in
moonlight. The driver stopped about twenty yards from the parked saucer, letting
Wilson and Nebe climb out, then he reversed again and bounced back across the field to
the road.

The first saucer was now visible, hovering high in the sky, its base spinning and
emitting that great pyramidal light, creating the hurricane-like wind that was slamming
the soldiers against the trees or causing them to roll between them, across the grass verge
beyond the road.

The limousine raced away as the dazzling light blinked out, abruptly returning the
night to darkness. The saucer ascended vertically, rapidly, until it was just a pinprick of
light positioned high in the sky, a single star amongst many. Eventually, the swirling
wind settled down, letting the bruised, dazed soldiers stand upright again. They all
looked up in awe as the second saucer, containing Wilson and Nebe, also ascended
vertically, hovered briefly in the sky, then shot off at unreal speed, heading south before
blinking out.

‘We have a problem,” Fuller said.

Phoenix: Projekt Saucer Book 2 E-book Version © 2003 W.A.Harbinson



86

Chapter Eleven

The telephone call came during supper. Nichola, now four years of age, still blonde
and cuter than ever, was no longer in her high chair, but sitting instead with Dwight
and Beth at the table, having cookies and milk while her parents contented themselves
with coffee. It was the month of July in 1952. Though it was pretty late in the
evening, the sun hadn’t sunk yet and the velvet sky was streaked with pink where the
stars didn’t show. When the telephone rang, Beth stared at it but made no move to
pick it up.

‘Okay,” Dwight said, feeling guilty and tense when he saw the look on her face. ‘It’s
for me, right? I’ll get it.” Though Beth was sitting beside the phone, he got up and
walked around the table to pick it up, which placed him practically against her shoulder
and made her lean away from him. ‘Hi,” he said. ‘Cap’n Randall.’

‘Hate to call at this time of night,” Bob Jackson said, ‘but you have to come over here.
They want you right now.’

‘Over where? To the ATIC?’

“Yeah, right. That’s where I’m calling from. They want you immediately.’

‘Who the hell are they?’

‘Members of the Technical Intelligence Division, Air Matériel Command. They want
to talk to you about what we’ve been doing since Project Sign was dissolved and
replaced with Project Grudge.’

Even though now well prepared for the unexpected, Dwight was astounded at this.
‘Now? At this time?’

‘Yeah. They got me out of bed. They appear to have a very urgent need for some
detailed case histories. They’ve also come to discuss your complaints about how they’ve
been treating us.’

‘Shit!”

‘No shit, baby.’

‘Okay,” Dwight said, ‘I’'m coming.” He dropped the phone and and stared at Beth,
trying to hold her gaze, though he couldn’t help shrugging forlornly. ‘Top brass. I swear,
Beth, I wasn’t expecting this. Apparently they want to interview me - right now, in the
ATIC. They’re waiting over there for me.’

‘Right now? This evening?’

‘Unbelieveable, right?’

Nichola was breaking up a couple of cookies and spreading the crumbs out on the
table.

‘Why don’t you tell them to go to hell? Tell them you have a right to your own life,
even if in the Air Force.’

‘I can’t, Beth. It’s top brass.’

“That doesn’t give them the right. Lord knows, they’re working you into the ground
already; you have a right to your own time.’
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‘It must be something special, Beth.’

‘Oh, yeah,” she replied. ‘Something special. Every time we try to plan something, get
together, something special comes up. This marriage won’t last the course, Dwight.’

‘Bullshit.’

‘No, it’s not. You work night and day for those people and get no thanks for it.
They’ve even consistently denied you promotion, which is practically punishment. So
what’s the point, Dwight?’

Not knowing what to say, Dwight glanced down at his daughter. She was licking her
index finger and drawing funny faces in the crumbs from the cookies, her brow wrinkled
in deep thought. She was also whispering words he couldn’t hear and perhaps wouldn’t
understand.

‘Promotion’s not the point,” Dwight said. ‘I do this because it’s my job and that’s all
there is to it.’

‘Promotion may not be the point, but punishment is. They’ve consistently denied you
promotion and you know why that is. It’s the UFOs, Dwight. They don’t approve of
what you’re doing. It’s a pure PR exercise and someone had to be landed with it. You
got the job, but they don’t want you to succeed and so they’re making it hard on you.
God, Dwight, you’re a fool!’

Dwight knew it was true. He just didn’t know the reasons. On the one hand, the UFOs
were treated as a threat to national security, on the other the reporting of them was
discouraged. It just didn’t make sense. No more than it made sense to establish a UFO
programme and then block every move its members made. Beth was right - it was a
goddamned PR exercise... and maybe he was the fall guy. He might find out tonight.
After kissing Nichola on the head, making her giggle and squirm, he went to the closet
and pulled out his light jacket. He was wearing civilian clothes, his home clothes, and
didn’t intend changing into his uniform at this time of night. Let the bastards see that at
least. Putting his jacket on, he went to the door, opened it, but then turned back to Beth.

‘I used to count on your support,” he told her, ‘but these days I only get flak. What
happened, Beth?’

‘You traded me in for your work.’

He stared steadily at her, feeling hurt, then stepped out onto the porch, letting the door
snap shut behind him. The pink sky was turning darker, letting the stars come out, and
he stood there for a moment, gazing across the airstrip, taking comfort from the aircraft
hangars and the many parked planes silhouetted in the twilight. Seeing them, he was
reminded of how much simpler life had been when he’d been flying the B-29s over
India, China and the Pacific during World War II. Now the US was fighting a war in
Korea. Dwight sometimes wished he could take part in it, instead of remaining here to
chase UFOs and dodge flak that came from his superiors and Beth instead of the enemy.
Sighing, still feeling wounded and hurt, he started down the steps to the yard.

The door opened and snapped shut behind him, then he heard Beth call out to him.
When he turned back, she hurried down the steps to cup his face in her hands.

‘Oh, honey,” she said, shaking her head in a woeful manner and letting her thumbs
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slide down to his lips, ‘I’'m so sorry. I really am. It’s not you, sweetheart — it’s what
they’re doing to us. To us. The three of us. We’re a family, a good family, a team, and
they could tear us apart. That’s what frightens me, Dwight.’

‘There’s no need,” he replied. ‘There’s no danger of that, Beth.” He removed one
of her hands from his cheek and pressed his lips to it, moved by a rush of emotion
that brought tears to his eyes. ‘We’ll be okay. I promise.’

‘I worry,” she insisted. “There’s more than one kind of danger. There’s the threat to
this marriage — that’s one - but we’re okay if we know that. What we can’t fight, what |
think we can’t defeat, is what happens to so many of those who do the work that you do.
That’s what worries me most, Dwight.’

He knew what she meant and was troubled to be reminded of it. Too many Air Force
officers involved in UFO investigations ended up with career problems, broken
marriages and ill health. Too many were denied promotion, punished for cooked-up
misdemeanours, or posted to inhospitable climes, often separated from their families.
Too many for comfort. Beth had cause for anxiety.

‘I love you,’ she said. “You know that, honey. I’m just concerned for you.’

‘I love you, too, Beth, but I can’t help your concern.’

She sighed. ‘No, I guess not. I’ll just have to be stronger. We’re a family, right,
Dwight?’

‘Yeah,” he said. ‘A real family.’

‘Then that’s all that matters.” She embraced him and kissed him, clinging
passionately to him, then let him go and wiped tears from her eyes. ‘You hurry on, now.
Take no mind of me. I’ll be warming the bed, Dwight.’

“That sounds nice.” He turned away, wiping his own eyes, and hurried along the
sidewalk, now deserted at this late hour, past the other houses of the officers quarters,
heading for Wright Field, not looking forward to the meeting, but protected by Beth’s
love.
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Chapter Twelve

The atmosphere in the ATIC operation’s room was decidedly tense. Three US Air Force
generals were sitting around Dwight’s desk, all with thick wallet folders in front of them.
Dwight’s friend, Captain Bob Jackson, had placed a second chair beside Dwight’s,
behind the desk, and was sitting in it, facing the three generals. Seeing Dwight, he stood
up and introduced him to generals Lamont, Conroy and Hackleman. After exchanging
salutes, Dwight took the chair beside Bob, facing the generals over his own, paper-
littered desk.

A brief, uncomfortable silence ensued, until General Hackleman, silvery-haired,
deeply suntanned and lined, coughed into his clenched fist, clearing his throat, then said,
‘Sorry to call you out at this time of night, Cap’n, but this matter is urgent.’

“Yes, sir,” Dwight said.

‘It’s come to our attention that contrary to air force policy, as laid down for Project
Grudge, you’ve been openly supporting the UFO hypothesis and insisting that you have
evidence for the physical reality of the phenomenon.’

‘I think it’s important, sir. And I should remind you that Project Grudge was replaced
in April by Project Blue Book, for which there’s a more positive policy.’

‘I know all that,” General Lamont said testily, ‘but we still want to hear what evidence
you’re basing your assumptions on.’

‘Analysis of the photos of UFOs, done in the specialist Photo Reconnaissance
Laboratory, here at Wright Field, have confirmed the saucer-shaped configuration of the
sighted UFOs.’

‘We know all that as well,” Lamont interrupted rudely. ‘We’ve seen the photographic
evidence. But what makes you think they’re real, solid objects?’

Dwight refused to be bullied. ‘With the saucer-shaped configuration and manoeuvring
capabilities of the UFOs verified, what was needed was confirmation of what appeared
to be their unusually large size and remarkable top speeds, as well as the fact that they
appear to be able to hover, almost motionless, in the air. Regarding this, we received a
report from Navy Commander R.B. McLaughlin, who’d worked throughout 1948 and
1949 with a team of engineers, technicians and scientists on a classified Skyhook
balloon project, located in the Navy’s top-secret guided-missile test and development
area in the White Sands Proving Ground, New Mexico.” Dwight took his time leafing
through one of his wallet folders, before pulling out a report and speaking while
glancing repeatedly at it. ‘According to that report, on April 24, 1949, at ten hundred
hours in an absolutely clear Sunday morning, when McLaughlin and his team were
preparing to launch one of their big Skyhook balloons - a hundred feet in diameter - the
whole crew saw a UFO which, though high up, was clearly elliptical in shape and had a
whitish-silver colour.’

‘Could have been another Skyhook balloon,” Hackleman said. ‘Or maybe even
Venus.’
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‘No, sir,” Dwight replied. ‘Neither. With a theodolite, stop-watch, and 25-power
telescope, Commander McLaughlin’s team was able to track the UFO as it dropped from
an angle of elevation of forty-five degrees to twenty-five degrees, then abruptly shot
upward and disappeared. Even after putting a reduction factor on the data recorded on
the theodolite, Commander McLaughlin estimated that the UFO was approximately
forty feet wide and a hundred feet long, had been at an altitude of fifty-six miles, and
was travelling at seven miles per second, or approximately 25,000 miles per hour.’

‘That’s impossible!” General Conroy snapped angrily.

‘I’1l admit, sir, that there’s some legitimate doubt regarding the accuracy of the speed
and altitude figures that Commander McLaughlin’s team arrived at from the data they
measured with the theodolite. This, however, doesn’t mean much in the sense that even
if they were off by a factor of one hundred per cent, the speeds and altitude of the UFO
would be extraordinary. I’d also remind you that various members of McLaughlin’s
team studied the object through a 25-power telescope and swore that it was a flat, oval-
shaped object.’

‘And I’d remind you, Cap’n Randall, that Commander McLaughlin had no right to
release that report, let alone write the article he published in 7rue magazine in March the
following year. Small wonder he’s been transferred back to sea.’

‘With all due respect, sir, matters of naval discipline are not my concern. I was sent
the report to read and analyze, which is just what I’ve done. In my view it confirms
that the UFOs, or flying saucers, can fly at extraordinary speeds and reach remarkable
altitudes.’

“You say these cinetheodolite cameras aren’t always accurate,” General Conroy said.
‘Just what are they and how do you use them, Cap’n?’

‘A cinetheodolite is similar to a 35-mm movie camera, except that when a moving
object is photographed with it, the developed photograph will also contain three readings
that show the time the photo was taken, the azimuth angle, and the elevation angle of the
camera. If two or more cinetheodolites photograph the same flying object, it’s possible
to obtain rough estimates of the object’s size, speed and altitude. I stress rough estimates
because cinetheodolites don’t give accurate readings.’

‘Nevertheless, you insist that the UFO tracked by McLaughlin’s team was moving
remarkably fast.’

‘Yes, sir.’

‘How fast?’

‘A lot faster than any jet plane we know about.’

The generals glanced uneasily at one another, then returned their attention to Dwight.
‘Okay, Cap’n, that accounts for configuration and speed. What’s convinced you that
these craft are real, solid objects?’

‘Two incidents.” Dwight glanced at Bob, received a slight, knowing smile, then
flipped over more pages in his folder and spoke as he read. ‘On April 27, 1950, shortly
after a guided missile had been fired from the White Sands Proving Ground in New
Mexico and fell back to earth, the camera crews of Air Force technicians spotted an
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object streaking across the sky. As most of the camera stations had already unloaded
their film, only one camera was able to catch a shot of the UFO before it disappeared.
That photo showed only a dark, smudgy object - but it also proved that whatever it was,
it had been moving. A month later, during a second missile test, another UFO appeared.
This time, two members of the camera teams saw it and shot several feet of film as the -
quote - bright, shiny object - unquote - streaked across the sky. That film was
subsequently processed and analysed by the Data Reduction Group at White Sands. By
putting a correction factor in the data gathered by the two cameras, they were able to
calculate that the object was higher than 40,000 feet, travelling over 2,000 miles per
hour, and was approximately 300 feet in diameter.” Dwight looked each of the generals
in the eye. ‘I concede that these figures are only estimates, based on the possibly
erroneous correction factor. However, they certainly prove that something had been in
the air and it had been so/id and moving very fast.’

‘Enough to convince you of the reality of the phenomenon,” General Conroy said
drily.

‘Yes, sir. In combination with the two major flaps that came the following year: the
Lubbock Lights and the Fort Monmouth sightings.’

Again the three generals stared at one another, this time even more uneasily. When
General Hackleman turned back to Dwight, his hazel eyes were troubled.

‘Ah, yes,” he said. “We were informed that you’d investigated both cases personally.

Kindly give us your report on both events. In precise detail, Cap’n.’
Dwight began to feel nervous. This was no casual interrogation. These three senior
officers were concerned at what he knew and obviously not pleased with the extent of
his knowledge. Nevertheless, they were demanding a detailed report, so, after glancing
nervously at the equally concerned Bob Jackson, he picked up another file.

‘The Lubbock affair,” he read, ‘began on the evening of August 25, 1951, when an
employee of the Atomic Energy Commission’s supersecret Sandia Corporation —’

‘Who?” General Lamont asked abruptly.

‘'m sorry, sir, I can’t reveal that. [ can only say that he had a top “Q” security
clearance.’

The generals glanced uneasily at one another. ‘Okay,” Lamont said. ‘Continue.’

“This Sandia employee looked up from his garden on the outskirts of Albuquerque,
New Mexico, and saw a huge aircraft flying swiftly and silently over his home. He later
described it as having the shape of a flying wing, about one-and-a-half times the size of
a B-26, with six to eight softly glowing, bluish lights on its aft end.’

General Lamont coughed into his clenched fist.

‘That same evening,” Dwight continued, ‘about twenty minutes after this sighting,
four professors from the Texas Technological College at Lubbock -a geologist, a
chemist, a physicist, and a petroleum engineer - observed a formation of lights streaking
across the sky: about fifteen to thirty separate lights, all a bluish-green colour, moving
from north to south in a semicircular formation.’

“You can’t name the four professors either,” Conroy said sardonically.
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‘No, sir, I’'m afraid not.’

‘Keep reading, Cap’n.’

‘Early in the morning of August 26, only a few hours after the Lubbock sightings, two
different radars at an Air Defence Command radar station located in Washington State
showed an unknown target travelling at 900 miles an hour at 1,300 feet and heading in a
northwesterly direction. On August 31, at the height of the flap, two ladies were driving
near Matador, seventy miles northeast of Lubbock, when they saw a pear-shaped object
about 150 yards ahead of them, about 120 feet in the air, drifting slowly to the east at
less than the take-off speed of a Cub airplane. One of those witnesses was familiar with
aircraft - she was married to an air force officer and had lived on or near air bases for
years - and she swore that the object was about the size of a B-29 fuselage, had a
porthole on one side, made absolutely no noise as it moved into the wind, and suddenly
picked up speed and climbed out of sight in a tight, spiralling motion. That same
evening, an amateur photographer, Carl Hart, Jr., took five photos of a V formation of
the same bluish-green lights as they flew over his back yard. Finally, a rancher’s wife
told her husband, who related the story to me, that she had seen a large object gliding
swiftly and silently over her house. That object was observed about ten minutes after the
Sandia Corporation executive had viewed Ais object. It was described as — I quote — “an
airplane without a body”. The woman said there were pairs of glowing lights on its aft
edge - an exact description of the Albuquerque sightings made by the Sandia employee.’

‘Who cannot be named,” General Conroy emphasised sardonically.

Dwight just smiled, then glanced down at his report. ‘Subsequent investigation by
myself and Captain Jackson’ - he nodded in Bob’s direction — ‘confirmed that the
Washington State radar lock-on had been a solid target - not a weather target. We
then calculated that an object flying between that radar station and Lubbock would
have been on a northwesterly course at the time it was seen at the two places - and
that it would have had a speed of approximately 900 miles per hour, as calculated by
the radar.’

‘Still doesn’t prove that much,” General Hackleman insisted with what seemed like a
glimmer of hope.

‘No,” Dwight said. ‘But the five photographs taken by Carl Hart, Jr. were analysed by
our Photo Reconnaissance Laboratory. The results showed that the lights, in an inverted
V formation, had crossed about 120 degrees of open sky at a 30-degree per second
angular velocity. This corresponded exactly to the angular velocity measured carefully
by the four professors from the Technical College at Lubbock. Analysis of the photos
also showed that the lights were a great deal brighter than the surrounding stars and that
their unusual intensity could have been caused by an exceptionally bright light source
which had a colour at the most distant red end of the spectrum, bordering on infrared.’

‘What does that mean, Cap’n?’ Hackleman's hazel gaze, which was steady, was also
too concerned for Dwight’s comfort.

‘As the human eye isn’t sensitive to such a light,” Dwight explained, ‘the light could
appear dim to the eye - as many of the Lubbock lights did - but be exceptionally bright
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on film, as they were on the photographs. While according to the Photo Reconnaissance
Laboratory, at that time there was nothing flying that had those particular characteristics,
I was pretty startled to discover that the lights on the photos were strikingly similar to
those described by the Atomic Energy Commission employee as being on the aft edge of
the huge UFO that passed silently over his house.’

‘So did something solid pass over Albuquerque, New Mexico,” Hackleman asked,
‘and fly 250 miles to Lubbock, Texas, at an approximate speed of 900 miles per hour?’

‘Yes, sir. According to the witnesses, and to the radar and visual-tracking calculations,
it did. The Lubbock files were also studied by a group of rocket experts, nuclear
physicists and intelligence experts, and they were all convinced that the sightings had
been of an enormous, solid object, most probably with a highly swept-back wing
configuration and a series of small jet orifices around its edge.’

There was silence for a moment while the three generals studied Dwight, none of
them appearing too friendly, all looking concerned. Then General Hackleman let out a
loud sigh. ‘So,” he said. “Who ordered you to personally investigate the Lubbock lights?’
‘Major General C.P. Cabell, sir, representing the Director of Intelligence of the Air
Force. In a matter of hours of receiving the order, Captain Jackson and I were on an
airplane to Lubbock. Once there, we worked around the clock, interrogating everyone
involved in the sighting - pilots, radar operators, technicians and instructors. What they
told us substantiated the sighting reports.’

‘We appreciate the thoroughness of the written report,” General Hackleman said,
though displaying impatience. ‘Who did you personally report to before writing it up?’

‘General Cabell - naturally - and other high-ranking intelligence officers in the
Pentagon, where the meeting took place.’

“You reported verbally?’

‘Yes, sir.’

‘That’s what we’d been told,” General Hackleman said. ‘But we couldn’t find the
recording of that meeting.’

Dwight glanced at Bob, who was looking uneasier every minute.

‘Every word of that meeting was recorded,” Dwight insisted.

‘But the recording was destroyed shortly after,” General Hackleman said. ‘At least, so
we were informed by the CIA.’

‘But -’

‘It doesn’t matter,” General Conroy interjected. ‘Don’t bother asking, Cap’n. There
are good reasons for everything, I’'m sure. Now what about the replacement of Project
Grudge with Project Blue Book in April this year, with Captain Ruppelt in command?
Did you resent being downgraded to second-in-command?’

‘I wouldn’t be human if I didn’t, sir.” Dwight was feeling hot and embarrassed. More
so because this very subject had caused more friction between him and Beth, who was
convinced that officers involved in UFO investigations always had a hard time from the
Air Force and were often consistently denied promotion. Thus, when Project Grudge
had been dropped and replaced with Project Blue Book, with Dwight reduced to second-
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in-command under Captain Edward J. Ruppelt, Dwight’s acute disappointment had only
been exacerbated by Beth’s angry insistence that his ‘virtual demotion’ was another sign
that he should asked to be transferred to another, less controversial, line of work. ‘But I
should emphasise,” Dwight now insisted to General Conroy, ‘that Captain Ruppelt and I
have an excellent working relationship.’

‘So Ruppelt has confirmed,” Conroy said with a slight, mocking smile. ‘However, to
change the subject slightly, do you think the stir caused by the Lubbock sightings was
responsible for the replacement of Grudge with Blue Book?’

‘The Lubbock sightings certainly helped, sir, but they weren’t totally responsible.
Though those sightings certainly made the Air Force sit up and take notice, it was the
ones that took place a month later that really led to the formation of Project Blue Book.’

“The ones that took place at the Army Signal Corps radar centre at Fort Monmouth,
New Jersey.’

‘Yes, sir.’

‘A top-secret establishment.’

‘Exactly, sir.’

“Tell us about those,” General Conroy said.

Dwight opened another file. “The flap began at 11.10 in the morning of September 10,
1951, when a student operator was giving a demonstration of automatic radar tracking to
a group of visiting top brass — sorry: senior officers.” General Conroy gave a wintry
smile, but said nothing, so Dwight, flustered, glanced down at his notes and continued
reading. ‘After spotting an object flying about 12,000 yards southeast of the station, the
operator switched to automatic tracking, but failed to hold the object. In his confusion,
he blurted out to the visiting officers that the object was going too fast for the radar set -
which meant that it was flying faster than any known jet. After three minutes, during
which the UFO continued to fly too fast for the automatic radar tracking, it disappeared.’

‘The weather?” General Lamont asked.

‘Checks with the weather department revealed that there were no indications of a
temperature inversion.’

‘Okay, Cap’n, continue.’

‘Twenty-five minutes later, the pilot of a T-33 jet trainer, carrying an Air Force
major as passenger and flying 20,000 feet over Mount Pleasant, New Jersey,
observed a dull, silver, disk-like object below him. It was thirty to fifty feet in
diameter. When the object descended towards Sandy Hook, the T-33 pilot went after
it. As he approached the object, it stopped abruptly, hovered impossibly, suddenly
sped south, then made a 120-degree turn and vanished out to sea.’

Dwight glanced up from his report, surprised at how breathless and nervous he was.
‘The Air Force major in the T-33 confirmed that sighting.” When no one passed
comment, he avoided the three pairs of eyes by looking back at his notes.

‘At 3.15pm, back at the Fort Monmouth radar centre, a frantic call was received from
headquarters, demanding that they pick up an unknown that was flying very high, to the
north, roughly where the first UFO had vanished. A radar lock-on confirmed that the
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UFO was travelling - I quote - slowly, at 93,000 feet - or eighteen miles above the earth -
and it could also be made out visually as a silver speck.’

‘No known aircraft of today can fly eighteen miles above the earth,” Bob said,
speaking for the first time.

‘Thank you for that observation, Cap’n Jackson,” General Conroy said dryly. ‘Okay,
Cap’n Randall, continue.’

Giving Bob a fleeting grin, Dwight said, ‘Next morning two radar sets picked up
another unknown that climbed, levelled out, dived and climbed again repeatedly, too fast
for the automatic radar tracking. When the object climbed, it went almost straight up.
The flap ended that afternoon when the radar picked up another slowly moving UFO
and tracked it for several minutes, before it, too, disappeared.’

He looked up from his notes. ‘Those sightings were witnessed by all the visiting VIPs
and it was they who really got the ball rolling. So, it was the Monmouth sightings, even
more than the Lubbock lights, that compelled Major Cabell to order the ATIC to
establish a new, more serious UFO investigation project. Subsequently, in April, Project
Grudge was renamed Project Blue Book.’

‘And in contradiction to the policy of Project Grudge,” General Hackleman said,
‘Project Blue Book is to work on the assumption that the UFOs, or flying saucers, are
real, solid objects.’

“Yes, sir,” Dwight said, sweating too much, his heart beating too fast. When he closed
the file, he noticed that his hands were shaking. Not much, but definitely shaking, which
really surprised him.

There was a lengthy, tense silence, then General Hackleman leaned forward in his
chair and said, ‘Anything else, Cap’n?’

Dwight glanced at Bob and was given a nod of approval to state what they had both
been frightened of reporting. ‘Yes, sir,” Dwight said. ‘The pattern and nature of a recent
build-up of sightings of fiery discs, green fireballs, and large flying saucers, over the past
month, along the East Coast, indicates something damned scary.’

‘Oh?’ The general’s gaze was steady and intense. “What’s that, Cap’n Randall?’

Dwight took a deep breath, hardly believing he was going to say it, then let his words
come out on a rush of air.

‘It seems like some kind of UFO invasion,” he said, ‘and it’s closing in on
Washington D.C.’

The silence stretched out forever.
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Chapter Thirteen

The sun was dying. Wilson knew this as he stood in a field of wheat in Montezuma,
Iowa, the stalks shoulder-high around him, and gazed across that yellow field to where
green fields met blue sky, then squinted up into the sun’s striations, which were silvery
and ravishing. Wilson was only ten years old, blond-haired and tanned, but even as the
sun’s heat scorched his face, he knew the sun was dying. It would take a long time, but
die it surely would, and when it died, the earth would die with it, destroying the great
hope of mankind. Wilson, though still a child, was overwhelmed by that knowledge and
decided, there and then, without a moment’s hesitation, that he had to do something to
save mankind and ensure its continuance.

Man’s destiny, he was convinced, could only be changed through science and the

evolution of a new kind of man, one less prone to mortality.
Even then, as a boy growing up in lowa, born of God-fearing parents, but unable to
accept the idea of Him, Wilson had been convinced that mankind would eventually have
to leave Earth and inhabit another, less endangered planet. To do so, he would have to
create an extraordinary technology; he would also have to transcend his still primitive
nature and escape the physical limitations of his weak, mortal body.

Man would have to turn himself into Superman and then reach for the stars.

Wilson realised this at ten years old as he squinted up at the sun over lowa... Then he
awakened, at eighty-two, to look out over the vast, snow-covered wilderness of
Antarctica from his bed near the summit of a mountain in Nue Schwabenland.

Though still groggy from anaesthetics, the dream, or recollection, had filled him with
the awareness of how fragile was mortality and how ephemeral each individual life.
From childhood to old age had taken no time at all - the past was virtually in the present
- and now he knew with more certainty than ever that no matter what he did to himself,
his time would be limited.

Nevertheless, there was still a lot he could do before it ended, so he had to keep that
dark moment at bay as long as humanly, or scientifically, possible.

For this reason, he had become his own laboratory animal, experimenting constantly
on himself, with the aid of his two specialists: Professor Adolf Eckhardt, a former Nazi
concentration camp experimental surgeon, and the abducted Dr Paul Gold, formerly of
the Powered Limbs Unit of West Hendon Hospital, London. Freed from the moral,
ethical and religious constraints of Western surgical research, they were producing
between them some extraordinary innovations in prosthetics, organ replacement and
skin grafts.

After having some of the latter done successfully to his face and hands, thus making
him look sixty instead of eighty-two, Wilson had recently had his weakening heart
replaced with the first of Eckhardt’s prosthetics and was already recovering from the
operation.

Sitting upright on the bed and breathing deeply, letting the cold air clear his head, he
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called on the phone for Eckhardt and Gold to come up immediately. He also asked for
Hans Kammler and Artur Nebe to come up thirty minutes later, in order to submit their
latest reports.

Eckhardt and Gold entered together, both wearing white smocks, and stood one at
each side of Wilson’s bed, smiling down at him. Once devoted to his wife and children
in London, Gold was now devoted only to his work in this Antarctic colony and content
to take his pleasures with the ‘comfort girls’ abducted by the flying saucer crews from
all over the Earth. He was completely reliable. Eckhardt, of course, being a fugitive war
criminal, still wanted by the British, not to mention the Jews of Israel, for his so-called
‘anthropological’ experiments in the Nazi concentration camps, clearly had no place else
to go. Nevertheless, he also was delighted to be able to continue his experiments without
restraint in the colony’s laboratories, using animals and the human abductees being held
in appalling conditions in the dank, freezing underground cells. He, too, took his
pleasures from the comfort girls and was obsessed with his work.

‘So,” he said, lowering his stethoscope to examine Wilson’s heartbeat, ‘you look
good. How do you feel?’

‘Excellent,” Wilson said.

Eckhardt listened to Wilson’s heartbeat, then straightened up. ‘Perfect.’

‘It doesn’t feel perfect,” Wilson replied. ‘It’s a little uncomfortable.’

‘We’ll soon improve on it.” Eckhardt was unfazed by Wilson’s cold stare, having
known him since the early days in Nazi Germany, way back in 1940, before the dream
of the Thousand Year Reich had collapsed into ruins.

As Wilson well knew, Eckhardt and other Nazis were convinced that their Aryan
dreams would be resurrected here, which is why they stayed on without persuasion.
Wilson knew differently, but was not about to correct them, as he needed to use their
insane faith for his own, infinitely more rational, purposes. He also needed them to help
in extending his life, even if not indefinitely, as they were doing with his artificial heart
and various joint and minor organ replacements.

Wilson’s new heart, or pacemaker, was a highly advanced device which, utilizing a
piezoelectric crystal and a small balloon filled with water, caused the heart’s own
pumping to stimulate itself. First created in crude form in Nazi Germany, but recently
perfected here in the colony’s laboratories, it was more advanced than the one inserted
for the first time in a human being in Pennsylvania Hospital, Philadelphia, a few months
ago. That recipient, a 41-year old steelworker, had only lived for eighty minutes after his
heart replacement, but Wilson would survive a lot longer.

‘The water-filled balloon,” Eckhardt explained, ‘will be replaced with something
smaller in a few months. Though the pacemaker is already maintenance free and doesn’t
require batteries, we’ll eventually replace it with a plutonium power source, or nuclear
battery, which will weigh practically nothing and last longer. As for the rest of you,
that’s up to Dr Gold here.’

Eckhardt smiled thinly, without affection, at Dr Gold, whom he viewed as a rival for
Wilson’s attention. Gold, who despised Professor Eckhardt, politely ignored his smile.
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“Your arthritic problems have been cured with joint replacements,’ he said, ‘but already
we have more advanced prosthetics, if you’re willing to —’

‘Yes,” Wilson interjected without a pause. ‘I am. The operations don’t bother me.’

‘Good.” Gold smiled like a normal doctor with a normal patient, as if still in the West
Hendon Hospital, London, not here in a hidden Antarctic colony from which he would
never escape. ‘At the moment we’re experimenting with artificial knees and elbows of
clear acrylic resin reinforced with stainless steel. As for the joints themselves, the main
problems have always been corrosion and lubrication, but soon I’ll be removing your
relatively crude, temporary stainless steel prosthetics and inserting more durable,
maintenance-free, one-hundred percent mobile joints made of a corrosion-free, easily
lubricated, more durable cobalt-chromium alloy. As most of the surgical work on your
joints was done for the original replacements, the operations for the insertion of the new
prosthetics will be relatively simple.’

‘And the rest of me?’

Gold shrugged and raised his hands as if pleading for clemency. ‘These are early days
yet, but with human laboratory subjects instead of only animals we should certainly
progress quicker than anyone else. That heart will buy you a few more years, but
problems with your kidneys and lungs will come soon enough, which is why we’re
working on those right now.’

‘Tell me.’

‘Regarding your kidneys, we’re experimenting with something first devised by a
Dutch surgeon, Wilhelm Kolff, and tested, ironically, on a Nazi collaborator. This
involves the use of cellulose acetate film as the filter membrane and heparin as the
anticoagulant. Already we have an advanced version that we think will work, but we
also need to find a means of circulating your blood from time to time through the
artificial kidney. A cumbersome dialysis machine has been devised, but to avoid having
to keep you plugged into it twenty-four hours a day we’re working on a six-inch socket
that can be permanently implanted in your circulatory system, between an artery and
vein, then opened and joined to the artificial kidney. What we’ve come up with is a six-
inch tube of silicone rubber, tipped with polytetrafluoroethylene - an unreactive plastic -
with ends that penetrate the skin and are stitched to the adjoining artery and vein. While
causing you little discomfort, this will allow you to leave the large dialysis machine for
days at a time. Eventually, we hope to have a self-sustaining artificial kidney, but that,
alas, will take longer to develop.’

‘And my lungs?’

‘As those are essentially mechanical, we’re looking into prosthetic replacements.
However, as the lung is also a membrane of unusually high permeability and, more
complex, roughly the area of a tennis court, we need to find a means of imitating it
within the confines of the thorax. We hope to do this with a membrane of exceptionally
thin silicone - say, one-thousandth of an inch thick - and with a maximum area of one
square metre. This will be placed in the thorax in concentric layers, kept apart and self-
supported in a manner that forms minute channels, which in turn form the new blood
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capillaries. Unfortunately, in this case, the problems are many and the death rate during
experiments is high. This is due mainly to our inability, so far, to prevent the artificial
membrane from becoming choked by coagulated blood. Nevertheless, I’'m convinced
that with time, patience, and unimpeded human experimentation, we can produce the
required anticoagulant. Then the artificial, implantable lung will be within reach.’

‘Good,” Wilson said. He spent a few more minutes discussing the various surgical and
medical experiments going on with the abducted humans held in the underground cells,
then dismissed his two professors and waited for the arrival of administrator Hans
Kammler and chief of security Artur Nebe, both former members of the Death’s Head
SS. Kammler arrived first, wearing a black coverall, still blond and handsome, but no
longer the golden young god of war, now visibly ageing. He took a seat by the bed and
nodded at Wilson, not smiling at all.

“You’re recovering well?’ he asked.

‘Yes, Hans. No problems at all. I’ll soon be on my feet again. So how is Ernst Stoll
settling into Paraguay?’

Kammler smiled frostily. ‘With no great deal of joy, but with dedication - as you had
expected. He’s greatly increased the defences of the compound, constructed a landing
pad for the saucers, and set up a line of communication between himself and General
Stroessner, whom be believes will eventually take over as President. As Stroessner is
infinitely corruptible, this is all to the good. We will certainly be well protected there.’

‘Apart from that, is he doing what he’s been sent there for?’

‘Yes. The mass abduction of Ache Indians has begun with the aid of General
Stroessner’s Federales. For this, Stroessner is being well paid. Stoll claims that
Stroessner is using the money to bribe senior army officers and seduce the heads of the
Colorado Party. He’s buying their support in his bid for the presidency and plans to
make his move this year or next.’

‘Excellent. We need a man like Stroessner in charge. We also need the Ache Indians -
the females as comfort girls and servants, the males as conditioned pilots for the saucers
and as experimental surgical fodder for Eckhardt and Gold. Since with even the
abductions, we’re running short of human material, a regular supply of the Ache will be
truly invaluable.’

‘I don’t think Stoll will let you down.’

The door opened again and Artur Nebe entered, small and stout, as solid as a rock,
with eyes as dark as his black coverall. His swarthy features, though revealing no
emotion, concealed the soul of a monster. As he crossed to stand at the other side of the
bed, facing Kammler, Wilson glanced through the panoramic window at the far side of
the room and saw the vast, Antarctic wilderness, its soaring ice-covered peaks and snow-
covered valleys stretching out to a dazzling, blue horizon. While the sheer, untouched
beauty of it denied the horrors taking place daily in the laboratories and underground
cells of this hidden colony, Wilson did not see it that way. Dedicated to the pursuit of
knowledge — which, in his view, separated Man from beast - he was embarked on a
crusade to redirect the evolution of mankind and turn the thinly disguised beast into
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Superman. There was no room for emotion in his grand design. His notion of beauty was
absolute knowledge and the pure truths of science.

‘So, Artur,” he said, looking up into Nebe’s dark, fathomless gaze and taking
confidence from the murderous well of his nature, ‘what do you have to tell me?’

‘Everything has gone smoothly. Exactly as we had planned. The calculated spreading
of disinformation about UFOs has had the desired effect and is leading to confusion, not
only with the public, but with military intelligence on a worldwide basis. By now, public
opinion is split between those who believe the UFOs are of extraterrestrial origin, those
who insist they’re misinterpretations of natural atmospheric phenomenon, those who
deem them the products of mass hallucination encouraged by too much talk about the
subject, and those who believe they’re the top-secret experimental craft of their own
governments.’

‘Official attitudes are equally confused?’

‘Yes. The few government, military and intelligence heads who know of our
existence here are so concerned about the possibility of public hysteria in the event that
the news gets out, they’ve classified the subject top-secret. They’ve also classified as
top-secret their own race to construct similar saucers in the vain hope of eventually
getting us out of here. They’re not only concerned with what they see as the new
military threat represented by our technology, but by the fact that the Antarctic is Earth’s
last untapped treasure-house of oil, coal, gold, copper, uranium and, most important,
water - the whole world will soon need water - and here we are, threatening to keep them
out. So that’s what concerns them most of all.’

‘We can use that concern when we trade,” Wilson said. ‘It’s a strong card to hold. But
apart from the stubborn General Samford, what do they think of our capability?’

‘Deliberately letting the top brass of Fort Monmouth see one of our large saucers
finally convinced the Pentagon of our vastly superior capability, though the White
House, and Samford, remain unconvinced.’

‘They soon will be,” Wilson said.

Nebe didn’t return his smile, but continued speaking in his soft, oddly threatening
monotone. ‘The so-called Lubbock lights, which were in fact the lights on the tail end of
an American-Canadian experimental flying wing constructed in secret at the White
Sands Proving Ground, has further convinced the American public that alien craft are
exploring the earth. The Lubbock lights - that flying wing - also succeeded in further
confusing those in military intelligence who don’t yet know of our existence and are
baffled as to why their own superiors are trying to kill off the sighting reports, even as
they insist that the saucers are a threat to national security.’

‘We couldn’t have done better ourselves,” Wilson observed.

‘Finally,” Nebe continued, ‘the concentrated build-up of flights of our mass-produced
World War 11 Feuerballs over the east coast of the United States has been highly
successful, leading to nationwide concern and numerous wild stories about green or
orange fireballs and extraterrestrial flying saucers, as well as secret speculations in
military circles about a forthcoming UFO invasion of the nation’s capital.’
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‘Perfect,” Wilson said. ‘We’ll now proceed to do just that. We’ll surround
Washington DC in general and the White House in particular with a virtual armada of
Feuerballs. 1f that doesn’t persuade them the first time, we’ll repeat the performance a
week later with even more Feuerballs and some larger, piloted saucers. I think it will
work.’

‘When will it begin?” Kammler asked him.

“Time is of the essence,” Wilson said. ‘The invasion commences tomorrow.’
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Chapter Fourteen

Just off a flight from Dayton, Ohio, Dwight and Bob Jackson were passing a newspaper
stand in the lobby of Washington National Airport Terminal Building when they were
stopped dead in their tracks by the headline: INTERCEPTORS CHASE FLYING
SAUCERS OVER WASHINGTON DC. Shocked, Dwight purchased the paper and
read that the capital was in the middle of the biggest UFO flap of all time.

‘The bastards didn’t even tell us!” he fumed, folding up the paper and jamming it into
the side pocket of his Air Force jacket. ‘If we hadn’t come here on our own bat, they
probably wouldn’t have called us. The biggest UFO flap of them all and we weren’t
even informed!’

‘Come on,” Bob said, swinging his briefcase from one hand to the other and heading
energetically for the cab rank. ‘Let’s go and talk to Dewey Fournet.’

Instructing the cabbie to take them to the Pentagon, Dwight, still furious, opened the
paper again and read the newspaper account of the present flap more carefully, tying the
report to what he already knew. He was even more furious about not being informed
because he had practically predicted that this flap would occur and, indeed, had
informed generals Conroy, Lamont and Hackleman about it during his recent,
unpleasant interrogation. The Air Force’s Project Blue Book was now going strong
under the leadership of Captain Edward J. Ruppelt and had received more official UFO
reports than it had done in any previous month in its history. In fact, according to
Ruppelt, the sheer number of reports was making Air Force officers in the Pentagon
frantic.

By June 15, the locations, timing, and sequence of the reports had indicated that the
UFOs were gradually closing in on Washington DC.

Throughout the afternoon of June 15, reports of ‘round, shiny objects’ and ‘silvery
spheres’ had come in from all over Virginia, one after the other: 3.40pm at Unionville;
4.20pm at Gordonsville; 4.25pm at Richmond; then 4.43pm and 5.43pm at
Gordonsville. At 7.35pm a lot of people in Blackstone, about eighty miles south of
Gordonsville, had observed a ‘round, shiny object with a golden glow’ moving from
north to south. By 7.59pm the same object was observed by the people in the CAA radio
facility at Blackstone. At 8.00pm a jet from Langley Air Force Base tried to intercept it,
but five minutes later the object, moving too slowly to be an airplane, disappeared.

So inexplicable and disturbing were these reports that Captain Ruppelt was called to
Washington DC to give a briefing in the restricted area of the fourth-floor ‘B’ ring of the
Pentagon to General Samford, the Director of Intelligence, some of the members of his
staff, two captains from the Office of Naval Intelligence, and some others whom Ruppelt
had refused to name for security reasons. That meeting had resulted in a directive to take
further steps to obtain positive identification of the UFOs.

Meanwhile, the sightings continued. By the end of June, it had become apparent
that there was a considerable build-up of sightings in the eastern United States. In
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Massachusetts, New Jersey and Maryland jet fighters were scrambled almost nightly
for a week, but always foiled when their radar-locks were broken by the abrupt, swift
manoeuvres of the UFOs. On July 1, many UFOs were sighted over Boston, then
began working their way down the coast. The same day two UFOs had come down
across Boston on a southwesterly heading, crossed Long Island, hovered a few
minutes over the Army’s secret laboratories at Fort Monmouth, then proceeded
towards Washington DC. A few hours later, the first report from Washington DC was
submitted by a physics professor at George Washington University.

For the next couple of weeks, reports about Washington DC sightings poured in at the
rate of twenty or thirty a day and, according to Ruppelt, unknowns were running about
40 percent. Finally, according to the Washington Post, last night, July 19, the greatest
flap of them all had begun, with UFOs being tracked all over the capital and the
restricted corridor around the White House filled with interceptor jets trying to chase
UFOs.

Immensely frustrated and angry, Dwight finished reading the report, then passed the
paper to Bob. By the time Bob finished reading it, he, too, was furious that the ATIC had
not been informed about the event.

‘Damned lucky we were coming here anyway,’ he said. ‘Otherwise they’d have kept
us locked out. Why the hell would they do that?’

‘Maybe it was just an oversight,” Dwight replied without conviction, staring up at the
sunny sky in the vain hope of seeing his first UFO. ‘The heat of the moment, and so on.
They’re probably all frantic by now and just forgot to put the call through.’

‘Yeah,” Bob said doubtfully, also glancing automatically at the empty sky over
Virginia. ‘Maybe you’re right.’

When they were inside the Pentagon, that immense five-sided building in Arlington
County, Dwight demanded an urgent meeting with Major Dewey Fournet, their UFO
liaison man in the capital. Entering his office, located on the fourth floor, they found him
in the company of Colonel Donald Bower, the intelligence officer from Bolling AFB,
located just east of National Airport, across the Potomac River. Neither Fournet nor
Bower looked pleased with this visit.

‘Okay, okay,” a harassed Fournet said, waving his hands as if to defend himself. ‘I
know what you’re going to say.’

‘So, what happened?’ Dwight asked.

‘We’ve just been too damned busy,” Fournet replied. ‘It was an oversight, gentlemen.’
Dwight glanced at Major Bower. ‘I don’t believe that. Seems to me, you just wanted to
keep us out. Why is that, Major?’

‘You’d have received a full report in due course,” Major Bower said, his gaze
steady and hard.

“Your report, not ours, Major,” Dwight replied. ‘It’s not the same thing.” He removed
his gaze from Bower and fixed it on Fournet instead. ‘So what are the facts, sir? Is the
report in the Washington Post correct?’

Fournet shrugged. ‘Yeah, essentially correct. At 11.40pm the ARTC radars at
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Washington National Airport, about three miles south of the centre of Washington DC,
picked up eight unidentified targets near Andrews AFB, Maryland, twenty miles east of
National Airport and in direct line with National and Bolling. The objects were flying at
approximately 100 to 130 miles per hour, then suddenly accelerated to fantastically high
speeds and left the area. They soon returned, en masse. During the night, tower operators
and the aircrews of several airliners saw unidentified lights in the same locations
indicated by the radar. Before the night was out, and while interceptor jets tried and
failed to catch them, the unidentified targets had moved into every sector covered by the
radarscopes, including the prohibited corridor over the White House and the Capitol
building. The climax came in the early hours of the morning, when the operators in the
control tower at Andrews AFB, in response to an ARTC traffic controller’s query about
a target directly over the Andrews Radio range station, located near their tower, reported
that a large, fiery, orange-coloured sphere was hovering in the sky directly above them.’

‘Weather?’

‘An analysis of the sightings has completely ruled out temperature inversions. Also,
the radar operators at Washington National Airport and Andrews AFB - plus at least two
veteran airline pilots - have all sworn that their sightings were caused by the radar waves
bouncing off hard, solid objects.’

‘Oh, boy!” Bob said, glancing at Dwight. ‘This sounds really good.’

‘That’s hardly the right word to use,” Bower said. ‘It certainly didn’t seem good to
the top brass of the Pentagon. Nor did it seem good to President Truman, who
personally witnessed a UFO skimming right around the White House. In fact, at ten
this morning, the President’s air aide, Brigadier General Landry, called me, at
Truman’s personal request, to find out what the hell was going on.’

‘Oh?’ Dwight said, amused. ‘And what did you tell him?’

‘I hedged my answers,” Bower replied, ‘because, truthfully, I couldn’t explain the
sightings away.’

‘On behalf of the Air Force,” Fournet said, ‘public relations officer Al Chops has
given the press an official “No comment” on the sightings, but the reporters are still
massed down there on the first floor, all baying for more. In the meantime, we’re
investigating the affair. That’s all we can tell you.’

‘Fine, Major,” Dwight said, taking note of Bob’s cynical sideways glance and
deciding not to raise any awkward points. ‘Have you any objections to me doing my
own investigation for the ATIC?’

Fournet glanced uneasily at Major Bower, who did not seem too pleased.
Nevertheless, he said, ‘Of course not, Cap’n Randall. Why should we mind?’

‘Here,” Fournet said, trying to look helpful as he handed Dwight a manila folder.
“Two of the first reports submitted. One is the unofficial report from the Andrews AFB
tower operators; the other is from an F-94C pilot who tried to intercept unidentified
lights. I should warn you that these are just off-the-cuff, preliminary reports. More
detailed, more accurate versions will be drafted and signed at a later date. But you might
find them helpful for the time being.’
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‘And as I said,” Major Bower added, ‘you’ll be receiving our official report when it’s
been completed.’

‘I look forward to it,” Dwight said, then he and Bob saluted and left the office.

‘Bullshitter,” Bob whispered as they walked along the spoke-like, windowless
corridor in one of the five concentric rings of the building, heading for the small office
used by the ATIC when visiting here. ‘That Bower’s the one who stopped us from being
informed - maybe because the President is now involved. Whatever was flying around
here last night, they sure as hell don’t want us to know about it.’

‘Well, we’re going to get to know about it,” Dwight said determinedly as he unlocked
the door of the office at the far end of the corridor. ‘We’ll complete a thorough
investigation and find out just what the hell those interceptor jets were pursuing in the
restricted corridor around the White House. No intelligence officer from Bolling AFB is
going to stop me - not Bower and not anyone else.” He and Bob entered the office,
switching on the light and closing the door behind them. It was a small, square-shaped
room with no windows and nothing on the walls. Outside was US Highway 1 and,
beyond it, the Potomac River, but they couldn't see either from this gloomy cell. Dwight
placed his briefcase on the desk and gazed at the bare wall. ‘I want to speak to the chief
radar operator at Andrews AFB and the F-94C pilot who put in this report,” he said,
fanning himself with the manila envelope. ‘Get on the blower, Bob.’

As Bob took the wooden chair beside the desk and picked up the phone, Dwight
kicked off his shoes and massaged his hot feet through his socks. Bob flipped open the
manila envelope, checked one of the two reports, then asked for the senior traffic
controller in the Andrews AFB control tower. After a short wait, he nodded and Dwight
picked up the other line.

‘Captain Chapman? This is Captain Dwight Randall of the Air Technical Intelligence
Centre, Wright-Patterson AFB, Dayton, Ohio. I’'m here at the Pentagon with Captain
Bob Jackson to check out yesterday’s UFO flap. We thought you might be able to help
us out.’

‘I put in a report to Major Bower,” Captain Chapman responded, sounding uneasy.
‘Yes, Captain, I’ve got it right here. I believe you were in charge of operations when that
huge, orange-coloured sphere was observed over the Andrews Radio range station,
located near the control tower.’

‘Oh, yeah... that.” Chapman sounded even more uncomfortable. ‘It wasn’t huge; it
was large.’

‘Says right here it was huge.’

‘We were all pretty excited at the time. It was large, not huge.’

‘You saw it?’

‘Well, yeah, I saw it... but when we checked the data later, we realised it was only a
star.’

‘What?

‘It was only a star.’

Dwight glanced at Bob who, holding the phone to his ear, merely shrugged his
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shoulders.

‘I don’t get this, Captain,” Dwight said. ‘I have your report right in front of me and
it clearly describes the object as a - quote - huge, fiery-orange-coloured sphere.’

‘It was a large star. [ know it was. When I submitted that report, we were all pretty
scared and excited. I now regret that description.’

‘Okay: it was large. However, I find it hard to credit that seven trained radar operators
would mistake a large, fiery, orange-coloured sphere for a star.’

‘The heat of the moment, Captain. We all make mistakes. I’'m going to change that
description when I redraft the report. What we saw was an exceptionally bright star.
That’s all there is to it.’

Dwight took a deep breath, glanced at Bob, who shrugged again, then let his breath
out in an audible sigh. ‘The report also states that you and the six other traffic controllers
on the shift saw this object, or star, hovering over the Andrews Radio range station, at
precisely the same moment the radar operators at National Airport reported having a
target over the very same location.’

‘I can’t account for that, Captain, except to say that the radars all over Washington
DC were going crazy last night and a lot of atmospheric anomalies are suspected. What
we saw was a star.’

‘Okay, Captain, thanks.” Dwight pressed the phone-cradle down, cutting Chapman
off, then said, ‘Get on to that guy in charge of the astronomical charts and ask him if
there were any unusually bright stars in the sky last night.’

Bob leafed through his notebook, dialled a number and asked for Air Force corporal
Alan Collins. After explaining what he wanted, he sat waiting, drumming his fingers
nervously on the desk and studying the ceiling. Eventually he nodded, went, ‘Mmmmm,
thanks corporal,” and dropped the phone back on its cradle. ‘Nope,” he said. ‘No
exceptionally bright stars where that UFO was seen. None at all, Dwight.’

‘Damn! Is the pilot of that F-94C available?’

Bob tugged the second report out of the manila folder, checked it, and said, “Yeah,
he’s located at Bolling AFB - where our good friend, Major Bower, also comes from.
You want me to try him?’

‘Damned right, I do.’

Tracking down the pilot took a lot longer, but eventually Bob nodded again at
Dwight and the latter picked up the phone. After introducing himself, he said, ‘I’d
like to hear in your own words exactly what you thought you were pursuing last
night.’

‘It was a ground light reflecting off a layer of haze.’

‘What?

‘A ground light reflecting off -’

‘I heard you, Lieutenant, I just don’t believe you. I have your report right here and it
says that the lights were high up in the sky, in the restricted air corridor around the
White House, and that they descended, ascended, hovered, and shot off at incredible
speeds.’
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‘An optical illusion, Captain.’

‘But the report — °

‘I wrote it in the heat of the moment, right after landing. I was pretty nervous and
excited, Captain, not too sure of what was happening, but when I’d settled down and
spoken to Major Bower, I realised that I’d misinterpreted what I’d seen.’

Bob silently gave the thumbs-down.

“You spoke to Major Bower?” Dwight asked.

‘That’s right, Captain. Right after I landed. All of the pilots at Bolling were
interrogated about what they had seen by the base intelligence officers.’

‘And after interrogation, you were persuaded that what you had seen was not a lot of
unidentified lights that made extraordinary manoeuvres over the White House, but
simply a ground light reflecting off a layer of haze.’

“That’s correct, Captain.’

‘If you don’t mind me saying so, Lieutenant, that seems a pretty ridiculous statement,
given that this report —’

‘I’'m redrafting it, Captain, to make it more accurate.’

‘Given that in this report,” Dwight insisted, ‘you say that the lights repeatedly
disappeared and reappeared in the sky before eventually shooting away.’

‘An optical illusion caused by the layer of haze.’

‘No, Lieutenant, not possible. According to your statement, the disappearances and
reappearances described by you were matched exactly by the radar readings - same
location, same time.’

‘According to Major Bowers, the radar operatives later said they’d been mistaken.
Given that, I can only confirm what [ saw.’

‘A ground light reflecting off a layer of haze.’

‘Exactly.’

‘And that’s what’s going into your redrafted report?’

“Yes, Captain.’

‘Thanks, Lieutenant.” Angry and frustrated, Dwight dropped the phone, then glared at
Bob, who was shrugging and spreading his hands in the air, signifying defeat. ‘Major
Bower,” Dwight said.

‘Intelligence chief of Bolling AFB. He also talked to the Andrews AFB radar flight
controllers and radar operatives. Looks like a snow job.’

‘Which confirms that they didn’t call the ATIC because they didn’t want us snooping
around. They’re putting the lid on this thing.” Dwight hammered his fist on the table.
‘Well, damn them, I won’t let them. Let’s get a staff car and travel around a bit -
Washington National Airport, Andrews AFB, airline offices, the weather bureau, and
anywhere else we can think of. Damn it, let’s do it.” Dwight picked up the phone and
called the Pentagon transportation section.

‘Hi. Captain Dwight Randall of the ATIC speaking. I need a staff car for a couple
of hours and -’

‘Did you say the ATIC? the corporal at the other end of the line asked.
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‘That’s right. The Air Technical Intelligence Centre. I need a staff car to -’

‘Just a moment, sir.” There was a pause on the other end of the line, following by
whispering, then the corporal came back on. ‘Sorry, sir. Did you say Captain Dwight
Randall?’

‘Yes, corporal, and -’

‘’'m sorry, sir, but I’'m afraid I can’t help you. Regulations say that we can’t make
staff cars available to anyone other than senior colonels or generals.’

‘Bullshit.’

‘Sorry, sir, but those are the regulations.’

‘Since when?’

‘Just recently, sir.’

‘Dammit, corporal, I want that staff car!”’

‘Sorry, sir, I can’t help you. Not unless you get authorisation from a senior colonel or
general.’

‘Alright, damn you, I will.” Dwight pressed the cradle down. ‘Can you believe this
shit?” he said to Bob. ‘New regulation says we can’t have a car unless we’re senior
colonels or generals.’

‘New regulation invented just for us,” Bob said. “‘Why not try General Samford? He’ll
be obliged to help you.’

‘Why not?” Dwight said. When he tried to contact the general, however, he was told
that Samford wasn’t in his office. When he asked the secretary to track him down, he
was told that Samford couldn’t be found. ‘To hell with this,” Dwight said, slamming the
phone down and then putting his shoes on again. ‘Let’s go down to the finance office
and charge a rented car to expenses. They can’t argue with that.’

But they did. When Dwight and Bob put their request to the heavy, grey-haired lady
in the Pentagon finance office, she looked embarrassed, checked their names again, then
said nervously: ‘Sorry, sir, but I can’t do that. Policy is that if you don’t have a staff car,
you use city buses.’

‘Ma’m, this is a matter of extreme urgency and one requiring a lot of travelling. We
don’t know the bus system and it would take us hours to get to all the places we need to
visit.’

‘Sorry, sir, but I still can’t help you. If it’s that important, I suggest you use a cab and
pay for it out of your per diem.’

‘I can’t afford to do that, Ma’m. This job is going to take a couple of days and
requires travelling all over Virginia. At nine dollars a day per diem, I can hardly —°

‘Besides,’ the lady said, examining Dwight’s papers, ‘this travel order only covers a
trip to the Pentagon - not Washington, and certainly not a trip around Virginia. In fact,
according to this, you’re supposed to be on your way back to Dayton by now.’

‘Well, I'm not going. This work is more important, and [I’m pretty sure -’

The lady sighed and handed back his travel orders. ‘Unless you’re willing to go
through all the red tape of getting these orders amended, you won’t be able to collect any
per diem. Also, you’ll be technically AWOL.’
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‘Are you kidding me?’

‘No, sir, I’'m not. If you don’t head back to Dayton today, you’ll both be classified
AWOL. I can’t help you, sir.’

Clenching his fist around his damned travel orders, Dwight stormed out of the finance
office, followed by Bob. He was just about to head back to his office, when Bob stopped
him by tugging at his elbow.

‘What?’

‘We’ve gotta leave,” Bob said. ‘We can’t afford to be AWOL. If they’re really trying
to stop us, they’ll use the AWOL as an excuse to tan our hides. We’ve got to go back,
Dwight.’

‘No, damn it, I won’t let them give me the runaround this way. I have friends at
Andrews AFB, so let’s go there and ask them to call Wright-Patterson for permission to
stay in this area for another week or so. That’ll enable us to continue our investigations
without the help or hindrance of the bastards in here.’

Bob puffed his cheeks out and blew a gust of air. ‘I think one of us should go back,’
he said. ‘Hold the fort, so to speak. The teletype machines are bound to be going mad at
the ATIC, so one of us should be back there to help Captain Ruppelt. If you want to stay
here, okay, and I’ll go back and clear it with Ruppelt.’

‘Great,” Dwight said. ‘You smooth matters out with Ruppelt and I’ll call Beth this
evening and explain things.’

‘One call I wouldn’t want to make, partner. Rather you than me.’

‘I’ll be fine,” Dwight said.

He and Bob returned to the ATIC office, picked up their briefcases, switched off the
light, locked the door and then left the Pentagon. They took a taxi to the Washington
National Terminal Airport Building. There Bob was dropped off and Dwight, still
boiling mad, took a bus all the way to Andrews AFB, twenty miles east, in Maryland.

On the evening of July 26, Dwight was having coffee alone in the almost deserted
officer’s mess of Andrews AFB, thinking gloomily that he had been here for exactly one
week to the day, sharing a room with three other officers, phoning Bob Jackson or
Captain Ruppelt every afternoon and Beth every evening, when he was inclined to feel
most miserable, and had received nothing valuable regarding the UFOs in return for his
suffering.

In fact, he was gloomily pondering the ironic fact that he was second-in-command of
Project Blue Book and yet had never personally seen a UFO. Every evening since Bob’s
departure, Dwight had been out prowling around the airstrip of Andrews AFB, scanning
the night sky for UFOs, but so far he hadn’t seen a damned thing. Nor had the radar
operators or pilots - a fact that only increased Dwight’s feelings of frustration and
inadequacy.

Oddly enough, there had been a flurry of UFO sightings the previous day and
evening, though none of them over Washington DC First, amber-red lights had been
observed over the Guided Missile Long-Range Proving Ground at Patrick AFB, Florida.
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Next, a UFO described as ‘a large, round, silver object that spun on its vertical axis’ had
been seen to cross 100 degrees of afternoon sky in forty-eight seconds. Then, in the late
afternoon, interceptor jets had chased UFOs over Los Alamos and Holyoke,
Massachussetts, losing them as they turned into the sun. Finally, that night, F-94s had
tried in vain to intercept unidentified lights reported by the Ground Observer Corps in
Massachussetts and New Jersey.

But nothing over Washington DC...

And not a thing over Andrews AFB, where Dwight, after a week on his own, was
starting to feel that the whole business was some kind of bad dream that had almost
broken up his marriage and might soon break him.

He was gloomily pondering this, at 10.30pm, when he heard his name being called
out over the tannoy system, asking him to report urgently to the control tower.

Dwight jumped up and ran.

The Andrews AFB control tower was in pandemonium, with most of the traffic

controllers, eerily shadowed in the night lighting, grouped around the 24-inch
radarscopes and staring at rapidly multiplying targets.
‘Same as last time,’ the captain in charge said, jabbing his fingers at the screens, ‘but this
time they’re not just over Washington DC. Those UFOs are spread out in a huge arc
from Herndon, Virginia, to here. They’re right above Washington National Airport - and
also right above us. In other words, they have Washington boxed in.’

‘Jesus Christ!” an Air force sergeant whispered.

With everyone else, Dwight glanced automatically at the sky above the darkened,
lamplit airfield, but saw only the moon and stars. According to the radar, some of those
UFOs were overhead, but they couldn’t be seen by the naked eye. To confirm that they
actually existed, you had to look at the radarscopes... and there they were: all those white
lights constantly on the move, forming a great arc around Virginia and Maryland, but
closing in on Washington DC.

‘God damn it!” someone else exclaimed softly, glancing up at the sky. “Where the hell
are they?’

A group of F-94s were already racing along the airstrip and taking off into the sky, in
pursuit of the targets on the radar screens. Even as they disappeared in the direction of
Washington DC, the telephone rang. The chief traffic controller answered it, nodded his
head, then lowered the phone and said, ‘The targets have just left the radarscopes at
Washington National Airport, but already people around Langley AFB, near Newport
News, as well as the radar operators in Langley Tower, are reporting weird lights that
appear to be rotating and giving off alternating colours.’

‘Jesus Christ!’ the sergeant whispered again.

Increasingly excited, but also frustrated because he could actually see nothing other
than the targets on the radarscopes, Dwight remained in the control tower as the drama
unfolded.

By 11.30pm four or five of the targets were being tracked continually over the
Capitol. F-94 interceptor jets tried and failed to catch them. Shortly after the UFOs left
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the sky over the Capitol building, more reports came in from Langley Tower, where the
operators again described them as unidentified lights that were rotating and giving off
alternating colours. Another F-94 was dispatched from Langley AFB and visually
vectored to the lights by the tower operators. The pilot reported that as he approached
one of the lights, it went out ‘like somebody turning off a light bulb’. No sooner had this
happened, than the targets came back on the radarscopes at Washington National
Airport. Again, F-94s were dispatched to locate them... but each time they were vectored
into the lights, the UFO disappeared abruptly from the radarscopes and the pilots
simultaneously reported that they had visually observed the lights blinking out.

Eventually too frustrated to take it any longer, Dwight tried dialling the Pentagon.
Unable to get through because the lines were tied up - or so the frantic switchboard
operator informed him - he phoned an old reporter buddy, Rex Ginna, Life’s UFO
expert, operating out of the magazine’s Washington News Bureau.

‘I can’t get through to the Pentagon,” Dwight said. ‘What can you actually see there,
Rex?’

‘Fantastic!” Rex exclaimed. ‘A real light show here! They could be lights - or
silvery discs — it’s hard to say what - but they’re racing to and fro across the sky right
above us. They’re also above the Capitol and the White House.’

‘Oh, my God,” Dwight groaned, ‘and I’'m trapped here. What are they doing?’

‘They look like bright stars from here. Small lights... or high up. They’re like light
bulbs, but sometimes they spin so fast, they become a silvery blur. They’re flying in
all directions. Sometimes they stop and hover. They rise and descend vertically, shoot
sideways, perform all kinds of tricks. Sometimes they’re so low, they actually circle
the Capitol and the White House, then they shoot up again at incredible speed and
then just blink out like light bulbs. Damned amazing, I’m telling you.’

That phrase again, Dwight thought. They blink out like light bulbs.

‘Anyway,” Ginna said, ‘they must be taking it pretty serious. All the reporters were
ordered out of the radar rooms of Virginia as soon as the interceptor jets went after the
UFOs. They told us it was because the procedures used in an intercept were classified,
but we know that’s bullshit. Most ham operators can build the equipment needed to
listen in on an intercept. No, the real reason they threw us out is that some top brass are
convinced that this is the night some pilot’s gonna get a good, close look at a UFO - and
they don’t want the press to spread the word. So here I am in the news bureau instead,
watching the whole show. Too bad you can’t see it.’

‘Go to hell, Rex!” Dwight hung up on Ginna's chuckling, then tried the Pentagon
again. Getting through this time, he asked for Dewey Fournet and was surprised to get
him. Fournet sounded harassed.

“Yeah,” he said. ‘Right. No point in denying it. Those things are visible overhead and
solid, metallic objects are causing the blips on the radarscopes. They can’t possibly be
caused by anything else; and whatever they are, they can literally hover in the air, then
accelerate to fantastic speeds.’

’And they definitely can’t be caused by temperature inversions?’
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‘No way. We’ve just checked out the strength of the inversions through the Air Defence
Command Weather Forecast Centre - and there’s no temperature inversion strong
enough to show up on the radar. Finally, no weather target makes a 180-degree turn and
flies away every time an airplane reaches it. Like I say, those things are solid and
metallic. They’re also controlled.’

‘Any indication of size?’

‘We don’t think they’re that big. In fact, we think they’re pretty small. Not big enough
to be manned. Some of the ones our pilots are seeing seem much bigger, though we
can’t be too sure yet. It’s the small ones that are coming down real low and winging
around the Capitol and... Well, I might as well tell you... President Truman almost went
apeshit when he saw them skimming right around the White House. This whole place is
bananas.’

When Dwight put the phone down, he looked up at the sky and was again frustrated
to see only stars. Looking at the radarscope, he saw that the screen was literally filled
with the white dots, clearly showing that the UFOs were still high in the sky over
Andrews AFB.

‘Damn it,” Dwight whispered, ‘where are they?’

Even as he spoke, the lights on the radarscope raced in towards one another, to form a
single, bigger light that flared up and then went right off the screen.

‘What the hell...?” the chief traffic controller said, as his men all bunched up closer
around the radarscope, wondering where all the targets had gone so suddenly.

At that moment, the floor of the radar tower shook briefly.

Everyone looked outside, as if searching for an earthquake, but they saw nothing but
the darkened, lamplit airstrip.

The floor shook a second time, settled down again, and then an eerie yellow light
filled the control tower, beaming in from outside, and gradually changed to an amber-
orange light that appeared to be beaming down from above. As everyone looked up,
straining to see out through the windows, the floor shook a third time, a bass humming
sound filled the silence, and the amber-orange light, now clearly beaming down from
above, turned into a huge, fiery, orange-coloured sphere that was descending slowly,
inexorably, upon the control tower, as if about to land on it and crush it.

With everyone else in the control tower, Dwight looked up at that dazzling apparition,
paralysed by amazement and disbelief, his heart pounding dangerously.

Then everything went dark.
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Chapter Fifteen

The so-called UFO ‘invasion’ of Washington DC led to a secret midnight meeting in the
Oval Room of the White House between Wilson and President Truman, General
Samford, Head of Air Intelligence, General Hoyt S. Vandenberg, USAF Chief of Staff,
and CIA agent, Sam Fuller, through whom the first approach to Samford had been made.
Wilson, wearing civilian clothes and already almost fully recovered after his recent
operations, was accompanied by the icy Artur Nebe. Truman was seated behind the
ornate oak desk, framed by the Presidential flag and the flag of the United States, with
Samford and Vandenberg, both in full uniform, at one side of him and Fuller, wearing a
light grey suit, shirt and tie, at the other. All three men were standing just in front of the
high French windows overlooking the West Wing’s Rose Garden.

Taking a chair at the other side of the desk, with Nebe just behind him, Wilson
studied Sam Fuller’s cynical, sharp-eyed gaze and the wary faces of the two generals,
then he offered President Truman an engaging smile.

‘So, Mr President,” he said, ‘how did you like our two UFO displays over Washington
DC?”

‘Very impressive,” President Truman replied, not returning the smile.

‘I’'m glad you think so, Mr President.’

‘I’m sure you are,” Truman said with soft sarcasm.

‘I assume you know that not all of the saucers were mine.’

‘Weren’t they?’

‘No. During the second invasion some of your own saucers, the ones constructed in
Malton, Ontario, attempted to intercept, but failed dismally and were pursued back to
Canada.’

‘We just thought we’d try it on,” Fuller said sardonically.

‘Don’t do it again,” Wilson told him, then turned his attention to generals Samford
and Vandenberg. ‘Can I take it that you gentleman are now convinced of the superiority
of our technology?’

Both men just stared at him, too speechless with rage to speak.

‘I take your silence as reluctant agreement. Can I therefore also assume that you will
now make no further attempts to thwart us, either in the skies or in Antarctica?’

‘Damn it — > Samford began.

“You can take it that for the time being, at least,” Vandenberg said, sounding choked,
‘we accept that such moves would be pointless.’

Wilson nodded, acknowledging the oblique, temporary surrender, then he returned his
attention to President Truman. The President did not avoid his gaze, but took his time
before speaking.

‘Just tell us what you want,” he said.

‘Antarctica is now the most valuable piece of real estate in the world.’

‘I’'m well aware of that fact, Mr Wilson, and also of the fact that you control it simply
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by being there.’

‘Antarctica 1s also the greatest natural laboratory on Earth and the West now needs to
exploit it.”

‘Correct,’ the President said.

“You also desperately need its water and mineral wealth, which is why you need me.’

‘I am all ears,” the President said when Wilson paused to let the import of his words
sink in.

‘If you wish to populate Antarctica with your scientists and research facilities without
being harassed by my saucers,” Wilson calmly informed him, ‘you’ll have to agree to the
trade previously discussed that night in Virginia. In return, I’ll let those already in
Antarctica remain unmolested to engage in reasonable scientific research.’

‘What’s your idea of reasonable?’

‘I’1 obviously monitor their activities and put a stop to anything that presents a threat
to my colony.’

“You have no right — > Samford began, but was waved into silence by the President.
‘In return for the supplies I need,” Wilson continued, intrigued to see how quickly even
men of great power and authority could be reduced to petty human behaviourial
patterns, ‘I will pass on valuable secrets of my technology, on a pro rata basis, though
only after my own technology has superseded what I choose to give you at any given
moment in time. In this way, my technology will turn the US into the most advanced
nation on earth, scientifically and militarily, while simultaneously ensuring that it will
never become advanced enough to threaten our own existence in Antarctica.’

The President stared steadily at Wilson for a moment, then swivelled around in his
chair to judge the reaction of his two generals. Samford looked enraged and helpless at
once; whereas Vandenberg, though normally a man of immense authority, was revealing
the first signs of shock and disbelief.

‘What if we say no?’ Fuller asked, his gaze direct and unafraid, his lips curved in a
slight, sardonic grin.

This man is like Nebe, Wilson thought. He thrives on intrigue. Though the one in this
room with the least authority, he’s the one I must watch the most.

‘Then I’ll trade with the Soviets,” Wilson said, ‘and maybe even the Chinese. The
choice is entirely yours.’

Vandenberg opened and closed his fists, Samford turned a deep red, and the
President swivelled back in his chair to face Wilson again.

“You’re an American,” he said quietly.

‘A goddamned traitor!” Samford exploded.

‘Right!” Vandenberg added, almost choking with anger.

‘Gentlemen, gentlemen!’ the President admonished them, waving them into silence.

Observing the two outraged, high-ranking military officers, Wilson recalled how, all
those years ago, the great, innovatory work of himself and Robert H. Goddard had been
ignored consistently by the US government and military establishment. He also
remembered how their negative reactions to his genius had forced him to destroy his
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great work, drop out of sight, and spend three decades of his life in lonely anonymity,
until he saw his opportunity in Nazi Germany, where his work and that of Goddard was
greatly respected, even if for the wrong reasons. Now this United States president and
his generals and intelligence officers - the same breed of man who had previously tried
to stop his work and failed to support Goddard - were accusing him of being a traitor to
his country, even as they hypocritically bartered to obtain his technology.

‘I’'m a scientist,” he told them. ‘Nothing more and nothing less. I’'m not moved by
your patriotism, which is merely self-interest, and I won’t be a traitor to myself just
because you accuse me of being a traitor to my country. You have more blood on your
hands than I do - and for less admirable reasons. Now do you agree or not?’

‘No!” Samford exploded.

‘We’ve no choice,” Vandenberg argued. ‘We can’t let the Russians or Chinese get
their hands on this traitor’s technology. I’m afraid we have to deal with him.’

There was silence for a moment while the President considered his options. Having
previously met Samford and Fuller, Wilson took this opportunity to study General Hoyt
S. Vandenberg. The general had been head of the Central Intelligence Group (later the
CIA) from June 1946 to May 1947 and his uncle had been chairman of the Foreign
Relations Committee, then the most powerful committee in the Senate. Clearly,
Vandenberg still had great influence in those areas, as well as all the authority inherent
in his position as USAF Chief of Staff. This man, once he had accepted defeat, would be
particularly useful.

President Truman was studying Wilson at length, disbelieving, quietly outraged,
helplessly intrigued, but eventually he too was forced to raise his hands in surrender. ‘I
agree with General Vandenberg,” he said. “We have no choice in the matter. We must
deal with this man.’

The ensuing silence was filled with dread and despair, until Nebe, finally speaking for
the first time, said in his deadly soft, oddly threatening manner: ‘This leads to the
delicate matter of security.’

‘Ah, yes!” Wilson exclaimed softly. ‘I’d almost forgotten.” Studying Fuller, he saw
Nebe's murderous double behind his urbane manner and knew that what Nebe was about
to say would be understood by him. ‘Go ahead, Nebe.’

‘Since it’s impossible to fly the saucers without being observed,” Nebe said, his voice
as chilling as his demeanour, ‘whether they be our own highly advanced craft or your
crude US-Canadian prototypes, I suggest you implement the widespread use of ridicule,
harassment and confusion of UFO witnesses, official and otherwise.’

‘We’ve already done that,” Fuller told him.

‘Correct,” Vandenberg added. “When Project Sign was established in January 1948 it
was given a 2A classification and placed under the jurisdiction of the Intelligence
Division of the Air Force’s Air Material Command at Wright Field - later renamed the
Air Technical Intelligence Centre, or the ATIC. When Captain Dwight Randall of Sign
submitted his official, top-secret Estimate of the Situation in July of that year, I
personally rejected it on the grounds that it lacked proof, even though the proof was
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clearly conclusive. I then encouraged a whole new policy at Project Sign: in the future,
Sign personnel were to assume that a// UFO reports were hoaxes. They also had to
check with FBI officers and with the criminal and subversive files of police departments,
looking into the private lives of the witnesses to check if they were reliable. Most of the
Project Sign team took this as fair warning that it wasn’t wise to raise the subject of UFO
sightings. To encourage this fear, I first leaked the news that Captain Randall’s Estimate
of the Situation had been incinerated, then renamed Sign as Project Grudge. As
anticipated, this was taken by all concerned as another indication of my displeasure.’

‘Clever,” Nebe whispered admiringly.

“The function of Project Grudge,” Fuller explained, picking up where Vandenberg had
left off, ‘was to shift the investigations away from the actual UFOs and on to those who
reported them. However, since a good twenty-three percent of their reports were still
classified as unknowns, this wasn’t easy. For this reason, Project Grudge launched a
CIA-backed public relations campaign designed to convince the American public that
UFOs did not represent anything unusual or extraordinary. As part of this debunking
effort, we encouraged the Saturday Evening Post journalist, Sidney Shallet, to write a
two-part article exposing UFOs as a waste of time; but when that backfired - by
increasing public interest rather than diminishing it - we got the Air Force to counteract
by stating officially that UFOs were either misidentifications of natural phenomenon or
the products of mass hallucination. Project Grudge issued its final report in August 1949
- only six months after its inception. Put simply, its conclusion was that while twenty-
three percent of the UFO reports were still classified as unknowns, most had
psychological explanations and the investigation was therefore a waste of time and
should be downgraded even further. On December 27, the Air Force announced the
termination of the project. Shortly after, the Project Grudge records were stored and
most of its personnel were widely scattered.’

‘You can do more,” Nebe said, ‘to encourage widespread confusion and fear of
ridicule when it comes to the reporting of UFOs. Your Air Force must be seen to be
supporting UFO investigations with Project Blue Book, while actually hampering them
behind the scenes and by otherwise making things unpleasant, or even dangerous, for
UFO witnesses and investigators. This can be done through the introduction of some
new, restrictive Air Force regulations. You should also form a supposedly secret panel
of leading scientists to investigate UFOs. However, this panel will also include CIA
representatives who will ensure that its official report ridicules the whole phenomenon
and then is leaked to the press.’

“You’re asking us to turn our own, patriotic pilots and citizens into traitors,” Samford
said angrily, ‘and, even worse, to do so while we’re fighting the war in Korea.’

‘A small sacrifice,” Wilson said, ‘and one you must make. Otherwise there can be no
agreement between us.’

Samford was about to make another angry retort, but was cut short by the stern
glances of President Truman and General Vandenberg.

‘As Head of Air Intelligence —* Nebe nodded at General Samford — ‘and USAF Chief
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of Staff” - he nodded at General Vandenberg — ‘you two are in an excellent position to
do this, so please ensure that it’s done.’

Vandenberg managed to keep his peace, if with visible effort, but Samford practically
turned purple and even took a step forward. ‘I’d remind you that the last time we talked
you were relatively safe because we were in open countryside with your saucer hovering
right above us. This time, however, we’re in the Oval Room of the White House, so
what the hell can you do to prevent us from arresting you right now?’

Smiling, Wilson told Samford to turn off the lights. When this had been done, the
Oval Room was plunged into moonlit darkness. Wilson then removed a pocket-sized
electronic device from his jacket pocket and whispered coded instructions into it. A few
seconds later, a bass humming sound came from outside, seeming to fill the room, then
the room shook a little, as if from an earth tremor, and a dazzling, pulsating, silvery-
white light beamed in through the windows overlooking the Rose Garden.

When they all stared at the windows, they saw what appeared to be a row of portholes
in a metal body, with the light beaming out of them to form the single, blinding
brilliance that now filled the Oval Room.

The row of lights bobbed up and down, as if hovering just above the ground, while
the bass humming sound filled the room to exert a subtle, almost palpable, disturbing
pressure. Then the humming noise ceased and the silvery-white lights blinked out,
plunging the Oval Room back into moonlit darkness.

General Samford switched the room lights back on as Wilson stood up, preparing to
leave with Nebe.

‘I’ll be spending a few days in the capital,” he informed them with confidence, ‘so
please don’t try any tricks while I’'m here.’

‘We won’t,” Fuller said.

General Samford glared at Wilson, General Vandenberg looked stunned, and
President Truman simply stared at the windows as if in a state of shock.

Without another word, Fuller led Wilson and Nebe out of the Oval Room, then down
to the White House garage, to drive them back to where they were staying, in the Hay
Adams hotel.
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Chapter Sixteen

Cold December winds were blowing dust across the desert when Fuller drove to the
house of Mike and Gladys Bradley, near Eden Valley, Roswell, New Mexico. The sun
was starting to sink when he got out of his car and walked up the steps of the modest
ranch-style house in the middle of nowhere, with only the El Capitan Mountain visible
in the distance, beyond the otherwise featureless flatlands.

They sure like their privacy, Fuller thought as he rang the doorbell.

Neither Bradley nor his wife was expecting the visit from Fuller and the latter gazed
at him suspiciously through the mesh-wire of the outer door when she opened the main
door.

‘Gladys Bradley?’ Fuller asked.

‘If you’re here, you must know that already, so why bother asking?’

Fuller had heard she was a tough old bird, so he wasn’t too surprised by her tart
response. Though now nearing her sixties, Gladys was still as thin as a whip and had a
gaunt, suntanned face, under grey hair cropped as short as a man’s. She was squinting at
him through the smoke from the cigarette dangling from compressed lips.

‘I want to speak to your husband, Mrs Bradley.’

‘He may not want to speak to you, mister. Just who the hell are you?’

‘Sam Fuller. CIA.”

‘Oh, one of those.” She clearly disapproved. “You got an appointment?’ Fuller shook
his head. ‘No,” Gladys said, ‘I didn’t think so. Goodnight, Mr Fuller.’

She was just about to close the main door again when Fuller jerked the outer door
open and used his foot as a doorstop on the other one. ‘Don’t close the door, Mrs
Bradley. I might hurt my foot. If I do, I’m liable to get angry and that leads to trouble.
You look like a woman of some perception, so you know I’'m not lying. Now do I come
in or not?’

Still a reporter to her fingertips, Gladys studied him for a moment, then nodded and
opened the inner door. ‘Okay,’ she said. ‘I know trouble when I see it. You promise me
none of that and I’ll let you in.”

‘No trouble,’ Fuller said.

Gladys nodded again, then stepped aside to let him pass. He entered a short hallway
with doors on either side. Gladys closed the door behind him, then skipped ahead to lead
him into the expansive living room, which had an open-beam ceiling, walls and floors of
pine boards, and comfortable, old-fashioned furniture on Mexican carpets. As they
entered, Mike Bradley looked up in surprise, then rose from his armchair in front of the
flickering TV set.

‘Sam Fuller,” Gladys said, waving a careless hand in Fuller’s direction. ‘CIA. He was
very persistent. Wants to ask a few questions.’

Bradley nodded, understanding what she meant, then looked directly at Fuller. He
didn’t extend his hand.
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‘CIA?”

“That’s right, Mr Bradley. I know you won’t want to answer my questions, but 'm
afraid you’ll just have to.’

Just as Gladys had done, Mike Bradley studied Fuller carefully, then glanced
inquiringly at his wife.

‘It’s been years now,” Gladys said. ‘It can’t make too much difference. This one’s
trouble and we don’t need that at our age. Just answer his questions, Mike.’

Bradley nodded, then held out his hand. ‘Hi,” he said as Fuller shook it. ‘Can I get you
a drink?’

‘I could sure do with a beer,” Fuller replied.

‘Tl get it,” Gladys said.

As she disappeared into the kitchen, Bradley indicated that Fuller should take an
armchair facing the TV. When Fuller did so, Bradley switched the set off - Milton Berle
was hamming it up in the Texaco Star Theater - and took the comfortable armchair
facing him. At fifty-eight years old, Bradley was still a handsome, well-built, silvery-
haired man, though the skin on one cheek was slightly livid from what looked like an old
burn.

The explosion at Kiel Harbour, Fuller thought. That’s what put him in hospital.
Otherwise, the guy looks like Spencer Tracy. A dead ringer, in fact.

‘Nice house,” Fuller said, glancing around the living room.

‘Yes,” Bradley said, ‘we think so.’

The pine-board walls were covered with framed photos taken from the personal
history of the two people who lived here. Apart from early family portraits, the photos of
Gladys showed her as a reporter in Roswell in the 1930s, including some with Robert H.
Goddard and his rocket team; then the Spanish Civil War, including some of Ernest
Hemingway; plus London, England, during World War II; liberated Paris, France; then
more journalistic encounters in Roswell after the war. Other photos showed Gladys and
Bradley, both in uniform, also in London and liberated Paris during the war, or Bradley
with other military personnel in France and Germany during the same period. Fuller
assumed that the framed photos of a young man and strikingly similar young woman,
sometimes alone, other times with children or Bradley, were of Bradley’s son and
daughter and grandchildren. There were no photos of Bradley’s former wife, who had
died at Pearl Harbour.

“You two have obviously lived a full life,” Fuller said.

‘If you’re in the CIA, Mr Fuller, I’m sure you know as much about us as we do.’

Fuller grinned. ‘Yeah, I guess so.’

Gladys returned with his beer, handed it to him, then took the chair between him and
Bradley. Fuller sipped the beer, which was ice cold, then he licked his wet lips.

‘Well,” he said, ‘times have sure changed since you two got together during World
War Two. That was some damned explosion last week, right?’

‘It sure was,” Bradley replied, his gaze steady and watchful. ‘And so was the one the
month before.’
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He was referring to Britain’s first atomic bomb test in Monte Bello Islands, off the
northwest coast of Australia, which had taken place about eight weeks ago. Fuller, on
the other hand, was referring to the obliteration of the whole island of Eniwetok, in the
Pacific, by the US hydrogen bomb test of two days ago.

‘An awesome sight,” Fuller said.

‘Some would call it terrifying.’

‘Yeah... And now we’re being plagued by these damned flying saucers. The world’s
certainly changing.’

‘We both know why you’re here, Mr Fuller. You don’t have to introduce the subject
in this roundabout manner. You want to know why I didn’t turn up at the Socorro UFO
crash site on July 2, 1947, five years ago. You want to know what I know.’

Fuller sighed. ‘Yeah, that’s it.” Glancing at Gladys, he met a measuring, grey-eyed
gaze, so quickly turned back to Bradley. ‘Okay, you know why I’m here. From the day
you returned from the war in Europe, you were obsessed with UFOs, or flying saucers,
and kept in constant touch with the Flight Intelligence Officer of Roswell Army Air
Base, First Lieutenant William B. Harris, hounding him for information on any
sightings. Yet that night in July, 1947, when Harris called to inform you that a flying
saucer had actually crashed on the Plain of Magdalena, near Socorro, inviting you to go
and view the crash debris with him, you didn’t show up and ever since have refused to
say why. You also stopped investigating, or even discussing, UFOs from that night on.
What happened, Mr Bradley?’

‘What do you know about my activities during the war?’

“You were trying to track down a brilliant American physicist who had once worked
with Robert H. Goddard, right here in Roswell, before absconding to Germany and
ending up in charge of a top-secret Nazi re